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[l ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OFTHE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
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[1 TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Delaware 13-3025550
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)
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months (or for such shorter period that the regpgtwas required to file such reports), and (2)deen subject to such filing requirements for thstp
90 days. Yes' | Nol!
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant n@snstted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te B of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapderjng the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was requiresbtamit and post such files). Yes Nol]J
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K it oontained herein, and will not be contained, to
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlezge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
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Non-accelerated filer [ ] (Do not check if smalleporting company) Smaller reporting company [X]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Brgfe Act). Yes] Noll

The aggregate market value of the voting stock bgldon-affiliates of the Company computed by refiee to the price at which the stock was sold,
or the average bid and asked prices of such sésc&f June 30, 2013, was $1,306,990.

As of April 14, 2014 there were 87,272,975 shafab®registrant's Common Stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's Proxy Statement madettd the Annual Meeting of Stockholders schedtdele held on or around June 20, 2014 are
incorporated by reference into Part Ill (Items Gfbtigh 14) of this Report




Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statemensg

This Annual Report includes statements of our etgtiems, intentions plans and beliefs that congtitéorward-looking statements" within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 398 amended, Section 21E of the Securities ExghAnt of 1934, as amended and are intended
to come within the safe harbor protection provitgdhose sections. These statements, which inv@die and uncertainties, relate to the discussion
of business strategies of Global Gold Corporattbhe (Company" or "Global Gold") and our expectai@oncerning future operations, margins,
profitability, liquidity and capital resources atalanalyses and other information that are basddrecasts of future results and estimates of as«
not yet determinable. We have used words such ag,"rfwill," "should," "expects," "intends," "plarfis'anticipates,” "believes," "thinks,"
"estimates," "seeks," "expects," "predicts," "cqulgrojects," "potential" and other similar termsd phrases, including references to assumptions, i
this report to identify forward-looking statemeriffiese forward-looking statements are made basedmectations and beliefs concerning future
events affecting the Company and are subject tertaiaties, risks and factors relating to our opens and business environments, all of which are
difficult to predict and many of which are beyoihe {Company's control, that could cause our acesailts to differ materially from those matters
expressed or implied by these forwdodking statements. These risks and other factmiside those listed under "Risk Factors" and elsge/in this
report. The following factors, among others, catddise our actual results and performance to diffgerially from the results and performance
projected in, or implied by the forward-looking tetaents:

o the Company's history of losses and expectatiduarther losses;
o the effect of poor operating results on the Canyp

o the Company's ability to expand its operationsath new and existing locations and the Compahyjl#y to develop and mine its current and
new sites;

o the Company's ability to raise capital;

o the Company's ability to fully utilize and retaxecutives;

o the impact of litigation, including internatidreabitrations;

o the impact of federal, state, local or foreigwgrnment regulations;
o the effect of competition in the mining industayd

o economic and political conditions generally.

The Company assumes no obligation to publicly updatevise these forward-looking statements fgrraason, or to update the reasons actual
results could differ materially from those antidigéin, or implied by, these forwatdeking statements, even if new information becomeslable ir
the future.

Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors

The United States Securities and Exchange Commigtiie “SEC”)limits disclosure for U.S. reporting purposes tmenal deposits that a compi
can economically and legally extract or producee Wée terms such as “reserves,” “resources,” “ggoloesources,” “proven,” “probable,”
“measured,” “indicated,” or “inferredvhich may not be consistent with the reserve didimsé established by the SEC Industry Guide 7. 4 at
foreign countries including Armenia and Chile ao¢ consistent with SEC Industry Guide 7 regardiag of such terms. We are required to adhe
the mining laws and requirements of the countriesaperate in which include developing reserves alf & exploration and mining activit
pursuant to laws in the countries where we opeateto be in compliance with license requiremeit& acknowledge that due to the differenct
laws of the countries in which we operate and SEQus$try Guide 7, our mining activities are beingawed for informational and disclosi
purposes based on foreign country requirementslbatthat the SEC does not recognize any of oysesties as having proven or probable rese
established under SEC Industry Guide 7. Under $t0stry Guide 7, we can only state that we ar¢hian exploration stage and have fo
consistencies in mineralization amongst our dglliesults, even though we have foreign country @t reserves, resources, mining licenses
sales of concentrate.




ITEM 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
(1) GENERAL OVERVIEW

Global Gold is currently in the exploration staljés engaged in exploration for, as well as depaient and mining of, gold, silver, and other
minerals in Armenia, Canada and Chile. Until MaBdh 2011, the Company's headquarters were locat&dgenwich, Connecticut and as of April 1,
2011 the Company’s headquarters are in Rye, N¥ subsidiaries and staff maintain offices in Yerevarmenia, and Santiago, Chile. The Company
was incorporated as Triad Energy Corporation inState of Delaware on February 21, 1980 and coedumther business prior to January 1, 1995.
During 1995, the Company changed its name fromdTEiaergy Corporation to Global Gold Corporatioptosue certain gold and copper mining
rights in the former Soviet Republics of Armenialdeorgia. The Company has not established provépebable reserves in accordance with
SEC Industry Guide 7 at any of its properties. Toenpany's stock is publicly traded. The Companpleys approximately 20 people globally on a
year round basis. In the past, the Company hasoymblup to an additional 200 people on a seas@sa bbut the Compa’s engagement of a mine
contractor to run mining operations is expectecetiuce the number of employees directly employethbyCompany on a seasonal basis.

Although the Company competes with multi-nationétimg companies which have substantially greatsoueces and numbers of employees, the
Company’s long term presence and the expertis&amdledge of its personnel in Armenia and in Chilew it to compete with companies with
greater resources.

In Armenia, the Compang’focus is on the exploration, development and yotion of gold at the Toukhmanuk property in thertNoCentra
Armenian Belt and the Marjan and an expanded Maxjarth property. In addition, the Company is exjplg and developing other sites in Arme
including the Getik property. The Company alsodsotoyalty and participation rights in other looas in the country through affiliates ¢
subsidiaries.

In Chile, the Company is engaged in identifyingdgeikploration and production opportunities and aagsroduction bonus interest in the Pt
property.

In Canada, the Company had engaged in uranium extjgo activities in the provinces of Newfoundlaamt Labrador, but has phased out this
activity, retaining a royalty interest in the Coahe Pond property in Newfoundland.

The Company also assesses exploration and prodwgioortunities in other countries.
The subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

On January 24, 2003, the Company formed Global (® and Global Plata LLC, as wholly owned subsidisy in the State of Delaware. Th
companies were formed to be equal joint owners Ghean limited liability company, Minera Globahile Limitada ("Minera Global"), formed
of May 6, 2003, for the purpose of conducting opiers in Chile. On December 2, 2011, the Companig these subsidiaries to Amarant Min
Ltd. (“Amarant”).

On August 18, 2003, the Company formed Global Gualahenia LLC ("GGA"), as a wholly owned subsidiaryhich in turn formed Global Go
Mining, LLC ("GGM"), as a wholly owned subsidiargpth in the State of Delaware. GGM was qualifiedltobusiness as a branch operatic
Armenia and owns assets, royalty and participdtiterests, as well as shares of operating compémigsnenia.




On December 21, 2003, GGM acquired 100% of the Ararelimited liability company SHA, LLC (renameddblal Gold Hankavan, LLC ("GGH
as of July 21, 2006), which held the license toHlamkavan and Marjan properties in Armenia. Ondbager 18, 2009, the Company entered in
agreement with Caldera Resources Inc. (“Calderatlirong the terms of a joint venture on the CompgarMarjan property in Armenia fMarjar
JV"). On March 12, 2010, GGH transferred the rightse thd interest for the Marjan property to Marjamidg Company LLC, a limited liabili
company incorporated under the laws of the Repufliérmenia (“Marjan RA”) which is a whollpwned subsidiary of GGM. On October 7, 2!
the Company terminated the Marjan JV. The Armei@anrt of Cassation in a final, n@ppealable decision, issued and effective Feb@aPp12
ruled that the registration and assumption of @bttty Caldera through unilateral charter changeth@Marjan Mine and Marjan RA were illegal i
that 100% ownership rests fully with GGM. On Mar2d, 2012, Justice Herman Cahn, who was appoingedrited States District Court Juc
Hellerstein as the sole arbitrator in an Americabit#ation Association arbitration between the Camp and Caldera, ruled in the Companiavo
on the issue of the J¥'termination ordering that the Marjan propertyl68% owned by the Company effective April 29, 20I2dge Karas of tl
United States Federal District Court confirmed Ju@ghn’s decision. See Legal Proceedings for iméwemation on the Marjan JV.

On August 1, 2005, GGM acquired 51% of the Armerlianited liability company Megdsold, LLC ("Mego"), which is the licensee for
Toukhmanuk mining property and seven surroundirgjogation sites. On August 2, 2006, GGM acquiteel iemaining 49% interest of Meg@#nld,
LLC, leaving GGM as the owner of 100% of Mego-GaldC. See Agreements for more information on Mégmld, LLC.

On January 31, 2006, GGM closed a transaction ¢uiee 80% of the Armenian company, Athelea InvesitsieCJSC (renamed "Getik Mini
Company, LLC") and its approximately 27 square rkifter Getik gold/uranium exploration license amedhie northeast Geghargunik provinc
Armenia. As of May 30, 2007, GGM acquired the ramimg 20% interest in Getik Mining Company, LLCaléng GGM as the owner of 100%
Getik Mining Company, LLC. See Agreements for miafermation on Getik Mining Company, LLC.

On January 5, 2007, the Company formed Global Gifahium, LLC ("Global Gold Uranium"), as a whollywoed subsidiary, in the State
Delaware, to operate the Company's uranium expboraictivities in Canada.

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Comptmgugh Minera Global, entered agreements to faimint venture and on October 29, 2(
the Company closed its joint venture agreement wiémbers of the Quijano family (“Quijanoby which Minera Global assumed a 51% intere
the placer and hard rock gold Madre de Dios an@dproperties in south central Chile, near Valdifilae name of the joint venture company
Compania Minera Global Gold Valdivia S.C.M. (“Gldb@old Valdivia” or “GGV”). On August 14, 2009, the Company amended the
agreement whereby Global Gold Valdivia became whoWned by the Company and retained only the P@aéms Block (approximately 8,2
hectares), transferring the Madre De Dios clainegkblto the sole ownership to members of the Quijamaly. On October 27, 2010, the Comp
entered into an agreement with Conventus Ltd. a 8dfporation (“Conventus™jor the sale of 100% interest in GGV which was adw®eh (witt
Conventus and Amarant) and was closed on Decemi2812. See Agreements for more information on GGV.

On September 23, 2011, Global Gold Consolidated®ess Limited (“GGCRL"was incorporated in Jersey as a 51% subsidiareoCompan
pursuant to the April 27, 2011 Joint Venture Agreemwith Consolidated Resources. See AgreemerdSoS8and Subsequent Events for n
information on Consolidated Resources agreements.

On November 8, 2011, GGCR Mining, LLC (“GGCR Minihgvas formed in the State of Delaware as a 100%, lwb@ined, subsidiary of GGCR
On September 26, 2012, the Company conditionalysfierred 100% of the shares of Mego and Getikidgi@ompany, LLC to GGCR Mining.

The Company is a reporting company and is therefobgect to the requirements of the SecuritiesEhange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act"), and accordingly files its Annuagort on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 1@®@jfjinitive Proxy Statements, Current
Reports on Form 8-K, and other information with 8ecurities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"§. dublic may read and copy any materials
filed with the SEC at the SEC's Public ReferencerRat 100 F Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Rleall the SEC at (800) SEC-0330 for
further information on the Public Reference Roora.ah electronic filer, the Company's public filirege maintained on the SEC's Internet site that
contains reports, proxy and information statemeamsd, other information regarding issuers thatdlkctronically with the SEC. The address of that
website is http://www.sec.gov.

The Company’s Annual and Quarterly filings are asoessible free of charge through the Companigsnet site after the Company has
electronically filed such material with, or furneshit to, the SEC. The address of that websitets// www.globalgoldcorp.com. However, such
reports may not be accessible through the Compamysite as promptly as they are accessible oBH&s website.




(2) INITIAL ARMENIAN MINING PROJECT

In 1996, the Company acquired rights under a Jéémture Agreement with the Ministry of Industry Afmenia and Armgold, S.E., the Armenian
state enterprise, formed to provide capital andistafe financing of the Armenian gold industryigthrights were finalized under the Second
Armenian Gold Recovery Company Joint Venture Agreeindated as of September 30, 1997.

As of January 31, 1997, the Company and Global Gahdenia Limited, the Company's then wholly-ownealy@an Islands subsidiary ("GGA
Cayman"), reached an initial agreement with Firghd&sty Mines, Ltd., whose name changed to Stedidlkl Ltd. On July 5, 2002 ("Sterlite"), a
Canadian public company and whose shares weredt@déhe Toronto Stock Exchange with respect tadrtitiel Armenian project. The Company,
GGA Cayman and Sterlite entered into a definitigeeament, dated May 13, 1997. Under such agree@tmtite acquired all of the stock of GGA
Cayman, subject to certain conditions, by advantingss in stages necessary for the implementafidieotailings reprocessing project and the
preparation of engineering and business plan nadédor the Armenian Joint Venture and deliverin@0®,000 shares of First Dynasty (later Sterlite)
Common Stock to the Company (the "FDM Agreemefithe parties thereafter amended the FDM Agreemedutyn24, 1998. Pursuant to the FDM
Agreement, the Company retained the right untilédeiger 31, 2009 to elect to participate at a lef/elpato 20% with Sterlite, or any of its affiliates
or successors in interest, in any exploration ptaj@dertaken by them in Armenia. As of December2BD4, the Company did not own any share
Sterlite common stock. In 2006, Vedanta Resourtte§'dedanta") acquired control of Sterlite througWin Star International Limited ("TSI"), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Vedanta. Inp&smber 2007, Vedanta (and Sterlite) announcedhiegthad closed a stock sale transaction with
GeoProMining Ltd., which made GeoProMining Ltd. arsdaffiliates the successors to the 20% obligatio




(3) ARMENIA PROPERTIES

The Company operates an office in Yerevan, Armeifiare it manages its exploration and mining adtigias well as reviews potential acquisitions.
A map showing the location of the properties in &mia (below) and other information on the propseréiee located on the Company's website.
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Hankavan
Hankavan is located in central Armenia in the K&tpgovince between Vanadzor and Meghradzor northeMarmarik River.

GGH acquired Hankavan licenses in December of 20@Righ the acquisition of the Armenian companyASH_C (since renamed Global Gold
Hankavan, LLC ("GGH")), and conducted a drillingopgram along with other exploration activities tanfiom the historical feasibility work done on
the copper, molybdenum and gold mineralizatiorha $oviet era. GGH also expanded its exploratidiniies to six other, smaller license areas in
and around Hankavan. In addition, GGH conductgdiceation and planned to determine the feasibdita quick start mining operation for copper
oxide in this area. These activities have not mgively pursued pending performance of a condlitipconfidential settlement agreement with the
Armenian Government entered as of February 25,.2008

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiags”, below.




Marjan

The Marjan mining property is located in Southwast&rmenia, along the Nakichevan border in the $ypnovince. The property is accessible by
car or truck through existing paved and dirt roa@lee property includes two parts; Marjan Centrddere early drilling and underground exploration
has been carried out and Marjan North (Mazmazakichnis situated some 1.5 km north of Marjan Cdntide whole property is roughly
rectangular in shape, 3.2 km wide by 6.1 km lombe approximate geographic coordinates of the ptppee, 39° 24’ 00” Latitude and 45° 51’ 00”
Longitude. Electric power is proximate to the prdp. There is also a river which passes in thaédiate proximity to the property. The Company
does not have any facilities or material equipnagrihe property. The Company has an Armenian gowent approved and licensed mining plan
has done exploration work at the property but tgiaveloped any significant surface or undergrouotks or infrastructure with the exception of
approximately 62 kilometers of roads built. Apgroately 60,000 tonnes of mineralized rock has beered and stockpiled. All equipment needed
is brought to the site on an as needed basis fnenCompany’s other properties or from contractors.

The area of the Marjan Property is underlain byti&gr volcanic rocks, which have been intruded bytim-northwest trending dioritic dykes. The
bulk of the gold and silver mineralization is cant within polymetallic sulphide veins, which associated with north-northwest trending
hydrothermal alteration zones. These alteratiorega@re readily observed on the surface as russetozones on outcrops. Two types of gold
mineralization have been observed. These arergimidralization associated with sulphide veins ifcanic rocks, and gold mineralization adjacent
to dioritic dykes, which intrude the volcanic rocks

The Company does not currently have establisheshres at the Marjan Property, except as reportetidojrepublic of Armenia State Committee on
Reserves (“GKZ") which is available on the Compamyebsite and is focusing on exploration work basedérmenian historical GKZ records
(please refer to the “Cautionary Note to U.S. Inwess on page 3 of this report). The Company h@asedgeological mapping, ground geophysical
surveys, trenching and diamond drill testing at jllaand continues its exploration work there bamethe Armenian historical GKZ records in
conjunction with the exploration work and resultsd so far. Additional exploration and mining wavitl need to be funded with additional funds
raised through joint ventures, debt, equity or mlsimation thereof.

The Marjan property is a lode deposit which willrh&ed using open pits and underground adits. ddmpany has one national special mining
license #HA-L-14/526, since replaced under the 82 Armenian Mining Code with License #29/398 (kde on the Compang’website), whicl
includes the Armenian government approved reseuvebers and covers surface rights for mining, exgtion and related purposes for gold and non-
ferrous metals (please refer to the “CautionaryeNotU.S. Investors” on page 3 of this report).e Tibense area is defined by the following
coordinates:

1. X =4365000 3. X =4363770 5. X =4360000
Y = 8570000 Y = 8574530 Y = 8572700
2. X =4366800 4. X =4360400
Y = 8572000 Y = 8575250

In 2012, the Company re-established possessiofi@mde rights over the Marjan property after Ceddeillegal possession. The Company also
began a review and update of the previously approviaing plan (available on the Company’s webdibehe property and selected a mine
contractor to implement the mining. The Comparsp alpdated prior exploration results to select delling targets. As of December 31, 2013, the
Company has not generated any revenue from sal@syafoncentrate or other mineralized materighattroperty. As of December 31, 2013, the
Company has spent approximately $3,516,500 on gniard exploration activities at this property, exithg acquisition and capital costs.

This property was previously explored during thei8bera. SHA, LLC applied for an original licenfsem the Armenian Government. GGM
acquired 100% of SHA, LLC, the Armenian companychtiield the license to the property in DecembeB20Dn April 28, 2008, the Company was
issued a twenty-five year “special mining licenga”the Marjan property effective April 22, 2008daexpiring April 22, 2033 which expands the
prior license term and substantially increaseditie@se area from approximately 1,400 acres to@afmately 4,800 acres. The Company is required
to pay annual governmental fees of approximate®,(B. The Company is also required to performkvedithe property as submitted and approved
in its mining plan which includes mining of 200,0@Mnes of mineralized rock annually starting @12 under Armenian Law in order to maintain
the licenses in good standing (please refer tdGlaationary Note to U.S. Investors” on page 3 @ tieport). On March 12, 2010, GGH transferred
the rights, title and interest for the Marjan pndpéo Marjan Mining Company, LLC, a limited liakiif company incorporated under the laws of the
Republic of Armenia (“Marjan RA”). Marjan RA iseHicensee of the Marjan Property and is a wholyed subsidiary of the Company.




The Company is required to pay annual governmesst &d perform work at the property, both as desdrabove, to keep the license in good
standing. In various circumstances, Armenian ldemad for annual work requirements to be cured Insgguent years and by other means without
losing good standing status. Failure to maintaiodglicense status could result in the license beirgpended or terminated under Armenian Law
Company has not received any suspension or terimmasdtices, but could based on the Company’s pedace and other factors. See Item 1A
“Risk Factors,” below.

On December 18, 2009, the Company entered intgaement with Caldera outlining the terms of atjggnture on the Compars/Marjan propert
in Armenia (“Marjan JV”).

On March 24, 2010, the Company signed an agreewitmCaldera establishing the terms for a jointtues on the Company’s Marjan property in
Armenia (“Marjan JV”) which amended the December 289 agreement.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSure Exchange and the Board of Directors of tispeetive companies. As of April 30, 2010,
Caldera paid the Company $100,000. Caldera fuitfiermed the Company that it received TSX Ventikehange approval on the transaction,
which subsequently proved to be untrue. On Oct@b2010, the Company terminated the Marjan J\Claldera’s non-payment and non-
performance as well as Caldera’s illegal registregiin Armenia and other actions. In October 2@ddera filed for arbitration in New York

City. In September 2010, at Caldera’s invitatithg Company filed to reverse the illegal registratin Armenia. That litigation and the New York
arbitration were subsequently resolved in favathef Company, restoring the Company’s 100% ownershigarjan. The Armenian Government
issued a new mining license to the Company’s whoyed subsidiary Marjan RA on March 5, 2013 anavigilable on the Company’s website
www.globalgoldcorp.com

See Legal Matters for an update on the Marjan JV.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.

Toukhmanuk

The Toukhmanuk property is adjacent to the Hankaraperty in central Armenia, between the Aragaisotd Kotayk provinces. The property
includes seven surrounding exploration sites atagebther assets. The property is located apprabely 60 km (72 km by road) north of Yerevan,
close to the Town of Aparan and some 75 km (byyfradh the Alaverdi copper smelter in northern Anige Access to the Toukhmanuk Propert
by paved road (about 57 km from Yerevan to the-affrof the road north of Aparan and about 15 kndby road from Aparan to Melikkyugh, the
nearby village to the site). Local infrastructigevailable at the site and at nearby towns.abtfucture at the site includes electrical powel, ¢
phone network and road building equipment. Log#tsupport, in terms of power, is available atToekhmanuk site, and at Melikkyugh, which is
linked by a 10 Kv line to the Armenian Power gri/ater is available from natural sources within pheperty, independent of community

sources. In addition to the central property,abeuisition included a 200,000 tonne per year dapptant. The Company has maintained the p&ant’
crushers, mills, and gravitation circuits in goamhdition while also adding a hydro cyclone anddtimn cells, as well as building a new tailings
dam. Other major assets at the property includeraébulldozers, excavators and a track trenchéciware all in good condition. The property also
includes some temporary housing units, and hangeich are used to store core samples, a gold raatha new I1SO certified laboratory.

The area of the Toukhmanuk Property is underlaga@minantly by Jurassic volcanic rocks and Cretasémtrusive rocks. The volcanic rocks
comprise andesites and dacites, and the intruskesrare dominantly granitic with minor graniticejgs and amphibolites. Parts of the area are also
covered by Tertiary volcanic rocks including obaidand perlites. Gold mineralization in the Toukimuk area is hosted by both volcanic and
intrusive rocks.

On October 27, 2009, the Company issued a presaselnnouncing the approval of the first stage.Républic of Armenia’s State Natural
Resources Agency (the "Agency") issued its cedtidased on the proposal of the Agency’s StatéoGieal Expert Commission made during its

October 23, 2009 session, all as further disclasedur website.




On November 18, 2009, the Company issued a priessseeannouncing that following up on the issuaridbe approving a first stage gold reserve,
the Republic of Armenia’s State Natural Resourcgenkty (the “Agency”) has delivered its full decisiwith backup calculations on November 13,
2009. The Agency issued its decision based onrbygogal of the Agency’s State Geological Expert @ussion made during its October 23, 2009
session. A copy of the official approval and a iphttnofficial translation are available on the quany’s website www.globalgoldcorp.cqmpiease
refer to the “Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors”gage 3 of this report).

The Company has done geological mapping, groungigesical surveys, trenching and diamond drill tegtit Toukhmanuk and continues its
exploration work there based on the Armenian hisabGKZ records in conjunction with the exploratizvork and results done so far (please refer to
the “Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors” on pagd this report). Additional exploration work witleed to be funded with additional funds raised
through joint ventures, debt, equity or a combirathereof.

The Toukhmanuk property is a lode deposit whidbei;ig mined using an open pit method. The Compasyone national exploration license #15,
as extended on July 2, 2013 until July 2, 2016i(@bke on the Company’s website), covering appratity 10,915 acres for sidwface exploitatiol
of gold. The Company also has one national miticemse #HA-L-14/356, since replaced under the 88&2 Armenian Mining Code with License
#29/184 (available on the Company’s website), witiahers the central section of the property araproximately 446 acres for mining gold and
silver. On December 28, 2012, the Company receivedhew, renewable mining license through Augu&037. The Company is required to pay
annual governmental fees of approximately $32,00e Company is also required to spend annuallyceqapately $1,200,000 on exploration work
and mining annually 168,500 tonnes of mineralizzzkrat the property as submitted and approvedimihing plan in order to maintain the licenses
in good standing (please refer to the “Cautioridoye to U.S. Investors” on page 3 of this repofithe exploration license area is defined by the
following coordinates:

Toukhmanuk Property, Armenia

Corner Easting (X) Northing (Y)
1 4501580 8444500
2 4504350 8447800
3 4502700 8450000
4 4504050 8451850
5 4503250 8452250
6 4503300 8453950
7 4502500 8453900
8 4502400 8450850
9 4501950 8451350
10 4501680 8452550
11 4500525 8453380
12 4499730 8453950
13 4499800 8451600
14 4500650 8451550
15 4500700 8450600
16 4500000 8449870
17 4498550 8450700
18 4497000 8450650
19 4497000 8448370
20 4497900 8448700
21 4498200 8447550
22 4497000 8446100
23 4497000 8444400
24 4499000 8444400
25 4491750 8445650
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The Company is required to pay annual governmesst &d perform work at the property, both as desdrabove, to keep the license in good
standing. In various circumstances, Armenian ldemad for annual work requirements to be cured Insgguent years and by other means without
losing good standing status. Failure to maintaiodglicense status could result in the license beirgpended or terminated under Armenian Law
Company has not received any suspension or terimmasdtices, but could based on the Company’s pedace and other factors. See Item 1A
“Risk Factors,” below.

In 2008, GGM upgraded the plant and lab, instadle®:w gold room, recommenced mining and produdfaoncentrate, and continued its analysis
of the prior year’s drill results. Also, the Conmygacompiled its reserve report and submitted thstate committee on reserves of Armenia in
March 2009 (please refer to the “Cautionary Not&18. Investors” on page 3 of this report). Therpany has generated minimal sales from gold
and silver concentrate from the property. Salewapproximately $6,000 in 2006 based on unmeasldecbncentrate with waste concentrate,
$10,400 in 2007 based on approximately 53 tonneswéentrate with gold content of approximately82@t gold, nothing in 2008, $136,600 in 2(
based on approximately 121 tonnes of concentrategoild content of approximately 52.6 g/t gold, 83%0 in 2010 based on approximately 222
tonnes of concentrate with gold content of appratety 52.7 g/t gold, $81,702 in 2011 based on apprately 60 tonnes of concentrate with gold
content of approximately 38.8 g/t gold, and non20a2 and 2013. The Company has mined mineralizeld af approximately 52,000 tonnes in 2!
with content of approximately 1.27 g/t gold and7dit silver, no mining in 2007, approximately 80Qonnes in 2008 with content of approxima
1.85 g/t gold and 5.21 g/t silver, no mining in 20&pproximately 21,000 tonnes in 2010 with contérapproximately 2.08 g/t gold and 5.68 g/t
silver, approximately 21,400 tonnes in 2011 withtemt of approximately 0.92 g/t gold and 3.32 d¥ies, and no mining in 2012 and 2013. As of
December 31, 2013, the Company has spent appradiyr&it1,310,000 on mining and exploration actisgit@ this property, excluding acquisition
and capital costs. In 2012, the Company instalkednew mills at the plant to increase capacity effidiency, but in 2012 and 2013 did not process
any ore pending approval and construction of a faéings dam and resolution of joint venture issues

On May 22, 2008, the government of Armenia issuédpecial exploration licensetb the Company for the Toukhmanuk mining propefje
license was effective May 13, 2008 to expire on M&y 2010 was extended for an additional two yead as a matter of right pursuant to
Armenian Mining Code is being extended until May, 2815. The exploration license does not affeet @ompanys license over the smal
“Central Section” of the property.

On August 1, 2005, GGM entered into a share puechgseement to acquire the Armenian limited ligbitiompany Mego-Gold, LLC which
acquired the license from the government for thekfionanuk mining property and surrounding explorasies as well as the owner of the
related processing plant and other assets. On#@y2006, GGM exercised its option to acquirertmaining forty-nine percent (49%) of Mego-
Gold, LLC.

As of March 17, 2011, the Company entered intagreement (the “Formation AgreementVith Consolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Dela\
company (“CRU") for a joint venture on the Companyoukhmanuk and Getik properties in Armenia (tReoperties”). Upon payment of the initi
consideration as provided below, Global Gold andJGRII work together for twelve months (the “12 MibnPeriod”)to develop the Properties ¢
cause the Properties to be contributed to a nemt j@nture company, whose identity and terms wéllrbutually agreed, (the “JVC”).Rasia,
Dubai-based principal advisory company, acted savisor on the transaction.

Key terms include CRU paying initial consideratioin$5,000,000 as a working capital commitment tobal Gold payable by: a $500,000 adve
immediately following the execution of the Formatidgreement (the “Advance”);1$400,000 payable following the satisfactory cortipteof due
diligence by CRU and the execution of definitivecdments in 30 days from the date of this Agreemant} $3,100,000 according to a sep:
schedule in advance and payable within 5 businggs of the end of every calendar month as needed.

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into an exgeent with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an ekampresident Cayman Islands comp

(“CRA"); and its affiliate CRU, (hereinafter collgeely referred to as “CR”), to fund developmentdorm a joint venture on the Properties (tl® “
Agreement”). The JV Agreement was entered pursteettite Formation Agreement.
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CR completed its due diligence with satisfactiomd as of the date of the JV Agreement completedithding of the required $500,000 Advar
Upon the terms and subject to the conditions ofAgiveement, CR will complete the funding of the eening $4,500,000 of its $5,000,000 work
capital commitment related to Toukhmanuk and Getikording to an agreed, restricted funding schesadigh includes $1,400,000 paya
following the execution of the Agreement and thea@ing $3,100,000 payable over the next 12 mowilts payments occurring within 5 busin
days of the end of each calendar month as neddeatdition, Mr. Jeffrey Marvin of CR was electechamber of the Global Gold Board of Direc
and attended the Company's annual meeting on Jyn2011. As of December 31, 2011, the Companyivedehe full $5,000,000 funding frc
CR. Mr. Marvin resigned from the Global Gold boardFebruary 24, 2012 for personal reasons.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Global Gold and CReweorking together for twelve months (the “12 MworReriod”) from the date of the
Agreement to develop the Properties, improve tharftial performance and enhance shareholder vale.JV Agreement enables Global Gol
complete its current Toukhmanuk production expanio300,000 tonnes per year and advance explaratidrmenia. Global Gold and CR agre
form a new Joint Venture Company (“JVQ9 be established by CR, subject to terms and tondi mutually and reasonably agreed with Gl
Gold, provided that JVC shall have no liabilitiesbligations, contingent or not, or commitments, eptc pursuant to a shareholders’
agreement. Global Gold and CR intend to integaditef Global Gold’s Toukhmanuk and Getik miningdegxploration operations into the JVC.

The JVC will (i) own, develop and operate Toukhmaamd Getik, (i) be a company listed on an excleahgly admitted to trading or be in 1
process of being listed on such exchange and H@ye no liabilities, obligations, contingent or hot commitments except pursuant to
shareholders agreement. The JVC will issue newesh®a the Company such that following any revenseger or initial public offering of JVC
shares ("IPQ"), Global Gold shall directly or irelitly hold the greater of (a) 51% of the equitydufC, or (b) $40.0 million in newly issued stocl
JVC, calculated based on the volume weighted aeepaige ("VWAP") of such shares over the first 3@irfy) days of trading following the IP!
assuming issuance of all shares issuable in the #R@ assuming issuance of all shares issuableanagament shares and conversion of the |
issued under the Instrument (as defined) and hératonvertible securities and exercise of any avasr or other securities issued in connection
the IPO, such that if following any reverse mergetPO, the value of $40.0 million in newly issusltares based on VWAP of JVC shares is gr
than the Global Gold's 51% equity ownership in X&ued as above, new shares in JVC will be issadati¢ Global Gold such that the aggre
value of Global Gold's ownership in JVC is sharasig a value of $40.0 million based on VWAP, ahd €ompany shall remain in control of
JVC following the public listing.

On February 6, 2012, the Company received consemt $hareholders representing a majority over 66%s @utstanding Common Stock to tran
the 100% interests in Mego and Getik Mining CompdryC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limited bdity company, owned by a joi
venture company, Global Gold Consolidated Resoutg®ited, a Jersey Island private limited compat$GCR”), per the terms of the April 2
2011 Joint Venture Agreement with Consolidated Ress Armenia, an exempt non-resident Cayman Islaochpany (“CRA").The JVC was t
issue new shares to the Company such that folloaimgreverse merger or initial public offering s shares ("IPO"), Global Gold shall dire:
or indirectly hold the greater of (a) 51% of theuiég of JVC, or (b) $40.0 million in newly issuetbsk of JVC, calculated based on the voli
weighted average price ("VWAP") of such shares dkerfirst 30 (thirty) days of trading followinggHPO, assuming issuance of all shares iss
in the IPO, and assuming issuance of all shareslids as management shares and conversion ofdtes sued under the Instrument (as def
and all other convertible securities and exercfsng warrants or other securities issued in cofimeavith the IPO, such that if following any rege
merger or IPO, the value of $40.0 million in nevidgued shares based on VWAP of JVC shares is gréwe the Global Gold's 51% eqt
ownership in JVC valued as above, new shares in\ilMe issued to the Global Gold such that thgragate value of Global Gold's ownershi
JVC is shares having a value of $40.0 million base®/WAP, and the Company shall remain in contfadhe JVC following the public listing, all
further described in exhibit 10.34 below. The Bbaf Directors of Global Gold Corporation previousipproved the same transaction, discL
above, on January 5, 2012.

Based on the approval of the Board of DirectorsGédbal Gold received on January 5, 2012 and oniviege consent from its sharehold
representing over a 65% majority of its outstand@@gmmon Stock on February 6, 2012, to transferl®@ interest in Mego and Getik Mini
Company, LLC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware Il liability company (“GGCR Mining”)owned by a joint venture company, Global C
Consolidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Islangfgrilimited company (“GGCR”per the terms of the April 27, 2011 Joint Venturgrdemer
with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an exempt rasigdent Cayman Islands company (“CRAthe Company entered into the follow
agreements on or about February 19, 2012 updatengqus agreements, all as further described ire#ébits attached, on the following dates:
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Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februarga® (Exhibit 10.36)

Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012 (&ixh0.37)

Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datdatrary 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.38)

MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated@igrl9, 2012 (Exhibit 10.39)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CEAhibit 10.40)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MitinGRA) (Exhibit 10.41)

Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (by&@nd GGCR Mining to CRA) (Exhibit 10.42)

Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member @GR Mining, LLC dated February 19, 2012 (Exhibit43%)
Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated Reby 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.44)

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regéxt Company No 109058 Written resolutions by fthe directors of the Company
(Exhibit 10.45)

e Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef GGCR Mining, LLC (Exhibit 10.46)

Key terms included that Global Gold will retain 5Iftthe shares of GGCR, which will be a subsidiairthe Company, per the terms of the April
2011 Joint Venture Agreement as approved and destdbove. The Board of Directors of GGCR Mininguid be comprised of Van Krikorie
from GGC, Prem Premraj, from CRA, and three Bareutive independent directors to be selectetiérfuture. Pending the closing, if any, G
was designated as the manager of the Toukhmanuksatikl properties, with reasonable costs incurredskeM with respect thereto being pas
through to GGCRL and GGCR Mining, as applicable,reombursement. The April 26, 2012 deadline sethie April 2011 JV Agreement to clc
the transaction passed without a closing for séveasons, as previously reported, clarificatiod aettlement efforts followed.

On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Sheaasfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering ttengfer of all the shares of the Armer
companies Mego and the Getik Mining Company, LLGolhrespectively hold the Toukhmanuk and Getik mgnproperties in Armenia. The Sh
Transfer Agreements were concluded in accordantethé previously disclosed agreements with Codat#id Resources Armenia and Consolic
Resources USA, LLC, a Delaware limited liabilityngpany to fund development and form a joint ventumehe Companyg Toukhmanuk and Ge
properties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) ownedelop and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold mipiragerties, and be a (ii) be a comg
listed on an exchange fully admitted to trading. éfsSeptember 19, 2012, GGCRL resolved reportestanding issues which had bloc
implementation of the joint venture agreement axetation of the Share Transfer Agreements. Gl@xdt’s ownership in GGCRL is and shall
the greater value of either 51% or the pro formae/af $40.0 million 30 days after the stock is llp traded. The sole officers of GGCRL a¢
September 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Krikorian, Exe@it@hairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Financial Controlleil@ZFreasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghoss
Armenia Managing Director, with Ogie€Cerporate Services (Jersey) Limited continuingexsetary of the Company. See attached Exhibits€
and 10.59.

On October 26, 2012, the shares of Mego and Getdile wegistered, subject to terms and conditiortaded in the transfer documents, with the !
Registry of the Republic of Armenia, as being fullyned by GGCR Mining. The registration was cortegleafter approval was given by Al
which required Global Gold to guaranty the ABB liofecredit payable. The joint venture was closed0d?2.

On July 5, 2013, GGCRL and the Company enteredanfiing and mine contractor agreement with Linnailj and associated parties to mine
central section of Toukhmanuk.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, Iltem 3 “Legal Proceeydih “Agreements” and “Subsequent Events” below.
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Getik

The Getik property is located in the northeast Gegiinik province of Armenia north-east of Lake Seaad approximately 110 km north-east of
Yerevan. The property is accessible by car okttboough existing paved and dirt roads. Gas dectric power are available at the property. The
property is located in the Alaverdi-Kapan metalloigezone on the edge of the Sevan suture zone amesncharacterized by volcanogenic
sedimentary rocks of Jurassic and Eocene ageridss# granitoid intrusives varying from ganodierto rhyolite composition have been identified
in the area associated with a regional scale eastnending fault and locale scale north-southdirgg faults. The Company does not have any
facilities or material equipment at the properfshe Company has only done exploration work at tlopgrty and has not developed any significant
surface or underground working or infrastructufdl. equipment needed is brought to the site onsaneeded basis from the Company’s other
properties or from contractors.

The Company does not currently have establishextves at the Getik Property and is focusing onargpion work based on Armenian historical
GKZ records. The Company has done geological nmgpgiround geophysical surveys, trenching and diehalill testing at Getik and continues its
exploration work there based on the Armenian hisabGKZ records in conjunction with the exploratizvork and results done so far (please refer to
the “Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors” on pagd g report). On October 17, 2011, the Compaoeived an updated NI-43-101 format
independent technical report prepared by Behre é€olinternational Limited for the Toukhmanuk andiGproperties in Armenia and reporting on
new discoveries at Toukhmanuk which is availabléhenCompany’s website.  Additional exploratioariwwill need to be funded with additional
funds raised through joint ventures, debt, equitg oombination thereof.

The Getik property is a lode deposit which willrb@ed using an open pit. The Company has two Natiexploration licenses #85 which covers
sub-surface exploitation of precious metals inAh&ots manifestation and #86 which covers sub-serfxploitation of non-ferrous metals in the
Aygut manifestation, as further described belowege licenses have since been replaced underwh20i® Armenian Mining Code with License
#29/034 and #29/035, respectively, which expire@enember 10, 2013. The Company has applied teneions, to which it is entitled under
Armenian law although the documents have not bemred yet. The Company is required to pay annuargmental fees of $1,000. The Company
is also required to spend approximately $1,000¢¥06xploration work in order to maintain the licessn good standing. The exploration license
area is defined by the following coordinates fa &mrots gold manifestation and Aygut copper mastigon:

Amrots manifestation

X =4507000 X = 4504350 9. X =4504000
Y =8517000 Y =8521350 Y = 8519650
X =4507000 X =4504450 10. X = 4504350
Y = 8525000 Y = 8520850 Y = 8519000
X =4503000 X =4504350 11. X =4504750
Y = 8525000 Y = 8520350 Y =8517000
X =4503000 X =4504125
Y = 8522000 Y = 8520250
Amrots manifestation
X =4507000 X =4504750
Y = 8516000 Y =8517000
X =4507000 X = 4504950
Y =8517000 Y = 8516000

The Company is required to pay annual governmesst &&d perform work at the property, both as desdrabove, to keep the license in good
standing. In various circumstances, Armenian ldemad for annual work requirements to be cured Insgguent years and by other means without
losing good standing status. Failure to maintaiodglicense status could result in the license beirgpended or terminated under Armenian Law
Company has not received any suspension or teriminasdtices, but could based on the Company’s peidoce and other factors. See Item 1A
“Risk Factors,” below.
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In 2009, Getik Mining Company, LLC engaged in maygpisampling, drill analysis and other exploratioork at the Getik property. As of
December 31, 2009, the Company has not generagece@nue from sales of any concentrate or otheeralized material at the property. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company has spent appradin®850,000 on mining and exploration activitieshés property, excluding acquisition and
capital costs.

On December 10, 2008, the government of Armenigeds new special exploration license expiring Drdwr 10, 2013. The Company will cond
further exploration activities during this period.

On January 31, 2006, GGM closed a share purchaseragnt, dated as of January 23, 2006, with AtHelsstments, CISC ("Al") to transfer 80%
of the shares of Al to GGM in exchange for 100,60€he Company’s common stock. Al was renamed @etik Mining Company, LLC." As of
May 30, 2007, GGM acquired the remaining twentycpet interest in Getik Mining Company, LLC, leaviB§sM as the owner of one hundred
percent of Getik Mining Company, LLC.

As of March 17, 2011, the Company entered intagreement (the “Formation AgreementVith Consolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Dela
company (“CRU") for a joint venture on the Companyoukhmanuk and Getik properties in Armenia (tReoperties”). Upon payment of the initi
consideration as provided below, Global Gold andJGRII work together for twelve months (the “12 MibnPeriod”)to develop the Properties ¢
cause the Properties to be contributed to a nemt j@nture company, whose identity and terms wéllrbutually agreed, (the “JVC”).Rasia,
Dubai-based principal advisory company, acted Bsavisor on the transaction.

Key terms include CRU paying initial consideratioin$5,000,000 as a working capital commitment tobal Gold payable by: a $500,000 adve
immediately following the execution of the Formatidgreement (the “Advance”);1$400,000 payable following the satisfactory cortipteof due
diligence by CRU and the execution of definitivecdments in 30 days from the date of this Agreemant} $3,100,000 according to a sep:
schedule in advance and payable within 5 businags df the end of every calendar month as needed.

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into an egrent with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an ekaompresident Cayman Islands company
(“CRA"); and its affiliate CRU, (hereinafter collgeely referred to as “CR”), to fund developmentidorm a joint venture on the Properties (the “JV
Agreement”). The JV Agreement was entered pursteeaitite Formation Agreement.

CR completed its due diligence with satisfactiond as of the date of the JV Agreement completeduthding of the required $500,000 Advar
Upon the terms and subject to the conditions oAgiveement, CR will complete the funding of the eéning $4,500,000 of its $5,000,000 work
capital commitment related to Toukhmanuk and Getikording to an agreed, restricted funding schesadigh includes $1,400,000 paya
following the execution of the Agreement and thea@ing $3,100,000 payable over the next 12 mowilts payments occurring within 5 busin
days of the end of each calendar month as neddeatdition, Mr. Jeffrey Marvin of CR was electedchamber of the Global Gold Board of Direc
and attended the Company's annual meeting on Jyn2011. As of December 31, 2011, the Companyivedehe full $5,000,000 funding frc
CR. Mr. Marvin resigned from the Global Gold boardFebruary 24, 2012 for personal reasons.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Global Gold and CRwmrking together for twelve months (the “12 Moiteriod”) from the date of the JV
Agreement to develop the Properties, improve therftial performance and enhance shareholder valne JV Agreement enables Global Gold to
complete its current Toukhmanuk production expang300,000 tonnes per year and advance exploretidrmenia. Global Gold and CR agre!
form a new Joint Venture Company (“JVC”) to be blithed by CR, subject to terms and conditions @lytwand reasonably agreed with Global
Gold, provided that JVC shall have no liabilitiebligations, contingent or not, or commitments,eptqursuant to a shareholders’

agreement. Global Gold and CR intend to integaitef Global Gold’s Toukhmanuk and Getik miningdaexploration operations into the JVC.

The JVC will (i) own, develop and operate Toukhmaand Getik, (ii) be a company listed on an exclesfiodly admitted to trading or be in the
process of being listed on such exchange anch@ie no liabilities, obligations, contingent or ,nmt commitments except pursuant to the
shareholders agreement. The JVC will issue newestta the Company such that following any revemseger or initial public offering of JVC's
shares ("IPO"), Global Gold shall directly or iretitly hold the greater of (a) 51% of the equitygtC, or (b) $40.0 million in newly issued stock of
JVC, calculated based on the volume weighted aeepége ("VWAP") of such shares over the first 8@rfy) days of trading following the IPO,
assuming issuance of all shares issuable in thedR@assuming issuance of all shares issuabl@aaagement shares and conversion of the Notes
issued under the Instrument (as defined) and lafiratonvertible securities and exercise of any avdsror other securities issued in connection with
the IPO, such that if following any reverse mergelPO, the value of $40.0 million in newly issugftares based on VWAP of JVC shares is greater
than the Global Gold's 51% equity ownership in J&Mied as above, new shares in JVC will be isso¢hlet Global Gold such that the aggregate
value of Global Gold's ownership in JVC is sharasgiig a value of $40.0 million based on VWAP, alnel Company shall remain in control of the
JVC following the public listing.
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On February 6, 2012, the Company received consemt $hareholders representing a majority over 66%s @utstanding Common Stock to tran
the 100% interests in Mego and Getik Mining CompdryC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limited bdity company, owned by a joi
venture company, Global Gold Consolidated Resouta®ited, a Jersey Island private limited compat$GCR”), per the terms of the April 2
2011 Joint Venture Agreement with Consolidated Reses Armenia, an exempt non-resident Cayman Islanchpany (“CRA").The JVC was t
issue new shares to the Company such that folloaimgreverse merger or initial public offering MQs shares ("IPO"), Global Gold shall dire:
or indirectly hold the greater of (a) 51% of theuigyg of JVC, or (b) $40.0 million in newly issuetbsk of JVC, calculated based on the vol
weighted average price ("VWAP") of such shares dhkerfirst 30 (thirty) days of trading followingelPO, assuming issuance of all shares iss
in the IPO, and assuming issuance of all shareslids as management shares and conversion ofdtes iésued under the Instrument (as def
and all other convertible securities and exercisany warrants or other securities issuedcionnection with the IPO, such that if following
reverse merger or IPO, the value of $40.0 millieméwly issued shares based on VWAP of JVC shargeeater than the Global Gold's 51% ec
ownership in JVC valued as above, new shares in\@ Qe issued to the Global Gold such that thgragate value of Global Gold's ownershi
JVC is shares having a value of $40.0 million based/WAP, and the Company shall remain in contfche JVC following the public listing, all
further described in exhibit 10.34 below. The Bbaf Directors of Global Gold Corporation previouslpproved the same transaction, discL
above, on January 5, 2012.

Based on the approval of the Board of Director&labal Gold received on January 5, 2012 and oniviececonsent from its shareholders
representing over a 65% majority of its outstandmgnmon Stock on February 6, 2012 to transfer @@¥4d.interest in Mego and Getik Mining
Company, LLC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware lietl liability company (“GGCR Mining”), owned by aint venture company, Global Gold
Consolidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Islan@fariimited company (“GGCR?”), per the terms of &l 27, 2011 Joint Venture Agreement
with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an exemptraeitlent Cayman Islands company (“CRA”), the Conypentered into the following
agreements on or about February 19, 2012 updatengqus agreements, all as further described ire#hébits attached, on the following dates:

Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februarga® (Exhibit 10.36)

Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012 (&ixh0.37)

Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datdatrary 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.38)

MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated d&eigrl9, 2012 (Exhibit 10.39)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CEAhibit 10.40)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MitinGRA) (Exhibit 10.41)

Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (bz&@nd GGCR Mining to CRA) (Exhibit 10.42)

Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member @GR Mining, LLC dated February 19, 2012 (Exhibit43)
Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated Reby 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.44)

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regéxt Company No 109058 Written resolutions by fthe directors of the Company
(Exhibit 10.45)

e Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef GGCR Mining, LLC (Exhibit 10.46)

Key terms included that Global Gold will retain 55¥athe shares of GGCR, which will be a subsidizirthe Company, per the terms of the April
2011 Joint Venture Agreement as approved and desteabove. The Board of Directors of GGCR Mininguwd be comprised of Van Krikorian,
from GGC, Prem Premraj, from CRA, and three norcatiee independent directors to be selected irfithee. Pending the closing, if any, GGM
was designated as the manager of the Toukhmanuéaeatikl properties, with reasonable costs incurne@BM with respect thereto being passed
through to GGCRL and GGCR Mining, as applicable rémbursement. The April 26, 2012 deadline se¢he April 2011 JV Agreement to close
the transaction passed without a closing for sévesasons, as previously reported, clarificatiod aettiement efforts followed.
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On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Shearsfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering ttemsfer of all the shares of the Armen
companies Mego and the Getik Mining Company, LLGohlrespectively hold the Toukhmanuk and Getik mgnproperties in Armenia. The Share
Transfer Agreements were concluded in accordanteti previously disclosed agreements with Codat¢d Resources Armenia and Consolid
Resources USA, LLC, a Delaware limited liabilityngpany to fund development and form a joint ventaméhe Company’s Toukhmanuk and Getik
properties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) ownedelop and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold miphogerties, and be a (ii) be a company
listed on an exchange fully admitted to trading.oASeptember 19, 2012, GGCRL resolved reportestantling issues which had blocked
implementation of the joint venture agreement aretation of the Share Transfer Agreements. GlolmddlG ownership in GGCRL is and shall be
the greater value of either 51% or the pro formae/af $40.0 million 30 days after the stock is i traded. The sole officers of GGCRL as of
September 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Krikorian, ExeaiBhairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Financial Controlleil@Freasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghossian
Armenia Managing Director, with Ogier -Corporate\Bees (Jersey) Limited continuing as secretarthefCompany. See attached Exhibit 10.58
and 10.59.

On October 26, 2012, the shares of Mego and Getdile negistered, subject to terms and conditiorstaded in the transfer documents, with the State
Registry of the Republic of Armenia, as being fullyned by GGCR Mining. The registration was cortgadeafter approval was given by ABB
which required Global Gold to guaranty the ABB liofecredit payable. The joint venture was closed012.

On July 5, 2013, GGCRL entered agreements witmaactor to fulfill exploration work at Getik, whiccontractors breached in full.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, Item 3 “Legal Proceegihand Item 16 “Agreements”, and “Subsequent Es/dmlow.

Lichkvadz-Tei and Terterasar
Lichtvadz-Tei and Terterasar are located in thetsaua Armenia province of Syunik.

On August 15, 2005, GGM entered into a joint veatagreement with Iberian Resources Limited’s sudsidCaucusus Resources Ltd. (“CR”) to
form the Aigedzor Mining Company, LLC ("AMC") on &0% CR, 20% GGM basis in anticipation of jointgairing and developing (a) for the
Lichkvadz-Tei and Terterasar mining properties al as the associated plant and assets in soufrerania through the Armenian limited liability
company Sipan 1, LLC ("Sipan 1") which is the liseg; and (b) mineral exploration and related prtgggewithin a 20 kilometer radius of the
southern Armenian town of Aigedzor.

On December 19, 2006, GGM entered a "RestructuRingalty, and Joint Venture Termination Agreememith CR. The agreement restructures the
parties' Aigedzor Mining Company Joint Ventureremsfer GGM 's 20% interest to CR in exchangedoe million dollars; a 2.5% Net Smelter
Return (“NSR”) royalty payable on all products puodd from the Lichkvaz and Terterasar mines as agelfom any mining properties acquired in a
20 kilometer radius of the town of Aigedzor in doerin Armenia; the right to participate up to 20%&iy new projects undertaken by Iberian or its
affiliates in Armenia until August 15, 2015; anddimillion shares of Iberian's common stock, whach restricted for one year. On February 28,
2007, Iberian Resources Limited announced its nmevih Tamaya Resources Limited (“Tamaya”), and &ganis now developing those

properties. As part of the merger, the five millghares of Iberian’s common stock were exchangetivienty million shares of Tamaya’s common
stock without any restrictions. GGM retains thghtito participate up to 20% in any new projectdartaken by Tamaya or its affiliates in Armenia
until August 15, 2015 and the 2.5% Net Smelter Retayalty as described above. During the yeaedrdlecember 31, 2007, the Company sold all
20,000,000 shares of the Tamaya Resources Limitazk $hat it owned. In 2008, Tamaya and Iberiasdreces filed for bankruptcy in Australia.
2009, the bankruptcy administrators sold the shafr&pan 1, LLC to Terranova Overseas companyrorga in the United Arab Emirates which,
on information and belief, includes local and fgreinvestors and which also assumes the contiralitigations of Sipan 1, LLC to Global

Gold. The Company has taken action to protectgtgs. On information and belief, the licenselfcchkvadz-Tei was terminated by Armenian
authorities in March 2009 and has been issueddthancompany, which on information and belief)uges local and foreign investors..

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.
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(4) CHILE PROPERTIES

The Company has a vice-president who operatesfize @f Santiago, Chile which has been engagedjiogation activities and development of
mining projects, and is engaged in ongoing acdaisiteview. A map showing the location of propestie Chile where the Company has or had
interests (below) and other information about thepprties are located on the Company's website.
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Pureo

The Pureo property is located in south centralé;méar Valdivia, and approximately 700 km soutSaftiago. The property consists of
approximately 8,200 hectares. The geographic toates of the central part of the property are axipnately 39°00’S and 72°00'W. Access to the
property is by paved roads and gravel roads. shinature at the site includes electrical powelt,gfgone network and road building

equipment. Water, both industrial and potablelréavn from wells. The Company has a hanger anddmeér at the property.

The property is underlain by metamorphic and ctistarocks of Paleozoic age, including sericithist, black to blue shale, altered sandstone and
andesite. These rocks comprise the basement ssekrdolage in the area. In general, these rocKsl@ated and, in places, are intruded by granite,
granodiorite and dioritic dikes.

The Pureo property is mainly a placer deposit wiidhbe mined using an open pit. The Company&rk are National exploitation licenses which
carry definitive rights as long as the fees arelpdihe Company is required to pay governmenta &e approximately $30,000 per year. If gold
production is more than the $30,000 in value, tishamount is refunded. The property is subjeet 17% Net Profits tax on production. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company has not generagece@nue from sales of any concentrate or otheeralized material at the property. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company has spent appralin®836,000 on mining and exploration activitieshés property, excluding acquisition and
capital costs.

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Comptiangugh Minera Global, entered agreements to @joint venture and on October 29, 2007,
the Company closed its joint venture agreement migmbers of the Quijano family by which Minera Gibassumed a 51% interest in the placetr
hard rock gold Madre de Dios and Pureo properfidee name of the joint venture company is Compafireera Global Gold Valdivia S.C.M.
(“Global Gold Valdivia” or “GGV”).

On December 2, 2011, the Company closed an ameagtedment with Conventus and Amarant, originalkged into on October 27, 2010, for the
sale of 100% interest in the GGV which held thegBunining assets in Chile. As part of the amendraed closing, Global Gold also sold 100%
interest in its wholly owned subsidiaries Globab@nd Global Plata, both of which are Delaware téhiLiability Corporations, and are each 50%
owners of Minera Global in exchange for additioc@inpensation, payable on or before December 15,,205 1% interest in Amarant. GGV is
owned by Minera Global (51%) and Global Oro (49@9)nventus has assigned its right and obligatico® fthis agreement to Amarant. The
Company only received partial payment and hadéddir arbitration to collect.

On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into an "Aded Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreenvgtit"Amarant to amend the parties’
December 2, 2011 "Joint Membership Interest Puhageement." On June 15, 2012, the Company comdilly agreed to a revised schedule of
debt repayment through August 30, 2012. The revisbedule provides the Company to receive; a) @@&t proceeds of funds raised by Alluvi
Amarant or their affiliates with a ceiling of $32800 (which includes additional compensation) framy source; b) a $250,000 payment, and c) an
additional $200,000 payment to the company. Alse,Company agreed to conditionally waive its righfirst refusal with respect to transfer of
GGV shares as part of this revision, but these itiond were not met and the Company has advisddhbgurported assignment to Alluvia is
invalid. As one provision of the amended salsetbon December 2, 2011, the Company was to receit@n shares or ownership of Amarant,
amounting to 533,856 shares of Amarant. These shegee received in July 2012. No value has beesrded for these shares for the following
reasons; a) there is currently no active tradingketao value these shares except the “Mangold kisBweden, b) we do not have access to the
financials of Amarant to aid in calculating a valaad c) these shares received present a smaltitginarnership of Amarant. Amarant and Alluvia
remain in default of certain material provisiongiuf sale agreement.

On November 28, 2012, the Company and Amarant “f@agties”) entered into an Amended Joint Membership Interestiase Agreement (1
“Amendment”), which again restructured the termghaf Joint Interest Membership Interest Purchasedigent (the “MIPA”),dated December
2011, among the Company, Amarant, and the otheiepasignatory thereto and amended on April 13,220Amended MIPA”). Pursuant to tt
MIPA and all of its amendments the Parties agraedk of November 28, 2012 Amarant owes $3,275(0@0e Company. Interest accrues at
per annum.

On August 6, 2013, the Company received a Partiel Rward and injunctions in its favor. See Legabceedings and Subsequent Events below.
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Key terms of the Amendment include: Amarant agthasit shall pay the Company the following amountghe close of business Central European
Time (“CET") on the indicated dates: (i) $200,000Movember 29, 2012; (ii) $150,000 on or before &ber 30, 2012, (jii) $450,000 on or before
December 6, 2012; (iv) $700,000 on or before Deeamii, 2012 and; (v) $1,775,000 on or before De@sriB, 2012. With respect to the payments
in (iii), (iv) and (v) as the largest shareholdéAduvia Mining Ltd. (“Alluvia”), Amarant guarantes that 50% of all funds raised by Alluvia shall be
paid to the Company until such payments are sadisfi full. As further consideration and in satgtfan of any and all alleged damages resulting

of Amarant’s failure to perform any obligation prizereto, Amarant agrees to transfer to the Com@argy Million (1,000,000) ordinary shares of
Alluvia held by Amarant, within 15 days of a fuldkecuted lock-up agreement whereby the Companybwitestricted from transferring any of such
shares for a period of 6 months from the dateasfdfer. The Parties agree to act in good faithrépgre and agree on the terms of the lock-up
agreement within 5 business days from the dateohdrastly, in the event that Amarant fails to make payments hereunder on a timely basis, it
hereby confesses to an arbitral award as to thaidmounts and the parties authorize the entsyci an arbitral award pursuant to the American
Arbitration Association arbitration clauses prewlyuagreed; this confession of arbitral award isfiesl by the undersigned who have personal
knowledge of the facts and affirm that they arejdist debts arising from the sale of property, sl confession is signed by each of the undersigne
under oath that the terms are true to the bestedf knowledge. The parties further agree to exeand deliver any other documents which may be
necessary to effectuate this confession and aatitan of arbitral award within 48 hours of a resfuey the other party or the arbitrator. The
Amendment had a confidentiality provision whicmgslonger operational. The Amendment also provitietl subject to Amarant’s performance of
the payment obligations, the Company would waigats to object to Amarant’s transfer of the propgstAlluvia; however, Amarant did not meet
its payment obligations. The Amendment furthewjed that the Company would extend the time forafamt to effect certain name changes until
March 31, 2013 with Amarant’s performance of thgrpant obligations, but Amarant failed to meet éyment obligations. The Company has
received the 1,000,000 shares of Alluvia whichraggricted for 6 months, until May 28, 2013. Ndueahas been recorded for these shares for the
following reasons; a) there is currently no actiagling market to value these shares except thetjdid List” in Sweden, b) we do not have access
to the financials of Alluvia to aid in calculatirgvalue, and c) these shares received presentlbrsimarity ownership of Alluvia. Amarant and
Alluvia remain in default of certain material preigns of the agreements with the Company. SeehattiaExhibit 10.60.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, Iltem 4 “Receivable Fr8ale”, “Legal Proceedings”, and “Subsequent EvVebtdow.
Santa Candelaria
Santa Candelaria is located in Comuna de Diegolawgro, Region Il of Chile.

The Company, on January 15, 2003, entered intgaardpurchase/lease agreement with Alfredo Sotandcand Adrian Soto Torino for the
purchase of copper gold properties in Chanaratibidtl Chile (the Candelaria 1 to 3, the Santan@alaria 1 to 8 and the Torino | mining claims 1
through 7 and Torino Il mining claims 1 through Ithle "Chilean Agreement"). The Company currengffiers to all of the properties acquired by the
Chilean Agreement as "Santa Candelaria." The Agee¢mas converted into a purchase agreement omdgbt, 2004.

After certain exploration activities, including litad drilling in 2005, the Company determined tihahould discontinue its exploration operations at
Santa Candelaria, and wrote down its investmenthEy on January 13, 2006, Minera Global entenéala purchase, option, and royalty agreement
with Mr. Adrian Soto Torino, a citizen of Chile (S¥™") to transfer the mining concessions Candelbriz, and 3 to AST to mine the gold property
and pay Minera Global a net smelter royalty of 1484l such time as Minera Global has been paidX5and thereafter a net smelter royalty of 2%
for the life of the mine. All liabilities and feessociated with the property are the responsitlithST, and Minera Global retains the option to
reacquire the mining concession upon 60 days natidepayment of 1,000,000 Chilean pesos (approri;n&2,000 USD using exchange rates at
December 31, 2009).

The Company transferred all of its rights to SaPéadalaria to Amarant as part of the transactiaerilged above which closed on December 2, 2

See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, below.
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(5) CANADA PROPERTIES

A map showing the location of the properties in &mand other information about the propertiedcm@ed on the Company's website. The
Company has phased out its Canadian propertiesnirgg a royalty interest in the Cochrane Pond ertypin Newfoundland.

Cochrane Pond
The Cochrane Pond property is located in southeabtewfoundland, Canada.

On April 12, 2007, Global Gold Uranium entered gneement to acquire an option for the Cochrane Hoedse area (the "Option Agreement”) v
Commander Resources Ltd. ("Commander") and Bayswhsnium Corp. ("Bayswater"). The Cochrane Porapprty consists of 2,600 claims
within 61,000 hectares (approximately 150,708 gcrébie Agreement is subject to the conclusionmbgtion agreement. Major terms include the
following: Global Gold Uranium may earn a 51% eyuitterest over a period of four years in CochrBoed Property by completing; Cash paym:
of US $700,000 over four year period; Share isseai®50,000 shares of Global Gold Corporation%%6ach to Commander and Bayswater (the
“CPJV")) over a four year period; and Property exgitures over four year period of C$3.5 millionfagher described in exhibit 10.3 on Form 8-K
filed on April 16, 2007. As of June 30, 2007, tbempany has paid $200,000 and issued 150,000 sbiattess Company's common stock, 75,000
shares each to Commander and Bayswater.

On October 17, 2008, the parties terminated théo®ptgreement, and Global Gold Uranium entered ariagreement (the “Royalty Agreement”)
with Commander and Bayswater pertaining to the @oad Pond property. The Royalty Agreement grdr@sompany a royalty in the Cochrane
Pond property and terminates the Company’s existgigs and obligations associated with the Cool@ond property. The key terms of the
Royalty Agreement are that the CPJV shall provideyalty to the Company for uranium produced fréva Cochrane Pond property in the form of a
1% gross production royalty from the sale of uramtoncentrates (yellowcake) capped at CDN $1miltitiar which the royalty shall be reduced
0.5% royalty. In consideration for the royaltye tBompany shall pay $50,000 cash, $25,000 eachysvigater and Commander within 30 days, &
further described in exhibit 10.3 of Form 8-K filed October 22, 2008. As of November 13, 2008 Gbmpany has paid $25,000 each to Bayswatel
and Commander.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors”, below.
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(6) ENVIRONMENT AND ETHICAL MATTERS

The Company's policy on environmental mattersagestin its Code of Business Conduct and Ethicsofwis posted on the Compasyivebsite), an
requires compliance with all relevant laws and tagens and includes a zero tolerance policy omugdion. The Company’s Insider Trading and
Public Information Policy, Charter of the Audit Corttee of the Board of Directors, Charter of then@@ensation Committee of the Board of
Directors, and its Nominating and Governance Charte also posted on its website and require cempd with all relevant laws and

regulations. Specifically, the Company intendsdaduct its business in a manner that is compatititethe balanced environmental and economic
needs of the communities in which it operates2d@7, the Company instituted a whistleblower pragta encourage reporting of any non
compliance with such policies and procedures.

The Company is committed to continuous effortsripriove environmental performance throughout itsapens. Accordingly, the Company's pol

is to: comply with international standards as depetl by the World Bank; comply with all applicaklevironmental laws and regulations and apply
responsible standards where laws and regulatiom®tiexist; assess all projects which will incledeeview of the environmental issues associated
with project development; make available thesessssents to the appropriate government agencigs\@w and approval; encourage concern and
respect for the environment; emphasize every emsgisyresponsibility in environmental and safetyqrerance; foster appropriate operating
practices and training; manage its business wélgthals of preventing incidents and controllingssians and wastes to below harmful levels;
design, operate, and maintain facilities to thid;easpond quickly and effectively to incidentsuiéag from its operations, in cooperation with
industry organizations and authorized governmeaheigs; and undertake appropriate reviews and atiafis of its operations to measure progress
and to foster compliance with these policies. ABetember 31, 2013, the Company does not havaabilty unpaid for environmental
compliance. The cost for the Company to maintawirenmental compliance has had no substantiatditioin or restriction upon our ability to carry
out our mining operations. The Company has bebjested to false allegations in the media regaritmmgnvironmental record in Armenia by
guestionable individuals and groups, all of which Company has refuted and none of which roseettetrel of a legal inquiry.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following riskctars, together with all of the other informaticontained in this Annual Report, on Form 10-K
before making an investment decision with respgotur common stock. Any of the following risks,vasll as other risks and uncertainties described
in this Annual Report on Form 1K-as well as additional risks which may not berently known to the Company, could harm our busnéeancia
condition and results of operations and could ablgraffect the value of our Common Stock.

EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY

The Company does not engage in the active condctrade or business aside from development aplbeation activities. It has not generated any
revenues to date, with the exception of revenum fitte transaction with Iberian Resources at theof2906, the sale of Chilean interests in the
Amarant/Conventus transaction in 2011, and minsa#s of concentrate from Toukhmanuk. AlthoughGbenpany maintains mining licenses in
Armenia and has reserves according to the lawsmwiAia, the Company has not established provempaizhble reserves in accordance per SEC
Industry Guide 7 at any of it's properties (pleasfer to the “Cautionary Note to U.S. Investors”gage 3 of this report). The Company may
encounter problems, delays, expenses and difeaiipically encountered in the development stagy of which may be outside of the Compa
control. These problems include, but are not Behito, issues interpreting and proving historicaling data, obtaining and maintaining quality
equipment, licensing difficulties, and financingplems.

LIQUIDITY RISK — GOING CONCERN

The Company needs additional funds in order to aondny active mining development and productioerafions in the foreseeable future.
Especially since the international financial cristiarting in 2008, there can be no assurance tlyafirancing for acquisitions or future projectdiwi
be available for such purposes or that such fimandf available, would be on terms favorable aregtable to the Company. As such, our
independent registered public accounting firm lagcluded that additional revenue arrangementsiantiing is needed to enable us to fund our
future operations, which raises substantial abaubility to operate as a going concern, and atingly has included this uncertainty in their retpor
on our December 31, 2013 consolidated financiaéstants.
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COMPETITION

There is intense competition in the mining industiye Company is competing with larger mining comipsa, many of which have substantially
greater financial strengths, and capital, markegind personnel resources than those possessed Gpthpany. Although the Company competes
with multi-national mining companies which have stantially greater resources and numbers of empgyae Company’s long term presence and
the expertise and knowledge of its personnel inéma and in Chile allow it to compete with companigth greater resources. The Company has
also faced defamatory internet based attacks fratdefa Resources Inc. and its president Vasilidf (Bavridis and related parties.

NEED FOR KEY PERSONNEL

The Company presently has officers and operatiomagers intimately familiar with the operation ofrinig projects or the development of such
projects and with experience in former Soviet cdeatand South America. While the Company doeseli¢ve the loss of any director or officer of
the Company will materially and adversely affestldng-term business prospects, the loss of attyeo€ompany's senior personnel might potentially
adversely affect the Company until a suitable regi@ent could be found. The Company continues td@mpdependent consultants and engineers,
and employs through subsidiaries personnel withimgirgeology, and related backgrounds in Armenid, ia Chile.

MANAGEMENT SALARIES

As of December 31, 2013, the Company owes unpagesvaf approximately $830,000 to management inctydpproximately $372,000 to Mr. Vv
Krikorian and $271,000 to Mr. Jan Dulman. The Campis accruing interest at an annual rate of 9%then net of taxes wages owec
management. As of December 31, 2013, the Compadyabcrued interest of approximately $172,000. Chmpanys failure to remain current
its salary obligations exposes the Company to titerfiial loss of key personnel. The Company has atsrued the contingent bonus payable t
management for $135,000 as of December 31, 2013.

TRADING MARKET

The Company's Common Stock is traded on the OTCtgBange of the OTC Market. As a result, our stotdidas may find it more difficult to buy
or sell shares of our common stock than it wouldf loer stock were listed on a national securiggshange.

VALUE OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

The Company has not purchased securities in otirepanies but has received, and still holds, séesrih other non-related companies. The
Company has not valued these securities as of DemreBl, 2013 due to a variety of risks includingnon percentage of shares outstanding, trading
restrictions, there can be no assurance that ayuatieliquid market will exist for these securitiaad there can be no assurance that quoted market
prices at any given time will properly reflect thalue at which the Company could monetize thesergexs. There are also the risks of the
underlying companies and their operations.

LACK OF INSURANCE PROTECTION

The Company may not be able to obtain adequateansa protection for its foreign investments.
GLOBAL FINANCIAL CONDITION

Financial conditions globally continue to experienolatility following the U.S. led financial crisin 2008, which impacted numerous financial
institutions globally, and more recently the estiatpfinancial turmoil in Europe. Each has createdsiderable uncertainty as a result of excessive
government debt levels in some countries and tippasedented steps being taken to avert a full bighbal crisis. These factors may impact the
ability of the Company to issue debt and equitthie future and to issue it on terms that are restderto the Company. Although there have been
signs of economic recovery, volatility and markettoil may continue and, as a result, the Compaby&ness, financial condition, results of
operations and share price could be adversely iragac
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE

By virtue of its international operations, the Canp incurs costs and expenses in a number of fo@igencies. The revenue received by the
Company is denominated in U.S. dollars since tieeprof the metals that it produces are referencé&ldS. dollars, while the majority of operating
and capital expenditures is the Armenian dram.tBat®ons in these foreign exchange rates givetoigereign exchange exposures, either favorable
or unfavorable, which could have a material impacthe Company’s results of operations and findreciadition.

FLUCTUATION IN MINERAL PRICES

The prices of gold and other minerals historicélligtuate and are affected by numerous factors heéyioe Company's control and no assurance can
be given that any reserves proved or estimatedagillally be produced.

COUNTERPARTY RISK

The Company is exposed to counterparty risk, inodnarket pricing and credit-related risk in thveet any counterparty, whether a customer,
debtor or financial intermediary, is unable or uling to fulfill their contractual obligations tthé Company or where such agreements are otherwise
terminated and not replaced with agreements ortauiiely the same terms. All of the Company’s rggte projected sales of concentrate in 2013
are to one customer. There can be no assurandféh@ompany will not experience a material lagsnon-performance by any counterparty with
whom it has a commercial relationship. Should sumgh losses arise, they could adversely affecCtimapany’s business, financial condition and
results of operations. The Company has incurreldcantinues to incur losses due to counterparky ris

Consolidated Resources Related

In April 2013, the Company had indirectly receivadinformal notice from a purported representatiV€RA alleging a default under the
Convertible Notes. On June 18, 2013, GGC and GGAiRictly received a notice from the same purpo@&A representative, Joseph Borkowski.
On June 25, 2013, GGC, in a written response eaddrg Mr. Premraj, refuted (without dispute) théicebased on communications with CRA
affiliated directors, lack of corporate authentiosatand contradictory corporate constitutional doeatation which would prohibit GGC from
recognizing Mr. Borkowski or Rasia FZE as in coht©CRA. On July 1, 2013, GGC received written fionation from a director of Consolidated
Minerals Pte. Ltd. confirming that Consolidated kfials Pte. Ltd. had funded the Convertible NoteS®CRL, is the beneficial owner of those
Notes, and reserves all legal rights to these Quible Notes, not CRA. The owner, Mr. Premraj, &nel representative of CRA, Jeffrey Marv

signed the November 22, 2013 Merger Agreement Siimature Gold Limited which provided that repayiaithe Convertible Notes and other
GGCRL debt “will be audited and agreed then assubyeSignature Gold as part of this merger transacfrhe assumption by Signature Gold of the
audited Debt and Liabilities of the GGCRL Grougépped at US $8 million and will only occur follawg satisfactory audit and acceptance by
Signature Gold. Following the assumption of any Detd Liabilities of GGCRL Group by Signature Gadéch lender, vendor, creditor, and
employee will have the option of converting thespective Debt and Liabilities into common shaneSignature Gold at the Issue Price. A
repayment schedule of all debt remaining followamy conversion elections will be determined oneeatdit is complete and a reasonable period,
not to exceed 30 days, has been allowed for tlwieheof conversions”. Thus, while including cent@mounts claimed to have been advanced in its
financial statements to be conservative, the Compas taken the position that the claims to reparobthe Notes are without merit.

In the Signature Gold Merger Agreement, signed loyRdemraj and by CRA (through Jeffrey Marvin), CRresented and warranted that issues
raised by Mr. Borkowski did not exist.
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On January 6, 2014, the Company received notice fls. Borkowski that the amount due to CRA in actzorce with the Notes was $2,197,453 |
interest at 15% neither of which the Company beléel¢ valid and is only carrying the $1,500,000lates plus the $394,244 of Advances payable .
The January 6, 2014 notice from Mr. Borkowski acklemiges that amounts above $1,500,000 are “unicetéfl.” No Company approval or
adequate substantiation for crediting the diffeecot$1,894,244 and $2,197,453 as amount due tindé&onvertible Notes or as Advances has been
provided. The Company and GGC have also raised figssues with CR which have not been resolvaghiiésolved, the fraud issues would vitiate
CR’s rights and create liabilities. A draft audiport was prepared, but both CRA and its direlto Premraj each failed to attend two shareholder
and board meetings to consider the draft repor. Aébruary 27, 2014 shareholder and board meatiagsadjourned in accordance with the Arti
and when the shareholder meeting reconvened onhiar2014 the Company voted its majority sharesampthe draft audit report. On March 10,
2014, Mr. Borkowski purportedly on behalf of CRAe&ved an “Order of Justice” and injunction frone fRoyal Court of Jersey against GGCRL, the
Executive Chairman of GGCRL and the Company enjajiiti from certain activities. The order was apglfier and received on an ex parte basis
without giving any of the defendants notice or appoity to be heard and based on incomplete anditrient representations. Neither Mr. Premraj
who was consistently represented as the owner & @RvVir. Marvin who signed every agreement on bebBCRA have submitted a sworn
statement in support of CRA or Mr. Borkowski sorthare additional concerns about fraud and missepitation as well as counterparty risk.
GGCRL matters are subject to a broad arbitratiorergent, and the Company has triggered the dispstéution provisions of the 2011 JVA. The
Jersey legal action is considered to be a nuisaratdyased in law or fact, and designed only toaextextra legal advantages against the Company.
Although the court could only provide a one houauiregy on April 2, 2014, the aspects of the ex pejtenction affecting operations have been lifted.
The Company is still considering its legal optievith respect to CRA as well as the individuals vitawe misled the Company and frustrated the
GGCRL joint venture as well as the November 2018g@meagreement with Signature. The Company isalgre that Mr. Borkowski has attempted
to buy the Mego Gold ABB loan from the ABB bankshmaaterially interfered in the Company’s contrataral business affairs and is cooperating
with Mr. Mavridis and Caldera Resources in issudefamatory material on the internet and elsewhgainat the Company and its principals. The
Company also learned that Mr. Borkowski purportesflCRA met with Armenian tax officials in attemiptgain leverage for his claims against the
Company, with no tax consequence to the CompaeySebsequent Events.

MINING RISKS

The Company's proposed mining operations will Hgesu to a variety of potential engineering, setsand other risks, some of which cannot be
predicted and which may not be covered by insurance

There are risks inherent in the exploration fod davelopment of, mineral deposits. The businessining by its nature involves significant risks
and hazards, including environmental hazards, indilisncidents, labor disputes, discharge of tatiemicals, fire, cave ins, drought, flooding and
other acts of God.

Theoccurrence of any of these can delay or interryplogation and production, increase exploration pratiuction costs and result in liability to 1
owner or operator of the mine. The Company may imecsubject to liability for pollution or other hada against which it has not insured or cannot
insure, including those in respect of past miniativéties for which it was not responsible.

LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Mining operations and exploration activities arbjeat to extensive laws and regulations. Theséaétaproduction, development, exploration,
exports, imports, taxes and royalties, labor stedgjaccupational health, waste disposal, protecitd remediation of the environment, mine
decommissioning and reclamation, mine safety, textastances, transportation safety and emergespgmee and other matters.

Compliance with these laws and regulations increétse costs of exploring, drilling, developing, stracting, operating and closing mines and other
facilities. It is possible that the costs, delagd ather effects associated with these laws angdaggns may impact the Company’s decision as to
whether to continue to operate in a particulaisigtion or whether to proceed with exploratiordervelopment of properties. Since legal
requirements change frequently, are subject topgrégation and may be enforced to varying degnmegsactice, the Company is unable to predict the
ultimate cost of compliance with these requirementtheir effect on operations. Furthermore, chariggovernments, regulations and policies and
practices could have an adverse impact on the Coygbuture cash flows, earnings, results of operst and financial condition, which may have a
material adverse impact on the Company and iteshiéce.
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MINING CONCESSIONS, PERMITS AND LICENSES

The Company's mining and processing activitiedapendent upon the grant of appropriate licensgsessions, leases, permits and regulatory
consents which may be withdrawn or made subjelatitations. Although the Company believes thatlfbenses, concessions, leases, permits and
consents it holds will be renewed, if required, witgey expire, according to the current laws apylie in the respective countries, subject to the
licensing issues disclosed below in "Foreign RiIsltgre can be no assurance that they will be redew as to the terms of any such renewal.
Mineral rights within the countries in which the i@pany is currently operating are state-owned. Ak discussion under Foreign Risks and Item 3.
“Legal Proceedings,” below.

EXPLORATION RISKS

Minerals exploration is speculative in nature, ilwes many risks and frequently is unsuccessfulr@lean be no assurance that any mineralization
discovered will result in an increase in the proged probable reserves of the Company. If resemedeveloped, it can take a number of years from
the initial phases of drilling and identificatiofimineralization until production is possible, dwgiwhich time the economic feasibility of productio
may change. Substantial expenditures are requiredtablish ore reserves through drilling, to detee metallurgical processes to extract metals
from ore and, in the cases of new properties, tstract mining and processing facilities. As a hesfithese uncertainties, no assurance can bagive
that the exploration programs undertaken by the @y will result in any new commercial mining ogéras being brought into operation.

CORRUPTION RISKS

The Company is subject to the URreign Corrupt Practices Act and other similar acts (collectively, the “Anti-Goption Legislation™), which
prohibit the Company or any officer, director, eoygle or agent of the Company or any stockholdénefCompany acting on its behalf from paying,
offering to pay, or authorizing the payment of dairygy of value to any foreign government officiabvgrnment staff member, political party, or
political candidate in an attempt to obtain or iretausiness or to otherwise influence a person imgrka an official capacity. The Company strictly
prohibits these practices by its employees andtageéiny failure by the Company to adopt appropri@mpliance procedures and ensure that its
employees and agents comply with the Anti-Corruptiegislation and applicable laws and regulation®ieign jurisdictions could result in
substantial penalties or restrictions on its apttit conduct its business, which may have a matdzerse impact on the Company and its share.|

MINE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The estimates contained herein regarding the dpredat and operation of our mining projects aravestiés only and are based on many assumption:
and analyses made by the Company’s managemeghiroli their experience and perception of histdriends, current conditions and expected
future developments, as well as other factors mamagt believes are appropriate in the circumstaridesse estimates and the assumptions upon
which they are based are subject to a varietystbrand uncertainties and other factors that ccaulde actual expenditures to differ materially from
those estimated. If these estimates prove incorieetotal capital expenditures required to cotepliee mine development may increase, which may
have a material adverse impact on the Companytamsthare price.

PREVIOUS MINING OPERATIONS

There is a risk that if a prior operator createcgtavironmental or other liability at a property which the Company is working, it may be difficult o
impossible to assess the extent to which damageaesed by the Company’s activities or the actésitf other operators.
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FOREIGN RISKS

The value of the Company's assets may be adveffelted by political, exchange rate, economic ather factors in Chile and Armenia. Armenii
a former Soviet country in transition, and preseotscomitant risks. In particular, in the past, @@mpany has experienced delays in the bureau
process and has experienced dealings with corftipiats at the Ministry of Environment and NatuRésources in Armenia. The Company pract
a zero tolerance program on corruption.

Hankavan Related

In 2006, GGH, which was the license holder forifamkavan and Marjan properties, was the subjectwfipt and improper demands and threats
from the now former Minister of the Ministry of Em@nment and Natural Resources of Armenia, Vardgwag&ian. The Company reported this
situation to the appropriate authorities in Armegia in the United States. Although the Ministerktthe position that the licenses at Hankavan and
Marjan were terminated, other Armenian governmeoftéials assured the Company to the contrary Aamdenian public records confirmed the
continuing validity of the licenses. The Compangeiged independent legal opinions that all ofiterses were valid and remained in full force and
effect, continued to work at those properties, amglaged international and local counsel to pursogegution of the illegal and corrupt practices
directed against the subsidiary, including inteiora! arbitration. On November 7, 2006, the Compiaitiated the thirty-day good faith negotiating
period (which is a prerequisite to filing for intational arbitration under the 2003 SHA, LLC ShRwechase Agreement) with the three named
shareholders and one previously undisclosed pahdipr. Ayvazian. The Company filed for arbitrationder the rules under the International
Chamber of Commerce, headquartered in Paris, FI&AI®@E"), on December 29, 2006. On September RB82the Federal District Court for the
Southern District of New York ruled that Mr. Ayvan was required to appear as a respondent in Balthitration. On September 5, 2008, the ICC
International Court of Arbitration ruled that Mry#&azian shall be a party in accordance with thesitee rendered on September 25, 2008 by the
Federal District Court for the Southern DistrictNéw York. Subsequently, in December 2011 the TCiBunal decided to proceed only with the
three named shareholders; in March 2012, GGM fledction in Federal District Court pursuant td thaurt’s decisions for damages against
Ayvazian and/or to conform the ICC Tribunal to firecedents, and on July 11, 2012 the Federal @oteted judgment in favor of the Company,
which was not appealed and became final. Basdbeoavidence of the damages suffered as a resfilivafzyan’s actions, the final $37,537,978.02
federal court judgment in favor of GGM is compriggds27,152,244.50 in compensatory damages pluS88%(¥34.52 of interest at 9% from

2008. The Company has notified the ICC that thedpey arbitration against the other three sharefreldhould be terminated as moot, considering
the final judgment against Ayvazian. The ICC hasplied with the Company’s request and terminaled proceeding. On September 6, 2012, the
United States Marshal Service for the Southernridtstf New York filed for service a Writ of Exedah to be enforced against Mr. Vardan
Ayvazyan in favor of GGM. The Writ of Execution svsssued by the United States District Court fer $outhern District of New York following
the order and judgment of Judge J. Paul Oetkerimaaldentry of that judgment (No. 12,1260). Tleemis of the Writ of Execution and the Thirty
Seven Million Five Hundred Thirty Seven ThousarnideNHundred Seventy Eight dollars and Two cent§ &37,978.02) amount of the judgment in
favor of GGM are more particularly described in Exh10.56 below. On November 21, 2013, the Compaagived from its attorneys the “without
prejudice” ruling of the Judge J. Paul Oetken oftéth States District Court for the Southern DigtdENew York which vacated the $37.5 million
default judgment which the Company had obtainednatjformer Armenian Minister of Environment VartAgvazian solely on jurisdictional
grounds. The ruling is expressly “without prejwdito Global Gold’s right to re-file or continue pursue the case. The court did not rule on the
corruption charges or damage amount caused by Agivazactions, basing its findings on Ayvazian'sigel insufficient contacts with New York.
One of the shareholders of the Armenian party ¢cattreement under which the Company brought saihagAyvazian identified him as the
undisclosed principal who controlled the transactod divided the funds paid by Global Gold. Thes&ober 21, 2013 court ruling also did not
address those facts. This ruling has no effecherCompany’s financial statements as this judgmestnever recorded on the Company’s books.
The case is currently on appeal at the United S@tairt of Appeals for the Second Circuit in Newrk.o
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In addition, and based on the US Armenia Bilatera¢stment Treaty, GGM filed a request for arbitnatagainst the Republic of Armenia for the
actions of the former Minister of Environment andtdtal Resources with the International CentreSkettlement of Investment Disputes, which is a
component agency of the World Bank in Washingta§;.[{"ICSID"), on January 29, 2007. On August 3102, the Government of Armenia and
GGM jointly issued the following statement, "[thgg]ntly announce that they have suspended theDGhbitration pending conclusion of a detailed
settlement agreement. The parties have reachedfideotial agreement in principle, and anticipdtatithe final settlement agreement will be reac
within 10 days of this announcement."” The Compaaylkarned from public records that GeoProMinirgy Lthrough an affiliate, has become the
sole shareholder of an Armenian Company, Golden €, which was granted a license for HankavarolBeMining Ltd. is subject to the 20%
obligations as successor to Sterlite Resources, Atdof February 25, 2008, GGM entered into a @womhl, confidential settlement agreement with
the Government of the Republic of Armenia to ditare the ICSID arbitration proceedings, which weiscontinued as of May 2, 2008. This
agreement did not affect the ICC arbitration agéition involving similar subject matter.

On January 12, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cassatimfirmed prior trial and appellate court rulimggecting a proposed tax assessment again
Company’s Megdsold subsidiary by the Armenian State Revenue Ageelated to an incorrect claim concerning goldduation at Toukhmanuk
well as incorrect applications of relevant law.bSequently, the State Revenue agency has continvestigations and intimated that it is
investigating and may make further claims agaimst@ompany based on the same matters previouslgiedjed in the Company'’s favor as well as
based on claims initiated and related to Caldeso®ees and its agents during and after legal pdings in which the Company prevailed against
Caldera. Independent legal counsel has been edgagthese matters, and the Company considers Lz no liabilities in connection with
allegations noted to date. The Company has aléaednian authorities to the evidence of corrupiioconnection with the purported investigation
and the role of Caldera and its agenfss a part of operating in the country, the Compaagularly has to deal with tax claims by authositisone of
which rise to the level of materiality. The Compaaiyo learned that Mr. Borkowski purportedly of CR¥&t with Armenian tax officials in attempt
gain leverage for his claims against the Compaiityy mo tax consequence to the Company.

NO DIVIDENDS

The Company currently anticipates that it will fetall of its future earnings, if any, for use ta dbperations and does not anticipate paying asly ca
dividends in the near term future. There can bassurance that the Company will pay cash dividenhdsy time, or that the failure to pay dividends
for periods of time will not adversely affect therket price for the Company's Common Stock.

CONTROL OF THE COMPANY

Drury J. Gallagher, the Chairman Emeritus, Treas@ecretary, and Director, and Van Z. Krikoriama®man, Chief Executive Officer, and

Director, own 3,555,786 (4.07%), and 5,575,0009%8shares, respectively, or a total of 9,130, 78646%) shares, out of the 87,272,975 shares of
the Company's Common Stock issued and outstandinf Becember 31, 2013. The two Company offiodirector Nicholas J. Aynilian, who

directly and through family members, owns 3,003,8%784%) and NJA Investments, which is controllgd\icholas J. Aynilian, owns 1,400,000
(1.60%) shares of Common Stock, entered into aebloéders agreement, dated January 1, 2004, theidpeofor each of the parties to the Agreement
to vote for such individuals as directors.

lan Hague, a Company director and Firebird Mangen&rC manager, owns a total of 33,931,748 (38.88#@res through Tusheti Holding, LLC,
and Firebird Management, LLC owns a total of 12,908 (14.80%) shares, out of the 87,272,975 shafélse Company's Common Stock issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2013.

If these stockholders act in concert, they couldticd matters requiring approval by our stockhosdéncluding the election of directors and could
have the ability to prevent or cause a corporaestction, even if other stockholders, oppose aatthn. The concentration of voting power could
also have the effect of delaying or preventing angfe in control which could cause our stock pricdecline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not Applicable
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company rented office space in a commerciddlimg at 45 East Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, CT whesigned a 5-year lease starting on
March 1, 2006 at a starting annual rental cost4df 200. On October 1, 2006, the Company expandeiffite space by assuming the lease of the
adjacent office space. The assumed lease hachlEs®he year remaining, through September 30, 20G8) annual rental cost of $19,500. The
assumed lease was extended for an additional lygargh September 30, 2009 at an annual rentab€&2,860 for that period. The assumed lease
was further extended through October 15, 2009 a&twboint the Company vacated the additional spadessrs. Gallagher and Krikorian gave
personal guarantees of the Company's performamabéddirst two years of the lease. The leaseitetad on March 31, 2011 and the Company
entered a new 5-year lease starting on April 1128t1a starting annual rental cost of $63,045. g lease is for office space in a commercial
building at 555 Theodore Fremd Avenue, Rye, NY 1058

For a description of the mining properties in which Company has an interest, see Item 1 "Desunijti Business."
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Amarant and Alluvia Related

On August 6, 2013, the American Arbitration Asstioiaissued a Partial Final Award in favor of then@pany for $2,512,312 as a liquidated
principal debt plus 12% interest and excluding adgitional damages, attorney fees, or costs whiltlbevdiscussed at a later time. Additionally, the
American Arbitration Association enjoined Amarantialluvia from assigning or alienating any assetperforming or entering transactions which
would have the effect of alienating its respectigsets pending payment of $2,512,312 to Global .@atftarant and Alluvia have not complied with
the arbitral award to pay, produce records, oraggtly, enter transactions pending payment intéutlobal Gold. Subsequent to the arbitral award,
Amarant and Alluvia announced on the Amarant weligsi2013 that “[t]he companies have reached aeesgent with a UAE based consortium to
sell material parts of their assets. The deal wgrees on the 30th September in London and consigtgee parts. The first stage consists of thessal
of the shares in Mineral Invest and Alluvia that pfedged as security for various bridge finanaolyitions and short term financing. In a second
stage the consortium will provide the operatiomahpanies MIl and Alluvia with necessary fundingstart the operations and settle off short term
debts and obligations in Alluvia and Mineral Investluding, but not limited to, legal fees to th@\&R law firm, license fees, funds owed to Global
Gold related to the purchase of the Valdevia, Ghitgperty and remaining payments against NSR comemits in connection with the Huakan deal.
The first two stages are expected to be completatidbend of 2013.” Global Gold was contacted by Mander and separately by the former
Chairman of Alluvia, Mr. Thomas Dalton, as the esgantative of the consortium, Gulf Resource Capitdtrenced in the Amarant/Alluvia
announcement to settle the arbitration award asgitethe expectation of payments, no payments wmede by December 31, 2013 and the parties
have not reached a definitive agreement. Therédearo assurance that Gulf Resource Capital willgrapehalf of Amarant and Alluvia, Global
Gold will continue to seek enforcement of the adbiaward to the full extent as well as pursuelsms of additional damages in the ongoing
arbitration, see Subsequent Events.

Hankavan Related

In 2006, GGH, which was the license holder forifamkavan and Marjan properties, was the subjectwfipt and improper demands and threats
from the now former Minister of the Ministry of Emenment and Natural Resources of Armenia, Vardgwa&ian. The Company reported this
situation to the appropriate authorities in Armegia in the United States. Although the Ministerktthe position that the licenses at Hankavan and
Marjan were terminated, other Armenian governmeoftéials assured the Company to the contrary Aamdenian public records confirmed the
continuing validity of the licenses. The Compangeiged independent legal opinions that all ofiterises were valid and remained in full force and
effect, continued to work at those properties, anglaged international and local counsel to pursagegution of the illegal and corrupt practices
directed against the subsidiary, including inteorel arbitration. On November 7, 2006, the Compiaitiated the thirty-day good faith negotiating
period (which is a prerequisite to filing for int@tional arbitration under the 2003 SHA, LLC Shatechase Agreement) with the three named
shareholders and one previously undisclosed pahdir. Ayvazian. The Company filed for arbitrationder the rules under the International
Chamber of Commerce, headquartered in Paris, F&I®E"), on December 29, 2006. On September PB82the Federal District Court for the
Southern District of New York ruled that Mr. Ayvan was required to appear as a respondent in tbalikitration. On September 5, 2008, the ICC
International Court of Arbitration ruled that Mry#&azian shall be a party in accordance with thesitee rendered on September 25, 2008 by the
Federal District Court for the Southern DistrictNéw York. Subsequently, in December 2011 the T@iBunal decided to proceed only with the
three named shareholders; in March 2012, GGM filedction in Federal District Court pursuant td thaurt’s decisions for damages against
Ayvazian and/or to conform the ICC Tribunal to girecedents, and on July 11, 2012 the Federal @oteted judgment in favor of the Company,
which was not appealed and became final. Basdbeoavidence of the damages suffered as a resfilivafzyan’s actions, the final $37,537,978.02
federal court judgment in favor of GGM is compriggds27,152,244.50 in compensatory damages pluS88%(¥34.52 of interest at 9% from

2008. The Company has notified the ICC that thedpey arbitration against the other three sharefreldhould be terminated as moot, considering
the final judgment against Ayvazian. The ICC hasplied with the Company’s request and terminaled proceeding. On September 6, 2012, the
United States Marshal Service for the Southernridtstf New York filed for service a Writ of Exedah to be enforced against Mr. Vardan
Ayvazyan in favor of GGM. The Writ of Execution svsssued by the United States District Court fer $outhern District of New York following

the order and judgment of Judge J. Paul Oetkeriiaaldentry of that judgment (No. 12,1260). Tleemis of the Writ of Execution and the Thirty
Seven Million Five Hundred Thirty Seven ThousarideNHundred Seventy Eight dollars and Two cent§ (837,978.02) amount of the judgment in
favor of GGM are more particularly described in Exh10.56 below. On November 21, 2013, the Comp@agived from its attorneys the “without



prejudice” ruling of the Judge J. Paul Oetken oftéth States District Court for the Southern DigtaENew York which vacated the $37.5 million
default judgment which the Company had obtainednatiformer Armenian Minister of Environment VartAgvazian solely on jurisdictional
grounds. The ruling is expressly “without prejwefito Global Gold’s right to re-file or continue parsue the case. The court did not rule on the
corruption charges or damage amount caused by Agwvazactions, basing its findings on Ayvazian'sigel insufficient contacts with New York.
One of the shareholders of the Armenian party ¢cattreement under which the Company brought saihagAyvazian identified him as the
undisclosed principal who controlled the transactod divided the funds paid by Global Gold. Thes&ober 21, 2013 court ruling also did not
address those facts. This ruling has no effecherCompany’s financial statements as this judgmestnever recorded on the Company’s books.
The case is currently on appeal at the United S@tairt of Appeals for the Second Circuit in Newrk.o
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In addition, and based on the US Armenia Bilatera¢stment Treaty, GGM filed a request for arbitnatagainst the Republic of Armenia for the
actions of the former Minister of Environment andtdtal Resources with the International CentreSkettlement of Investment Disputes, which is a
component agency of the World Bank in Washingta§;.[{"ICSID"), on January 29, 2007. On August 3102, the Government of Armenia and
GGM jointly issued the following statement, "[thgg]ntly announce that they have suspended theDGhbitration pending conclusion of a detailed
settlement agreement. The parties have reachedfideotial agreement in principle, and anticipdtatithe final settlement agreement will be reac
within 10 days of this announcement."” The Compaaylkarned from public records that GeoProMinirgy Lthrough an affiliate, has become the
sole shareholder of an Armenian Company, Golden €, which was granted a license for HankavarolBeMining Ltd. is subject to the 20%
obligations as successor to Sterlite Resources, Atdof February 25, 2008, GGM entered into a @womhl, confidential settlement agreement with
the Government of the Republic of Armenia to ditare the ICSID arbitration proceedings, which weiscontinued as of May 2, 2008. This
agreement did not affect the ICC arbitration agéition involving similar subject matter.

Marjan Related

Based on a false representation by Caldera, on1Jur&010, Global Gold Corporation and its subsidi&GM, LLC (collectively “Global”) and
Caldera Resources, Inc. (“Caldera”) announced TSagptroval of their March 24, 2010 joint ventureesgnent to explore and bring the Marjan
property into commercial production. As previousdported, the property is held with a twenty-fixgar “special mining license,” effective April 22,
2008, and expiring April 22, 2033, which expandeel prior license term and substantially increabeditense area. The license required payments
of annual governmental fees and the performaneedf at the property as submitted and approvetiemtining plan, which includes mining of
50,000 tonnes of mineralized rock per year, as astxploration work to have additional reservgg@ged under Armenian Law in order to main
the licenses in good standing. Caldera advisetdblas well as governmental authorities that it Mawt be complying with the work requirements
which prompted 90 day termination notices fromgbgernment and the October 7, 2010 joint ventumaiteation notice from Global, which Global
had agreed to keep the termination notice confideantil October 15, 2010.

The joint venture agreement provided that Caldeyalevbe solely responsible for license complianog @onducting the approved mining plan, and
that “[ijn the event that Caldera does not, ortleeowise unable to, pursue this project and paglabal Gold the amounts provided for hereunder,
Caldera’s rights to the Property and the shar@dasfan-Caldera Mining LLC shall be forfeited angblaced by a Net Smelter Royalty (the “NSR”).”
Caldera did not meet the threshold to earn any NigRr the agreement, and its notice of licenseauonpliance as well as its failure to pay resulted
in an automatic termination of its rights by opematof the agreement. The agreement providedGh#tera would deliver 500,000 of its shares to
Global, “subject to final approvals of this agreernigy the TSX Venture Exchange.” Caldera advised tthe TSX Venture Exchange approval was
issued in June 2010 and Caldera failed to dellveishares. Subject to a 30 day extension if ildcoat raise the funds in capital markets, Caldera
agreed to make a $300,000 payment to the Compa®eptember 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010; $250;000arch 30, 2011, September 30,
2011, September 30, 2011, December 30, 2011, Ma0cRA012, September 30, 2012, and September 3@; 26d $500,000 on December 31,

2012. Caldera raised sufficient funds, but didmeke these payments.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSKtwe Exchange and the Board of Directors of thepeetive companies. Caldera fur
informed the Company that it received TSX Venturetange approval on the transaction, which subsglyuproved to be untrue. On Octobe
2010, the Company terminated the Marjan JV for &ad non-payment and non-performance as well éde@ses illegal registrations in Armer
and other actions. In October 2010, Caldera fitecarbitration in New York City. In September )%t Caldera invitation, the Company filed
reverse the illegal registration in Armenia. Tli@gation and the New York arbitration were subsently resolved in favor of the Company, resta
the Company’s 100% ownership of Marjan.

In a final, non-appealable decision issued ancciffe February 8, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cagsaffirmed the July 29, 2011 Armenian trial
court and December 12, 2012 Court of Appeals dawssivhich ruled that Caldera's registration andragsgion of control through unilateral charter
changes of the Marjan Mine and Marjan Mining Comparn.C were illegal and that ownership rests fullith GGM. The official versions of the
Armenian Court decisions are available through:Hitww.datalex.ani , with English translations available on the Comypamwebsite.
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On March 29, 2012, in the independent New York @ityitration case Global Gold received a favorablimg in its arbitration proceeding in New
York with Caldera which is available on the Companwyebsite, see Exhibit 10.48. The arbitrator idsaartial Final Award which orders the

Marjan Property in Armenia to revert to GGM baseadlte two failures to meet conditions precedethéoMarch 24, 2010 agreement. First, Caldera
failed and refused to deliver the 500,000 sharé3lodal. Second, Caldera did not submit the finadtjventure agreement to the TSX-V for approval
until the middle of the arbitration proceedingstéad relying on superseded versions in its regylaubmissions and submitting “Form 5Cs” to the
TSX-V which were false representations of Caldeadikgations to Global.

The Partial Award states “By misrepresenting itgment obligations to the TSX-V, Caldera paintedlad financial picture to the TSX-V and the
investing public.” In addition, the arbitrator fodi that had he not come to the conclusions ab&@a&dera and its officers effectively breached e
Agreement and the terms of the Limited Liabilityr&gment” in multiple ways, including Caldera’s fa@ to make quarterly payments to Global.

The Partial Award orders reversion of the Marjaoparty to Global, return of amounts paid to GldbalCaldera returned as the JV Agreement did
not go into effect, an Net Smelter Royalty to Caddef 0.5% for each tranche of $1 million actualpent on the property, and further proceedings on
Global’s claims for damages with additional heasiegrrently set to begin July 11, 2012. As presipueported, Global's records establish that
Caldera did not spend $1 million on the Marjan erop Additionally, tax returns filed by CalderaArmenia report less than $400,000 spent on the
property. The parties' arbitration agreement fritrovides that the award “shall be final and appealable” and for the award of attorney fees,
arbitrator’s fees, and other costs. In accordavittethe Arbitrator's order and the JV agreememwp@l Gold has filed to confirm the Partial Final
Award in Federal Court. Caldera is opposing thefiomation. The amounts paid to Global by Caldetal $150,000 and is included in the
Company’s accounts payable, although they are tigpand offset by damages and other amounts d@Galdera to the Company.

In an Opinion and Order signed on April 15, 2018 asleased on April 17, 2013, U.S. Federal Judgenkth M. Karas of the Southern Distric
New York confirmed the March 29, 2012 American Amdion Association arbitration award issued byreet Justice Herman Cahn which, am
other things, stated that “[tlhe property shoulderé to [Global Gold] within thirty (30) days fromme date [of the arbitration awardby April 29,
2012]. Obviously, [Global Gold] may cause the appiate governmental bodies in Armenia to regigierproperty in [Global Gold’s] nameAll as
further described in the exhibit 10.61 below.

The Company has reestablished control of MarjanimditCompany which is the license holder of the Manproperty. A new mining license, valid
until April 22, 2033, has been issued to the Comparhe Company's control has not been establiskiedcertain property, records, financial anc
information, or other assets maintained by Calderd as warehouse and drill core as Caldera Had taiturn over such property despite being
ordered to do so. The Company is proceeding wihspto mine in compliance with the mining licenaed implement additional exploration to the
best of its ability. The Company is also takingdkaction to protect its rights in an adjacentitiery indentified as “Marjan West” for which Calde
has publicly claimed to have a license but accarttinpublic, online government records, the company holding thenise is 100% owned by anot
person.

Caldera has also publicly claimed that it continteesave rights to the Marjan property based orptmties’ December 2009 agreement, but that
agreement to agree was merged into the March 2@/B@ment, called for completion of payments by €aldy the end of 2012, and included other
terms which Caldera cannot meet. Caldera’s attéonpatise this issue in the arbitral proceedindiefang the March 29, 2012 decision in Global
Gold’s favor has not succeeded. Caldera andficeo$ and agents have also continued a defamatonpaign of harassment and filing of false
claims over the internet and elsewhere againgCtrapany and its officials which may be pursuedmythe damages phase of the arbitration.
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Armenian Tax Authority Related

On January 12, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cassatimfirmed prior trial and appellate court rulimggecting a proposed tax assessment again
Company’s Megdsold subsidiary by the Armenian State Revenue Ageslated to an incorrect claim concerning golddution at Toukhmanuk
well as incorrect applications of relevant law.bSequently, the State Revenue agency has continvestigations and intimated that it is
investigating and may make further claims agaimst@ompany based on the same matters previouslgiedfed in the Company’s favor as well as
based on claims initiated and related to Caldeso®ees and its agents during and after legal pdings in which the Company prevailed against
Caldera. Independent legal counsel has been edgagthese matters, and the Company considers tzst no liabilities in connection with
allegations noted to date. The Company has aléaednian authorities to the evidence of corrupiioconnection with the purported investigation
and the role of Caldera and its agenfss a part of operating in the country, the Compaagularly has to deal with tax claims by authositisone of
which rise to the level of materiality. The Compaaiyo learned that Mr. Borkowski purportedly of CR¥&t with Armenian tax officials in attempt
gain leverage for his claims against the Compaiityy mo tax consequence to the Company.

General

The Company is subject to various legal proceedimgiclaims that arise in the ordinary course aifss or which constitute nuisance claims. In
the opinion of management, the amount of any uténliability with respect to these actions will moaterially affect the Company’s consolidated
financial statements or results of operations. Thmpany has been brought to court by severalulisigd former employees and contractors for
unpaid salaries and invoices, respectively, as aseiome penalties for nonpayment which totalseqpately $153,000. The Company has
recorded a liability for the actual unpaid amoudhig to these individuals of approximately $63,00@BaDecember 31, 2013 and the Company has
deposited approximately $25,000 at the Armeniansiia@t service as security for the claims. The Canygs currently, and will continue to,
vigorously defending its position in courts agaithetse claims that are without merit. The Comparalso negotiating directly with these individuals
outside of the courts in attempt to settle basetheramounts of the actual amounts due as rectrglfte Company in exchange for prompt and full
payment.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(a) Shares of the Company's Common Stock tradaetQTC Markets Group” (OTCQB) under the symbol 'GB." The range of high and low bid
information for each quarterly period during 201212013 were as follows:

2012 2013
Quarter High* Low* High* Low*
1st $ 02z $ 0.1z $ 0.1t $ 0.0¢
2nd $ 02: $ 014 $ 0.1t $ 0.07
3rd $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1z $ 0.1t $ 0.0¢
4th $ 0.1¢ $ 01z $ 0.1€ $ 0.07

* These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices withretail mark-up, mark-down or commissions, aray mot reflect actual transactions. Source:
Yahoo Finance

As of April 14, 2014, the Company had 87,272,9%hésl and outstanding shares of its Common Stoak.Cldmpany's transfer agent is Amer
Registrar and Transfer Company, with offices at B4200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah 84111, havirtglephone number of (801) 363-9065.

(b) As of April 14, 2014, there were approximat&|802 holders of record of shares of the Compadgtamon Stock.
(c) We have not paid any cash dividends on our comstock and do not anticipate paying any cashddis in the foreseeable future. We currently
intend to retain future earnings, if any, to fuhd tlevelopment and growth of our business. Anyréutietermination to pay cash dividends will be at

the discretion of our Board of Directors and wi#l lependent upon our financial condition, operatasylts, capital requirements, applicable
contractual restrictions and other factors the BadiDirectors deems relevant.
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(d) The following table provides information abaltares of our Common Stock that may be issued tiprexercise of options and rights ur
existing equity compensation plans as of Decemhe2@13.

Remaining
available for
issuance under
Number of Weighted average equity
Securities to exercise compensation
be issued upon price of plans
exercise outstanding (excluding
of outstanding options, warrants securities
options, and reflected in
warrants and right rights column (a))
Plan Category (@) (#) (b) ($) (c)@®
Equity compensation plans approved by securityédrsldl) 2,954,16 $ 0.52 55,83:
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgters 0 0 0
Total: 2,954,16' 55,83:
(1) The Company's 2006 Stock Incentive Plan - @redl5, 2006, the Company's stockholders apprdwe@lobal Gold Corporation 2006 Stock

Incentive Plan (the "2006 Stock Incentive Plan"dlemwhich a maximum of 3,000,000 shares of ComntonkSmay be issued (subject to
adjustment for stock splits, dividends and the)likdne 2006 Stock Incentive Plan replaces the Corylp@ption Plan of 1995 which
terminated in June 2005. The Company's 2006 Stumntive Plan has a ten - year term and will expirdune 15, 2016. On June 15, 2006,
the Company granted options to buy 250,000 shdresnomon stock, at an exercise price of $1.70 pares to the then Chairman and CEO,
Drury Gallagher. On June 15, 2006, the Company@ianted options to buy 62,500 shares of commarkstd an exercise price of $1.70 per
share, to the Controller, Jan Dulman. On Janu&r®Q07, the Company granted options to each divhealirectors to buy 100,000 (500,000
total) shares of common stock, at an exercise jpfi¢®.86 per share. On June 15, 2007, the Coyngieamted options to buy 150,000 shares
of common stock, at an exercise price of $0.83pare, to the Chief Financial Officer, Jan Dulma@n April 8, 2008, the Company granted
options to each of the five directors to buy 100,(800,000 total) shares of common stock, at anceseeprice of $0.45 per share. On May
2009, the Company granted options to each of tleedirectors to buy 100,000 (500,000 total) shafesommon stock, at an exercise price of
$0.20 per share. On May 18, 2009, pursuant to MHa@her's employment agreement extension undecdriract and as confirmed by the
independent compensation committee and board eftdirs, Mr. Gallagher was granted stock optionsutechase 166,667 shares of common
stock of the Company at $0.20 per share vestingarember 18, 2009. On August 12, 2009, the Comaagted to Jan Dulman, the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer, stock optionspurchase 225,000 shares of common stock of tiep@oy at $0.14 per share (based on
the closing price at his renewal) vesting in equarterly installments over the term of his empleptnagreement. On June 19, 2010, the
Company granted options to each of the five dimscto buy 100,000 (500,000 total) shares of comstook, at an exercise price of $0.10 per
share. On June 19, 2010, pursuant to Mr. Gallaglemployment agreement extension under his cordgratts confirmed by the independent
compensation committee and board of directors,@&llagher was granted stock options to purchas@@0Ghares of common stock of the
Company at $0.10 per share vesting on Novembe2d®). On October 14, 2010, the Company grantedropto buy 40,000 shares of
common stock, at an exercise price of $0.25 peaesha a consultant, Paul Airasian, which veste®enember 31, 2010 and expired on
December 31, 2012
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLA N OF OPERATION

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations shoulddgalrin conjunction with our financial statements
and related notes included elsewhere in this AnReglort on Form 10-K.

When used in this report, the words "expect(sgelfs)”, "believe(s)", "will", "may", "anticipate(sand similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. Such statements arestto certain risks and uncertainties, which dazduse actual results to differ materially from
those projected. Readers are cautioned not to pladee reliance on these forward-looking statememid are urged to carefully review and consider
the various disclosures elsewhere in this AnnualdReon Form 10-K.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
COMPARISON OF TWELVE-MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND TWELVE-MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012

During the twelve-month period ended December 8132the Company's administrative and other exgenwsee $2,478,870 which represented a
decrease of $1,405,120 from $3,883,990 in the smeried last year. The expense decrease was prynaditiibutable to lower legal fees of $582,952,
lower compensation expense of $255,408, and lowdessional fees of $554,590 offset by higher stmmkpensation expense of $86,885 more than
the prior year's period.

During the twelve-month period ended December 8132the Company's mine exploration costs were Sr&which represented a decrease of
$684,527 from $867,905 in the same period last.y&he expense decrease was attributable to threae mining activity at the Toukhmanuk
property of $684,527.

During the twelvemonth period ended December 31, 2013, the Compampstization and depreciation expenses were $293yhich representec
decrease of $97,639 from $571,218 in the same st year. The expense decrease was primauilpgtible to the decreased depreciation exy
of $97,639.

During the twelve-month period ended December 8132the Company had interest expenses of $293yA&h represented an increase of $1,191
from $292,040 in the same period last year. Theese increase was attributable to an increasedrest expense on convertible note payable of
$76,932, mine owner’s debt facility of $10,879 avahes due to management of $7,816 offset by a aseiia interest expense on a secured line of
credit in Armenia of $94,625.

During the twelvemonth period ended December 31, 2013 and 201 Z;ahgpany did not have any revenue. The lack ofmeees attributable to r
sales of gold concentrate from the Toukhmanuk ptggEecause of operational funding delays, needingw tailings damn, and the status and
funding of the Consolidated Resources joint venture

The Company had interest income of $65 in 2013 whépresented a decrease of $318 from $383 frorsaime period last year. The decrease is
attributable to lower average cash balances itheenia bank accounts.

Deposits on contracts and equipment decreasedhg8®2at December 31, 2013 from $373,118 due toedh®letion of contracts and the receipt of
equipment purchased.

Current liabilities increased by $2,105,121 as e€&@mber 31, 2013 due to increases in accounts lgayg$310,106, wages payable of $404,219,
mine owners debt facility of $569,478, advancesapéy Consolidated Resources of $275,489, and ragtahie to director of $548,500 offset by a
decrease in employee loans of $2,671. Securedfioeedit — long term portion was $87,796 as of&mber 31, 2013 which decreased by $622,152
from $709,948 as of December 31, 2012 due to lepayments made of $617,436, and currency changes.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company continues to experience liquidity arajes.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company's total assats $2,420,675, of which $26,349 consisted ofi @ascash equivalents.
The Company's expected plan of operation for thendar year 2014 is:

(a) To implement the mining plan and to recommenperating expanded mining operations at Toukhmamakcordance with the mine operator’s
approved plan, and to continue to explore this @rigpto confirm and develop historical reportseiglore and develop the Getik property in
Armenia;

(b) To mine, develop, and explore at the Marjaspprty in Armenia;

(c) To implement the sale agreement, as amendéd Genventus/Amarant Mining/Alluvia/Ulander in Césil
(d) To review and acquire additional mineral begupnoperties in Chile, Armenia, and other counfriasd
(e) Pursue additional financing through privatecplaents, debt and/or joint ventures.

On July 5, 2013, the Company has concluded a fifiggar operating agreement with Linne Mining, LLCiine”) as the operator along with
$8,800,000 debt facilities agreement to fund fupneduction at Toukhmanuk. The Company is workinthwinne in accordance with the appro
plan and to construct the new tailings dam, andigségn and construction of a new upgraded plabetocompleted in 2014.

The Company may engage in research and developmlated to exploration and processing during 2@ is purchasing processing plant
equipment assets to expand production.

The Company has received a going concern opiniom fits independent public accounting firm. Thisame that our auditors believe that thel
doubt that we can continue as angming business for the next twelve months unlessaige additional capital to pay our bills. Trésbiecause tl
Company has not generated any substantial reveniltes.Company has been able to continue based itgpoeceipt of funds from the issuance
equity securities and by acquiring assets or pagipenses by issuing stock, debt, or sale of asBeésCompany's continued existence is depe
upon its continued ability to raise funds througle fssuance of securities. Management's plansisnréigard are to obtain other financing
profitable operation and positive cash flow arei@asbd and maintained.

Besides the funding from agreements with Linne, AanaMining Ltd. and the GGCRL Joint Venture thare no firm commitments from third
parties to provide additional financing, and ther@any needs additional funds in order to condugteanive mining development and production
operations in the foreseeable future. The Comjminydiscussion to acquire additional financingt there can be no assurance that any financing
for current operations, acquisitions or future potg will be available for such purposes or thahdinancing, if available, would be on terms
favorable or acceptable to the Company.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Stock Based Compensation - The Company periodicalyes shares of Common Stock for services redderor financing costs. Such shares are
valued based on the market price on the transadtitm The Company periodically issues stock aptend warrants to employees and non-
employees in non-capital raising transactions éovises and for financing costs.

The Company accounts for the grant of stock andamtawards in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Caoreptton — Stock Compensation (“ASC
718”). ASC 718 requires companies to recognizéénstatement of operations the grdate fair value of warrants and stock options aheroequit
based compensation.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was dey@iofor use in estimating the fair value of tradgtions that have no restrictions and are fully
transferable. In addition, option models require input of highly subjective assumptions includiihg expected stock price volatility.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201®s3e4nd loss per share include the actual deduftir stock-based compensation expense. The
total stock-based compensation expense for thes yemted December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $261,8081ad¢015, respectively. The expense for
stock-based compensation is a non-cash expense item

Comprehensive Income - The Company has adoptedTAie 220, "Comprehensive Income.”" Comprehensigerne is comprised of net income
(loss) and all changes to stockholders' equityi¢dfexcept those related to investments by dtotders, changes in paid-in capital and distributio

to owners.

The following table summarizes the computationemeding net loss to comprehensive loss for theyeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Year Ending December 31,

2013 2012
Net loss applicable to Global Gold Corporation Camnn$hareholdet $ (2,357,06) $ (2,945,39)
Foreign currency translation adjustment $ 162,15¢ $ 524,33
Comprehensive loss $ (2,194,90) $ (2,421,05)

Acquisition, Exploration and Development Costdlineral property acquisition costs are capitaliz&dditionally, mine development costs incut
either to develop new ore deposits and constructew facilities are capitalized until operationsrtnence. All such capitalized costs are amor
using a straight-line basis on a range frorhOlyears, based on the minimum original license ter acquisition, but do not exceed the usefuldf
the capitalized costs. Upon commercial developnoérégn ore body, the applicable capitalized costsild then be amortized using the units-of-
production method. Exploration costs, costs iredirto maintain current production or to maintairsess on a standby basis are charge
operations. Costs of abandoned projects are athdogeperations upon abandonment. The Companya&tes, at least quarterly, the carrying v

of capitalized mining costs and related propertgnpand equipment costs, if any, to determinteke costs are in excess of their net realizalile
and if a permanent impairment needs to be recordie. periodic evaluation of carrying value of ¢ajized costs and any related property, plan
equipment costs are based upon expected cash Hodier estimated salvage value in accordance wBIC Aropic 360, "Accounting for tl
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets."

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - Management re@and evaluates the net carrying value of allit&sl, including idle facilities, for impairment
at least annually, or upon the occurrence of aghrents or changes in circumstances that indicateltle related carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. We estimate the net realizable val@ach property based on the estimated undiscoduteck cash flows that will be generated from
operations at each property, the estimated salvalge of the surface plant and equipment and theevassociated with property interests. All assets
at an operating segment are evaluated togeth@ufposes of estimating future cash flows.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The Company does not hold any market risk sensitisieuments nor does it have any foreign currenahange agreements. The Company
maintains an inventory of unprocessed ore and gafttentrate which are carried on the balance stié152,463 and $11,342 as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively, with our Armenian &liasy Mego-Gold LLC. The Company carries and ealits unprocessed ore and gold
concentrate inventory at the lower of cost or marReriodically, and no less than on an annuakb#se Company compares the carrying value of its
inventory to current market prices to determinisitarrying value should be adjusted. The Compsuayrrently reporting its inventory at cost which
is still less than the current market value someflactuations in gold prices have no effect om carrying value of inventory. The Company does not
maintain any commodity hedges or futures arrangésneith respect to this unprocessed ore.

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consisigipally of cash. The Company places its cash
with high credit quality financial institutions the United States and Armenia. Bank depositsarlLthited States did not exceed federally insured
limits as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. As ofdbawer 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had approiy260 and $3,900, respectively, in
Armenian bank deposits, which may not be insuré Company has not experienced any losses in sgoliats through December 31, 2013 and as
of the date of this filing.

The majority of the Company's present activitiesiarArmenia and Chile. As with all types of intational business operations, currency
fluctuations, exchange controls, restrictions arifgn investment, changes to tax regimes, poliactibn and political instability could impair the
value of the Company's investments.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The audited consolidated financial statements @Qbmpany, notes thereto and report of Indepert@eriified Public Accountants thereon for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 ISMRBLP are attached hereto as a part of, and atrildeof, this report.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On January 8, 2013, the Company was informed hindspendent registered public accounting firm,rBi#&eCo., LLP, (“Sherb”), that it has
combined its practice with RBSM LLP (the “Mergegffective January 1, 2013. As a result, the Compheigrmined to enter into an engagement
letter with RBSM LLP which became the Company'spehdent registered public accounting firm. Theagegnent of RBSM LLP as the Compal
independent registered public accounting firm wagraved by the Audit Committee of the Board of Btags of the Company on February 7, 2013.

Sherb & Co., LLP issued an audit report on the colidiated financial statements of the Company adtfor the years ended December 31, 201:
2010, which did not contain an adverse opinion disalaimer of opinion, and was not qualified ordified as to audit scope or accounting
principles. The principal accountant’s reports bé® on the financial statements of the Companyhieryears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
contained an explanatory paragraph disclosing ticentiainty regarding the Company’s ability to coo# as a going concern. In connection with the
audit of the consolidated financial statementhief€ompany as at and for the years ended Decerib2081 and 2010 and through date of
dismissal, (i) there were no disagreements betweeCompany and Sherb & Co., LLP on any matteecobunting principles or practices, financial
statement disclosure, or auditing scope or pro@gjuvhich disagreements, if not resolved to thisfaation of Sherb & Co., LLP, would have cau
Sherb & Co., LLP to make reference to the subjeatten of the disagreement in its report on the Caimgfs financial statements for such year or
during the interim period through the date of fReport, and (ii) there were no reportable eventkimithe meaning set forth in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of
Regulation S-K.

During the two years ended December 31, 2011, tdmepany did not consult with RBSM LLP with respextny of (i) the application of accounting
principles to a specified transaction, either caetgd or proposed; (ii) the type of audit opinioattmight be rendered on the Company's financial
statements; or (iii) any matter that was eithersihigject of a disagreement (as defined in Item&Q#)(iv) of Regulation S-K) or an event of thedyp
described in Iltem 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

Prior to filing a Form 8-K reporting such chande Company provided Sherb with a copy of the foiggydisclosures in the Form 8-K and Sherb

furnished the Company with a letter addressedddcurities and Exchange Commission stating tlagiréed with the Company's statements in the
Form 8-K. A copy of the letter furnished by Sheraswiled as an exhibit to that Form 8-K.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresl¢éised in Rule 13a-15(e) and 1%8(e) promulgated under the Security Exchange AtB84, a:
amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that are designezhgure that information that would be requireddaltsclosed in Exchange Act reports is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported withitime periods specified in the Securities anchange Commission’s rules and forms, and
that such information is accumulated and commuedt&t our management, including the Chief Execu@iffecer and Chief Financial Officer (our
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Finand@fficer, respectively), as appropriate, to allomely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As of December 31, 2013, we carried out an evalnatinder the supervision and with the participattbour management, including the Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officef,the effectiveness of the design and operatiopuofdisclosure controls and procedures. Base
the foregoing, our Principal Executive Officer @dncipal Financial Officer concluded that our dtisure controls and procedures were effective as
of the end of the period covered by this Annual &ep

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controlover Financial Reporting

We are responsible for establishing and maintaiaifeguate internal control over financial reportidg defined in the securities laws, internal
control over financial reporting is a process desijby, or under the supervision of, our Princlpetcutive and Principal Financial Officers and
effected by our Board of Directors, management,@hdr personnel, to provide reasonable assur@geeding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements foemd! purposes in accordance with generally acdegteounting principles and includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to thentesiance of records that in reasonable detail atelyrand fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonabkurance that transactions are recorded as agcéspermit preparation of financial statements i
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that our receipts and expenditures @irggbmade only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors; afd(idvide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets ¢tbatd have a material effect on the financial stegets.

The Company's internal control over financial réjpgris designed to provide reasonable assuram@eding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for exter@aorting purposes in accordance with generalbepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reablenassurance with respect to financial statemesgigration and presentation. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effentise of the internal controls over financial rejpor{as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) promulgated
under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 20Xk#&dan the framework in Internal Control Integrateamework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
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Management, including the Principal Executive ariddipal Financial Officers, based on their evaloiof the Company's internal control over
financial reporting, have concluded that the Conyfsaimternal control over financial reporting wdgeetive as of December 31, 2013.

This annual report does not include an attestagport of the Company's registered public accogrfinm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Management's report was not subjeattastation by the Company's registered public @aibog firm pursuant to Section 404(c) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repeoting

There have been no changes in the Company's iht@mntol over financial reporting that occurredtiire fourth fiscal quarter that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaftf, the Company's internal control over finanoiglorting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item 10 is incaigted by reference from the Company's Proxy Staténedating to the 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders scheduled to be held on or around 20n2014.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11is incorted by reference from the Company's Proxy Statereéting to the 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders scheduled to be held on or around 20n2014.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information concerning required by this Itemidhcorporated by reference from the CompanysyBtatement relating to the 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders scheduled to be held caround June 20, 2014.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is incorgted by reference from the Company's Proxy Staténeéating to the 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders scheduled to be held on or around 20n2014.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is incaigted by reference from the Company's Proxy Staténedating to the 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders scheduled to be held on or around 20n2014.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements.

The following documents are filed as part of tldpart: Financial Statements of the Company, indgdhe report of Independent Certified Public

Accountants, Balance Sheet, Statements of Opesatiatements of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) &mnprehensive Income (Loss), Statements of

Cash Flow and Notes to Financial Statements: as@for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

(b) Exhibits.
Exhibit 3.1
Exhibit 3.2
Exhibit 10.3
Exhibit 10.4

Exhibit 10.8
Exhibit 10.10

Exhibit 10.11
Exhibit 10.14
Exhibit 10.15
Exhibit 10.16
Exhibit 10.17
Exhibit 10.18
Exhibit 10.19

Exhibit 10.20
Exhibit 10.21
Exhibit 10.22

Exhibit 10.23

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatioie Company, effective November 20, 2003.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, effe®ovember 20, 2003. (.

Agreement to Acquire Option on Cochrane Pond Pigmated April 12, 2007. (¢

First Amendment of the January 23, 2006 Share RsecAgreement (Athelea Investments), dated asay 30, 2007. (4
Nominating and Governance Charter dated June 1¥,.4B)

Commitment to Contribute Mining Concession to a Cactual Mining Company (Unofficial English Traatbn) dated as of Augt
19, 2007. (6

Contractual Mining Company Agreement (Unofficialglish Translation) dated as of October 29, 200y

Royalty Agreement on Cochrane Pond Property, Nemdtand dated as of October 17, 2008.

Private Placement Agreement, dated December 8,. Z9L

Material Contrac— Amendment of Global Gold Valdivia Joint Venture ey, Separation of Properties and Royalty Agreer¢ij
Employment Agreement, dated as of August 11, 269@nd between Global Gold Corporation and Van ¢tidn. (11)
Employment Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2B9@nd between GGM, LLC and Ashot Boghossian.

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2b9@&nd between Global Gold Corporation and Jan Rnolrfil3)
Employment Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2B9@nd between Global Gold Corporation and Lestesar. (14

Armenian State Natural Resources Agency DecisioBdNth the Recalculation of Reserves for Toukhmandklivered Friday,
November 13, 200- Partial Unofficial Translation . (1¢

Material Contrac— Marjan Joint Venture Agreement dated as of DecertiBe2009. (16
Material Contract — Mego Gold, LLC Gold Concentr&tgoply Contract with Industrial Minerals SA dagelof February 25, 2010.
17
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Exhibit 10.24

Exhibit 10.25

Exhibit 10.26

Exhibit 10.27

Exhibit 10.28

Exhibit 10.29

Exhibit 10.30

Exhibit 10.31

Exhibit 10.32

Exhibit 10.33

Exhibit 10.34

Exhibit 10.35

Exhibit 10.36

Exhibit 10.37

Exhibit 10.38

Exhibit 10.39

Exhibit 10.40

Exhibit 10.41

Exhibit 10.42

Material Contrac— Mego Gold, LLC Security Agreement with Industrialridrals SA dated as of February 25, 2010.
Material Contrac— Global Gold Corporation Guarantee to Industrial &ads SA dated as of February 25, 2010.
Material Contrac— Marjan Joint Venture Agreement dated as of Marci2®40. (20

Material Contract — (Unofficial English TranslatjoMego Gold, LLC non revolving credit line from Abusinessbank signed March
26, 2010. (21

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2B§@&nd between Global Gold Corporation and Drurllagher. (22
Material Agreemen- Debt cancellation and restructuring with conversights. (23)

Material Agreemen- October 27, 2010 signed agreement for the saleopfgania Minera Global Gold Valdivia S.C.M. compaa
Conventus Ltd. (24

Material Contract — Global Gold Corporation and Saidated Resources USA, LLC Joint Venture Agreerdated as of March 17,
2011 (25)

Material Contrac— Global Gold Corporation and Consolidated Resoudo@® Venture Agreement dated as of April 27, 2q26)

Material Contrac— December 2, 2011 signed agreement for the sal@wip@nia Minera Global Gold Valdivia S.C.M. compda
Conventus Ltd. and Amarant Mining Ltd. (2

Written Consent of Shareholders in Lieu of Meetihgsuant to Section 228(a) of the General Corpmrdtaws of the State
Delaware. (28

Material Agreement — Binding Term Sheet — Convégtidote between Global Gold Consolidated Resourgaged and
Consolidated Resources Armenia and affiliates, @l@wld Corporation guarantor. (2

Material Agreemen- Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februar2d®,. (30)

Material Agreemen- Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012.

Material Agreemen- Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datedureep 19, 2012. (32
Material Agreemen— MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated Feprl@ 2012. (33
Material Agreemen- Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CR3¥)

Material Agreemen- Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MininGRA). (35)

Material Agreemen- Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (by GAGGIRGGCR Mining to CRA). (3¢
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Exhibit 10.43

Exhibit 10.44

Exhibit 10.45

Exhibit 10.46

Exhibit 10.47

Exhibit 10.48

Exhibit 10.49
Exhibit 10.50

Exhibit 10.51

Exhibit 10.52

Exhibit 10.53

Exhibit 10.54

Exhibit 10.55

Exhibit 10.56

Exhibit 10.57

Exhibit 10.58

Exhibit 10.59

Exhibit 10.60

Exhibit 10.61

Exhibit 10.62

Material Agreemen- Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member of G&GMlining, LLC dated February 19, 2012. (¢
Material Agreemen- Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated FelbyuE9, 2012. (38

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regest&ompany No 109058 Written resolutions by athefdirectors of th
Company. (39

Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef&GCR Mining, LLC. (40
March 2, 2012 Order of the Arbitrator. (4

Partial Final Award issued by the arbitrator on 84/a29, 2012 in arbitration between Global Gold @oation and Caldera
Resources, Inc. (4.

Material Agreemen- Amended Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreewigm Amarant Mining Ltd. (43
Guarantee Letter from Contender Kapital AB, dateuilAL3, 2012. (44
Accountant’ Letter. (45)

Amended and Extended Employment Agreement, effediily 1, 2012, by and between Global Gold Corpamatnd Van Krikoriar
(46)

Amended and Extended Employment Agreement, effectily 1, 2012, by and between GGM, LLC and Astagtibssian. (47

Amended and Extended Employment Agreement, effedivgust 1, 2012, by and between Global Gold Catjjmm and Jan
Dulman. (48)

Restricted Stock bonus award effective July 1, 2012an Krikorian. (49

Restricted Stock bonus award effective July 1, 2012an Dulman. (5C

September 5, 2012 Writ of Execution. (¢

Material Contrac- Getik Mining Company, LLC- Share Transfer Agreement dated September 26, 282%

Material Contrac- Megc-Gold, LLC - Share Transfer Agreement dated September 26, 263y

Material Agreemen- November 28, 2012 Amended Joint Membership Intd?asthases Agreement with Amarant Mining Ltd. (

US Federal Court Decision on April 15, 2013 in FawbGlobal Gold Corporation against Caldera ResesiRegarding Marja
Property (55

Material Agreemen- Mine Operating Agreement with Linne Mining LLC ddtéuly 5, 2013 (56
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Exhibit 10.63

Exhibit 10.64

Exhibit 10.65

Exhibit 10.66

Exhibit 10.67

Exhibit 21

Exhibit 31.1

Exhibit 31.2

Exhibit 32.1

Exhibit
101.INS*

Exhibit
101.SCH*

Exhibit
101.CAL*

Exhibit
101.DEF*

Exhibit
101.LAB*

Exhibit
101.PRE*

Material Agreemen- $8.8 Million Debt Facility Agreement with Linne Ming LLC dated July 5, 2013 (5

Material Agreemen— Addendum No 1 to the Gold Concentrate Supply Conhtréth Industrial Minerals, SA (5¢

Material Agreemen- Option Deed with Jacero Holdings Limited dated Jl2013 (59

Material Agreemen- Contractors Agreement with Creo Design (Pty) Limiigsd Viking Investment Limited dated July 5, 2@@G)

Material Agreement — Heads of Agreement contractéoge Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limitedi Signature Gold
Limited (61)

List of Subsidiaries
Certification of Chief Executive Officer PursuantRule 13-14 (a) of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer PursuantRule 13-14 (a) of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and i€hFinancial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectl®&b0, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schern

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculatic

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitio

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

(1) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibittd.the Company's annual report on 10-KSB for thayended December 31, 2007 filed with the
SEC on March 31, 2008.

(2) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibittd.2he Company's annual report on 10-KSB for tharyended December 31, 2007 filed with the
SEC on March 31, 2008.

(3) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB1i@.the Company's current report on Form 8-K fikéth the SEC on April 13, 2007.

(4) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB1i@.the Company's current report on Form 8-K fikéth the SEC on May 31, 2007.

(5) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitt.the Company's current report on Form 8-K filkdth the SEC on June 20, 2007.
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(6) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi#1t®.the Company's current report on Form 8-K fileth the SEC on September 7, 2007.

(7) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibilid.the Company's current report on Form 8-K filéth the SEC on November 1, 2007.
(8) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB1id.the Company's current report on Form 8-K filéth the SEC on October 22, 2008.
(9) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl®o the Company’s annual report on Form 10-kdfikéth the SEC on April 15, 2009.
(10) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi610 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kdiveith the SEC on July 29, 2009.

(11) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibitlDQo the quarterly report on 10-Q for the secguarter ended June 30, 2009, filed with the SEC
on August 14, 2009.

(12) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl1to the quarterly report on IDfor the second quarter ended June 30, 2009, ilddthe SE(
on August 14, 2009.

(13) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl2Qo the quarterly report on 10-Q for the secguarter ended June 30, 2009, filed with the SEC
on August 14, 2009.

(14) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibitlBdo the quarterly report on 10-Q for the secguarter ended June 30, 2009, filed with the SEC
on August 14, 2009.

(15) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kdfileith the SEC on November 19, 2009.
(16) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kdiveith the SEC on December 22, 2009.

(17) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kditeith the SEC on March 2, 2010.

(18) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibigd10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kditeith the SEC on March 2, 2010.
(19) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi610 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kditeith the SEC on March 2, 2010.
(20) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi#1® the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kdileith the SEC on March 25, 2010.
(21) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kdileith the SEC on March 30, 2010.

(22) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl6do the quarterly report on 10-Q for the secguarter ended June 30, 2010, filed with the SEC
on August 23, 2010.

(23) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kdfiteith the SEC on October 22, 2010.
(24) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kditeith the SEC on November 1, 2010.

(25) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company’s current report on Form 8-Kdileith the SEC on March 21, 2011.

(26) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibig1® the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfilgth the SEC on May 2, 2011.

(27) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfikéth the SEC on December 7, 2011.
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(28) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfildth the SEC on February 9, 2012.

(29) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB85to the Company’s annual report on Form 10-Kitieryear ended December 31, 2011 filed with
the SEC on April 16, 2012.

(30) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfilgth the SEC on February 23, 2012.
(31) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibig1® the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfiléth the SEC on February 23, 2012.

(32) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi610 the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfiléth the SEC on February 23, 2012.

(33) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi610 the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfiléth the SEC on February 23, 2012.
(34) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi710 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfikéth the SEC on February 23, 2012.
(35) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfikdth the SEC on February 23, 2012.
(36) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi910d the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfikdth the SEC on February 23, 2012.
(37) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibitlDGo the Company's current report on Form 8-&dfilvith the SEC on February 23, 2012.

(38) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl1Go the Company's current report on Form 8-&dfilvith the SEC on February 23, 2012.

(39) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl2Go the Company's current report on Form 8-&dfilvith the SEC on February 23, 2012.

(40) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl3do the Company's current report on Form 8-&dfilvith the SEC on February 23, 2012.

(41) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfikéth the SEC on March 2, 2012.
(42) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfikéth the SEC on March 29, 2012.
(43) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl9® the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfikdth the SEC on April 13, 2012.
(44) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi29® the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfiléth the SEC on April 13, 2012.

(45) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB3® the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfiléth the SEC on April 13, 2012.

(46) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi61to the Company’s quarterly report on Form1€xthe second quarter ended June 30, 2012,
filed with the SEC on August 20, 2012.

(47) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi620o the Company’s quarterly report on Form1€Xtie second quarter ended June 30, 2012,
filed with the SEC on August 20, 2012.

(48) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi63do the Company’s quarterly report on Form1€Xtie second quarter ended June 30, 2012,
filed with the SEC on August 20, 2012.
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(49) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi6ato the Company’s quarterly report on Form1€xthie second quarter ended June 30, 2012,
filed with the SEC on August 20, 2012.

(50) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi6bto the Company’s quarterly report on Form1€Xthe second quarter ended June 30, 2012,
filed with the SEC on August 20, 2012.

(51) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfikdth the SEC on September 11, 2012.
(52) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl0 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfikdth the SEC on September 27, 2012.

(53) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi21@® the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfilgth the SEC on September 27, 2012.
(55) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl1@ the Company's current report on Form 8-Kdfilgth the SEC on April 22, 2013.
(56) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl1@ the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfiléth the SEC on July 10, 2013.
(57) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi210® the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfiléth the SEC on July 10, 2013.
(58) Incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiB10 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfiléth the SEC on July 10, 2013.
(59) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibigd1@ the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfiléth the SEC on July 10, 2013.
(60) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibi610 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfiléth the SEC on July 10, 2013.

(61) Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibitl0 the Company's current report on Form 8-kdfikéth the SEC on September 10, 2013.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(t)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly atgkd.

GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION
(Registrant,

By: /s/ Van Z. Krikorian

Van Z. Krikorian,
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
(Principal Executive Officer

April 15, 2014
Date

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datésdted.

/s/ Jan Dulman 4/15/14 /sl Van Z. Krikorian 4/15/14
Jan Dulman Van Z. Krikorian, Chairman, CHisd®ecutive
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial a Officer and Director (Principal Executive Office

Accounting Officer)

/s/ Drury J. Gallagher 4/15/14 /s/ Nicholas J. Aynilian 4/15/14
Drury J. Gallagher Nicholas J. Ayniliar
Chairman Emeritus, Director

Treasurer and Director

/sl lan C. Hague 4/15/14 /sl Harry Gilmore 4/15/14
lan C. Hague Harry Gilmore

Director Director

/sl Lester Caesar 4/15/14

Lester Caesar

Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Global Gold Corporation and Subsidiaries (An Exatam Stage Company)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineet of Global Gold Corporation and Subsidigien Exploration Stage Company) (the
“Company”)as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the relatesblidated statements of operations and comprelemsiome, stockholders' equ
(deficit) and cash flows for each of two yearsha period ended December 31, 2013. We did not ¢heliinancial statements for the period
beginning January 1, 1995 through December 31,.2ZDl&se consolidated financial statements aregbonsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements based on alitsau

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighauBigUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebteasonable assurance about whether the finastateinents are free of material misstatement. We
are not engaged to perform an audit of the Comgaingernal control over financial reporting. Oudés included consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designiadiaprocedures that are appropriate in the cir¢cantes, but not for the purposes of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s imaécontrol over financial reporting. Accordinglie express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgghe amounts and disclosures in the finarst@lements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managemdreé\aluating the overall financial statement pméstéon. We believe that our audits provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagaferred to above present fairly, in all materspects, the financial position of the Compasy a
of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and the resultsef tperations and its cash flows for each of the years in the period ended December 31, 2013
in conformity with accounting principles generadigcepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeswge been prepared assuming that the Companyamiirzie as a going concern. The Company
has incurred significant losses and has a workamjtal and stockholder’s deficit as more fully désed in Note 2. These issues raise substantial
doubt about the Company's ability to continue gsiag concern. Management's plans in regard tethesters are also described in Note 2. The
consolidated financial statements do not includeajustments that might result from the outcomthisf uncertainty.

/sIRBSM LLP
New York, New York
April 15, 2014




CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash
Inventories

Tax refunds receivable

GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Receivable from sale, net of impairment of $1,288,8nd $1,817,276 respectively

Other current assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

LICENSES, net of accumulated amortization of $2,883 and $2,439,287, respectively
DEPOSITS ON CONTRACTS AND EQUIPMENT
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, net of accumulategpdeciation of $3,108,281 and

$2,971,476, respectively

TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

LIABILITIES AND DEFICIT

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Wages payable
Employee loans
Advance from customer

Secured line of credit - short term portion
Current portion of mine owners debt facilities

Convertible note payable

Advances payable Consolidated Resources
Current portion of note payable to Directors

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

SECURED LINE OF CREDIT - LONG TERM PORTION

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFICIT:

GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT:

Common stock $0.001 par, 100,000,000 shares améthr87,272,975 and 86,542,975 shares issu

and outstanding at December, 2013 and 2012, regplgct

Additional paid-in-capital

Accumulated deficit prior to development stage
Deficit accumulated during the development stage
Accumulated other comprehensive income

TOTAL GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

NONCONTROLLING INTEREST
TOTAL DEFICIT

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFICIT

F-3

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012
$ 26,34¢ 3,391
558,52 559,52

92,76 67,12:

- 558,43"

26,20" 21,96

703,83 1,210,44:

472,33 770,64

345,22 373,11t

899,28 1,048,65:

$ 2,420,67! 3,402,86:
$ 4,225,19: 3,915,00:
1,367,14" 962,93

240,68 243,35

87,02 87,02

684,00 684,00

569,47t -

1,500,001 1,500,001

394,24 118,75

647,12° 98,62

9,714,90 7,609,77!

87,79¢ 709,94

9,802,69 8,319,72

87,27: 86,54:

44,711,00 44,444,93
(2,907,64) (2,907,64)
(49,482,62) (47,125,56)
1,530,97! 1,448,27.
(6,061,02) (4,053,46)
(1,321,001 (863,40))
(7,382,02) (4,916,86)

$ 2,420,67! 3,402,86:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasited consolidated financial statements.




GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(An Exploration Stage Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS

Cumulative
amount
from
Year Ended January 1, 1995
December 31, through
2013 2012 December 31, 20:

REVENUES - - $ 632,85
COST OF GOODS SOLD - - 224,24’
GROSS PROFIT - - 408,60
OPERATING EXPENSES:
General and administrative 2,478,87! 3,883,99I 31,098,19
Mining and exploration costs 183,37¢ 867,90! 17,571,05
Amortization and depreciation 473,57¢ 571,21¢ 6,889,33!
Write-off on investment - - 176,60¢
Bad debt expense - - 151,25(

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 3,135,82 5,323,11 55,886,44
Operating Loss (3,135,82) (5,323,11) (55,477,83)
OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSES:
Gain on sale of investment, net (534,879 (2,142,71) (5,409,38)
Gain from investment in joint ventures - - (2,373,70)
Loss on foreign exchange - - 193,85:
Gain on extinguishment of debt - - (289,766
Interest expense 293,23: 292,04( 2,688,55.
Interest income (65) (389 (365,266
Total Other income (241,719 (1,851,05) (5,555,71)
Loss from Continuing Operations (2,894,11) (3,472,051 (49,922,12)
Discontinued Operations:

Loss from discontinued operations - - 386,41

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - 237,80t
Net Loss (2,894,11) (3,472,05)) (50,546,34)

Less: Net loss applicable to noncontrolling interes (537,059 (526,66() (1,063,720
Net loss applicable to Global Gold Corporation Camnnshareholdetr (2,357,06) (2,945,391 (49,482,62)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 162,15¢ 524,33° 2,373,89!
Unrealized gain on investments - - 353,47¢
Comprehensive Net Loss (2,194,90) (2,421,05) (46,755,25)

Less: Foreign currency translation applicable togomtrolling interest (79,459 (64,237 (1,196,39)
Comprehensive Net Loss applicable to Global Gold -

Corporation Common Shareholders (2,274,35) (2,485,28) $ (47,951,65)
NET LOSS PER SHARI- BASIC AND DILUTED (0.09 (0.09
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING - BASIC AND DIUTED 87,015,68 85,214,49

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheslited consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
( An Exploration Stage Enterprise )

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERBQUITY (DEFICIT)

FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1, 1995 THROUGH DECEMBER 2013

Deficit
Accumulatec
Prior to and
During Accumulated
Additional the Other Total
Common Stock Paid-in Developmer Treasury  Minority = Comprehensiv Stockholder:
Equity/
Shares Amount Capital Stage Stock Interest  Income (Loss (Deficit)
Balance from February 21,
1980 to December 31,
1994 (Note 1) (Unauditec 898,07« $ 89,807 $ 3,147,69. $ (2,907,64) $ - $ - $ - $ 329,85
Adjustment for the
restatement of par value - (88,909 88,90¢ - - - - -
Issuance of stock for
acquisition of Eyre
Recources, N.L. 1,000,00:! 1,00(¢ 849,00 - - - - 850,00(
Proceeds received from
private placement 200,00( 20C 421,37 - - - - 421,57:
Net loss - - - (361,34) - - - (361,34

Balance as December 31,

1995 (Unaudited) 2,098,07: 2,09¢ 4,506,97! (3,268,99) - - - 1,240,08!
Warrants exercised 40 - 10C - - - - 10C
Net loss - - - (668,57) - - - (668,57)

Balance as of December 3:

1996 (Unaudited) 2,098,11. 2,09¢ 4,507,07! (3,937,570 = = - 571,60:
Issuance of common stoc  2,250,00! 2,25( 222,75( - - - - 225,00(
Net loss - - - (690,74) - - - (690,74)

Balance as of December 3:

1997 (Unaudited) 4,348,11. 4,34¢ 4,729,82! (4,628,31) - - - 105,85t
Net income - - - 34,94 - - - 34,94+

Balance as of December 3:

1998 (Unaudited) 4,348,11. 4,34¢ 4,729,82! (4,593,37) - - - 140,80(
Purchase of treasury stoc - - - - (60,000 (60,000 - (120,00()
Unrealized loss on
investment - - - - - - (16,000) (16,000
Net loss - - - (93,826 - - - (93,82¢)

Balance as of December 3:

1999 (Unaudited) 4,348,11. 4,34¢ 4,729,82! (4,687,19) (60,000 (60,000 (16,000 (89,02¢)
Issuance of common stoc

in connection with

settlement 20,00( 20 1,98( - - - - 2,00(
Cancellation of treasury
stock (1,000,001 (2,000 (59,000 - 60,00( 60,00( - 60,00(

Settlement of accrued



salary

Sale of warrants
Unrealized loss on
investment

Net loss

Balance as December 31,
2000 (Unaudited)

Net loss
Unrealized loan on
investment

Balance as of December 3:
2001 (Unaudited)

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation

Net loss

Unrealized gain on
investment

Balance as of December 3:
2002 (Unaudited)

Issuance of common stoc
for cash:
at $0.25 per share,
January
at $0.25 per share, July
at $0.50 per share,
October
at $0.50 per share,
October
Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:
at $0.25 per share,
February
at $0.25 per share, Jun
at $0.25 per share,
December
Amortization of deferred
compensation
Issuance of common stoc
for services:
at $0.25 per share,
January
at $0.25 per share, Apr
Shares cancelled in
September, which
wereissued in Janual
Shares issued at $0.25 p
share for accounts
payable in April
Fractional share adjustm:
Unrealized gain on
investment
Net loss

Balance as of December 3:
2003 (Unaudited)

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation

1,000,001 1,00( 161,50 - - - 162,50
- - 65C - - - 65C

- - - - - (90,000) (90,000)

- - - (33,34 - - (33,34)
4,368,11. 4,36¢  4,834,95  (4,720,54) - (106,00() 12,78:
- - - (26,837) - - (26,837)

- - - - - (15,000 (15,000)
4,368,11. 436¢  4,834,95  (4,747,37) - (121,000 (29,049
200,00 20C 9,80( - - - 10,00(

- - - (60,119 - - (60,117

- - - - - 247,40( 247,40
4,568,11. 4,56¢  4,844,75  (4,807,48) - 126,40 168,24
350,00 35¢ 87,15( - - - 87,50(
1,000,001 1,00 231,50 - - - 232,50
100,00 10C 46,40( - - - 46,50(
400,00 40¢ 185,60 - - - 186,00
1,800,001 1,80¢ (1,800 - - - -
900,00 90C (900) - - - -
90,00( 90 (90) - - - -

- - 165,80: - - - 165,80:

500,00 50C 24,50( - - - 25,00(
250,00 25¢ 62,25( - - - 62,50(
(500,000) (500) (24,500) - - - (25,000)
100,00 10C 24,90 - - - 25,00(
20 - - - - - -

- - - - - (95,27%) (95,27¢)

- - - (616,82 - - (616,821
9,558,13. 9,55¢ 564556  (5424,30) - 31,12¢ 261,94
250,00 25¢ (250) -



Forfeiture of common

stock for compensation (526,83)) (527) 527 -
Sale of common stock 3,000,00! 3,00( 1,482,00! - - - - 1,485,001
Issuance of common stoc

for services 90,00¢( 90 (90 -
Issuance of common stoc

for payable 240,00( 24C 113,26( 113,50(
Amortization of unearned

compensation 316, 75¢ 316,75¢
Net loss (688,039 - - (688,039
Unrealized gain on

investment - - - - - - (31,129 (31,129

Balance as of December 3:
2004 (Unaudited) 12,611,30 12,61: 7,557,771 (6,112,34) - - - 1,458,03

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:
at $0.50 per share,

January 850,00( 85( (850 - - - = =
at $1.00 per share, Jun 170,00( 17¢ (270 - - - - -
at $1.50 per share,

December 45,00( 45 (45) = = - = =
Sale of common stock 4,000,001 4,00( 2,996,00! - - - - 3,000,00t
Less: Selling expense for
sale of common stock - (39,000 (39,000
Exercise of warrants 220,00( 22( 54,78( 55,00(
Amortization of unearned
compensation 292,99 292,99
Net loss (2,309,18) (2,309,18)
Foreign currency
translation adjustment - - - - - - (38,51) (38,51)

Balance as of December 3:
2005 (Unaudited) 17,896,30 17,89¢ 10,861,47 (8,421,53) - - (38,51) 2,419,33.

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:
at $1.50 per share,

February 274,00( 274 35,72¢ - - - - 36,00(
at $1.70 per share, Jun 925,00( 92t (925) - - - - -
at $1.25 per share,

September 200,00( 20C (200 - - - - -
Forfeiture of common
stock for compensation (40,000 (4C) 40 =
Issuance of common stoc
for payable

at $1.15 per share,

January 100,00 10C 114,90( 115,00(
Sale of common stock 10,400,00 10,40( 12,989,58 - - - - 12,999,98
Less: Selling expense for
sale of common stock - (764,95 (764,95
Issuance of options for
compensation 225,89 225,89
Exercise of warrants 3,000,001 3,00(¢ 2,247,001 2,250,00!
Accrual of stock bonuses
issued in 2007 (27,950 (27,95()
Amortization of unearned
compensation 1,017,74. 1,017,74.
Net loss (5,296,371 (5,296,371
Other comprehensive
income - - - - - - 842,73: 842,73:

Balance as of December 3:



2006

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:

at $0.88 per share,

January 1

at $0.86 per share,

January 11

at $0.83 per share, Jun
Forfeiture of common
stock for compensation
Issuance of common stoc
for payable:

at $2.00 per share,

September (2006)

at $0.86 per share,

January

at $0.85 per share, Apr
Issuance of options for
compensation
Exercise of warrants
Accrual of stock bonuses
issued in 2008
Accrual of interest on not
Amortization of unearned
compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive
income

Balance as of December 3:
2007

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:
at $0.17 per share,
November 11
at $0.10 per share,
December 10
Issuance of common stoc
for payable:
at $0.55 per share,
February 11
at $0.17 per share,
November 11
Issuance of options for
compensation
Conversion of note
receivable into shares
Issuance of common stoc
for acquistion:
at $0.45 per share, Apr
8
Accrual of interest on not
Sale of common stock
Amortization of unearned
compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive
income

Balance as of December 3:
2008

32,755,30 32,75¢ 26,698,33  (13,717,90) 804,22(  13,817,41
83,33¢ 83 (83) - - -
50,00( 50 (50) - - -

286,66t 287 (287) - - -
(172,500) (179) (3,786 (3,95¢)
500,00( 50C 999,50( 1,000,00!
63,25( 63 54,33: 54,39t
150,00( 15C 127,35( 127,501
481,44 481,44¢

150,00( 15C 16,35( 16,50(
(14,85() (14,85()

(26,61%) (26,61%)

986,50( 986,50(

(9,716,88) (9,716,88)

- - - - 1,307,48 1,307,48
33,866,05 33,86t 29,318,14  (23,434,78) 2,111,701 8,028,93.
200,00( 20C 33,80( - - 34,00(
20,00( 20 (20) - - -
153,75( 154 84,40¢ 84,56:
100,00( 10C 16,90( 17,00(
279,92 279,92
(152,779 (159) (48,75() (48,909
250,00( 25C 112,25( 112,50(
(2,559 (2,555

4,750,001 4,75( 470,25( - - 475,00
717,99 717,99
(8,953,11) (8,953,11)

- - - - 1,195,49 1,195,49
39,187,02 39,187 30,982,35 (32,387,89) 3,307,191 1,940,83:



Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:
at $0.20 per share, Ma

18 333,33 332 (339 - - - - -
at $0.10 per share, July  1,387,50! 1,38¢ (1,38¢) - - - - -
at $0.14 per share,
August 1 245,00( 24~ (24%) - - - - -
Issuance of options for
compensation 130,27: 130,27:
Amortization of unearned
compensation 288,91¢ 288,91¢

Net loss (4,320,56) (4,320,56)
Other comprehensive los - - - - - - (499,10) (499,10)

Balance as of December 3:
2009 41,152,85 41,15 31,399,57 (36,708,45) - - 2,808,08: (2,459,64)

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:
at $0.10 per share,

August 19 120,00( 12C 9,88( - - - - 10,00¢(
Conversion of note payat
into shares 35,417,61 35,41¢ 5,277,22! 5,312,64.
Exercise of warrants 2,500,00! 2,50( 247,50( 250,00
Issuance of options for
compensation 69,45: 69,45
Amortization of unearned
compensation 61,26( 61,26(
Net loss (3,842,60) (3,842,60)
Other comprehensive los - - - - - (237,430 (237,43()

Balance as of December 3:
2010 79,190,47 79,19 37,064,89 (40,551,05) - - 2,570,65: (836,32()

Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:

at $0.19 per share, Ma 250,00( 25( 47,25( - - - - 47,50(
at $0.15 per share, Jun
23 1,350,00! 1,35( 201,15( - - - - 202,50(
at $0.20 per share, No\ 500,00( 50C 99,50( - - - - 100,00(
at $0.19 per share, No\
29 40,00( 40 7,56( - - - - 7,60(
Conversion of wages
payable into shares 2,000,00! 2,00( 298,00( 300,00
Exercise of warrants 600,00( 60C 59,40( 60,00(
Cancellation of shares frc
investment (125,000 (125) (24,87Y) (25,000
Issuance of options for
compensation 9,452 9,452
Amortization of unearned
compensation 56,75: 56,75:
Net loss (6,536,76) (6,536,76))
Other comprehensive los - - - - - (529,779 (529,779

Balance as of December 3:
2011 83,805,47 83,80¢ 37,819,08 (47,087,82) - - 2,040,87. (7,144,061

Issuance of common stoc

for compensation:
at $0.20 per share, Apr
20 300,00( 30C 59,70( - - - - 60,00(
at $0.19 per share, July  2,137,50! 2,13¢ (2,13¢) - - - - -
at $0.15 per share,
August 1 300,00( 30C (300 - - - - -



Issuance of options for

compensation 5,50¢ 5,50¢
Amortization of unearned
compensation 109,40t 109,40t
Minority interest sale 6,453,67- (400,969 (1,052,70) 5,000,00:!
Net loss (2,945,39) (526,66() (3,472,05)
Other comprehensive
income - - - - 64,23 460,10! 524,33
Balance as of December 3:
2012 86,542,97 86,54 44,44493 (50,033,21) - (863,407 1,448,27. (4,916,86)
Issuance of common stoc
for compensation:
at $0.11 per share, Apr
18, 2013 580,00( 58( 63,22( - - - - 63,80(
at $0.12 per share, Jun
21, 2013 100,00( 10C 11,90( - - - - 12,00(
Exercise of warrants 50,00( 50 4,95( 5,00(
Amortization of unearned
compensation 186,00( 186,00(
Net loss (2,357,06) (537,059 (2,894,11)
Other comprehensive
income - - - - 79,45’ 82,70 162,15¢

Balance as of December 3:
2013 87,27297 $%

87,27: $44,711,00 $(52,390,27) $

$(1,321,00) $

1,530,97 $ (7,382,02)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasited consolidated financial statements.
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GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(An Exploration Stage Enterprise)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cumulative
amount
Year Ended from
December 31, January 1, 1995
through
2013 2012 December 31, 20:
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss $ (2,894,11) $ (3,472,05) $ (50,546,34)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:
Amortization of unearned compensation 186,00( 109,40¢ 4,200,12!
Stock option expense - 5,50¢ 1,201,95:
Amortization expense 298,31¢ 298,31¢ 3,503,80!
Depreciation expense 175,26: 272,90: 3,611,43!
Stock based compensation 75,80( 60,00( 560,01:
Write-off of investment - - 176,60¢
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - 237,80t
Gain from investment in joint ventures - - (2,323,70)
Gain on extinguishment of debt - - (289,766
Gain on sale of investments - - (2,731,79)
Bad debt expense - - 151,25(
Other non-cash expenses - - 155,56°
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Other current and non current assets 657,45’ (131,169 (1,253,03)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 264,65! 1,192,56 4,811,89
Accrued interest 42,78: 34,96¢ 1,198,03.
Wages payable 404,21¢ 220,99¢ 1,367,14
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (789,629 (1,408,55) (35,968,99)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment - (220,49) (4,994,36)
Proceeds from sale of mining interest - - 3,891,15!
Proceeds from sale of Tamaya Common Stock - - 4,957,73
Proceeds from sale of investment in common stocteflite Gold - - 246,76°
Proceeds from the sale of minority interest infj@i@nture pending - - 5,000,001
Investment in joint ventures - - (260,000
Investment in mining licenses - - (5,756,10)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES = (220,49) 3,085,19i
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Net proceeds from private placement offering - - 18,155,10
Repurchase of common stock - - (25,000()
Advance from customer - - 87,02(
Proceeds from secured line of credit - - 3,189,37.
Repayment of secured line of credit (617,430 (618,567 (2,438,38)
Proceeds from mine owners debt facilities 569,47¢ - 569,47¢
Proceeds from convertible note payable - 1,500,00! 1,500,00!
Proceeds from advances payable 275,48¢ 118,75! 394,24
Note payable to Directors 548,50( 94,50( 5,018,70:
Warrants exercised 5,00( - 2,637,25I
NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 781,03: 1,094,69. 29,087,78
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE ON CASH 31,55: 508,62( 3,811,01

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASI 22,95¢ (25,74 14,997



CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - beginning of period

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - end of period

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Income taxes paid

Interest paid

Noncash Investing and Financing Transacti

Stock issued for deferred compensation
Stock forfeited for deferred compensation
Stock issued for mine acquisition

Stock issued for notes payable

Stock issued for wages payable

Stock cancelled for receivable settlement
Mine acquisition costs in accounts payables

The accompanying notes are an integral part obtheslited consolidated financial statements.

3,391 29,130 11,352
$ 26,34¢ $ 3,391 $ 26,34¢
$ - 3 - $ 2,68¢
$ 156,07¢ $ 218,73 $ 787,57¢
$ - $ 511,12 $ 3,871,21
$ - 3 - $ 742,50(
$ - 8 - 8 1,227,501
$ - 3 - 3 5,337,64.
$ - 3 - $ 300,00(
$ - 3 - $ 77,915
$ - 3 - $ 50,69:
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GLOBAL GOLD CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(An Exploration Stage Company)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

Global Gold is currently in the exploration statiés engaged in exploration for, as well as depeient and mining of, gold, silver, and other
minerals in Armenia, Canada and Chile. Until MaBdh 2011, the Company's headquarters were locat@&ddenwich, Connecticut and as of April 1,
2011 the Company’s headquarters are in Rye, N¥'subsidiaries and staff maintain offices in Yerevarmenia, and Santiago, Chile. The Company
was incorporated as Triad Energy Corporation inStete of Delaware on February 21, 1980 and coedumther business prior to January 1, 1995.
During 1995, the Company changed its name fromdTHEaergy Corporation to Global Gold Corporatiomptosue certain gold and copper mining
rights in the former Soviet Republics of Armenial@eorgia. The Company has not established provépebable reserves in accordance with
SEC Industry Guide 7 at any of its properties. Toenpany's stock is publicly traded. The Companpleys approximately 20 people globally on a
year round basis. In the past, the Company hasogmblup to an additional 2(people on a seasonal basis, but the Company’s engag of a mine
contractor to run mining operations is expectecetiuce the number of employees directly employethbyCompany on a seasonal basis.

Although the Company competes with multi-nation@timg companies which have substantially greatsouweces and numbers of employees, the
Company’s long term presence and the expertis&amdledge of its personnel in Armenia and in Chilew it to compete with companies with
greater resources.

In Armenia, the Compang’focus is on the exploration, development and yotion of gold at the Toukhmanuk property in thertNoCentra
Armenian Belt and the Marjan and an expanded Maxjarth property. In addition, the Company is exjplg and developing other sites in Arme
including the Getik property. The Company alsodsofloyalty and participation rights in other looas in the country through affiliates ¢
subsidiaries.

In Chile, the Company is engaged in identifyingdgekploration and production opportunities and agsroduction bonus interest in the Pt
property.

In Canada, the Company had engaged in uranium extjgo activities in the provinces of Newfoundlaamt Labrador, but has phased out this
activity, retaining a royalty interest in the Coahe Pond property in Newfoundland.

The Company also assesses exploration and prodwgioortunities in other countries.
The subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

On January 24, 2003, the Company formed Global l® and Global Plata LLC, as wholly owned subsidisy in the State of Delaware. Th
companies were formed to be equal joint owners Ghiean limited liability company, Minera Globahile Limitada ("Minera Global"), formed
of May 6, 2003, for the purpose of conducting opere in Chile. On December 2, 2011, the Companigt these subsidiaries to Amarant Min
Ltd. (“Amarant”).

On August 18, 2003, the Company formed Global Gualahenia LLC ("GGA"), as a wholly owned subsidiaryhich in turn formed Global Gao

Mining, LLC ("GGM"), as a wholly owned subsidiargpth in the State of Delaware. GGM was qualifiedltobusiness as a branch operatic
Armenia and owns assets, royalty and participdtiterests, as well as shares of operating compémigsmnenia.
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On December 21, 2003, GGM acquired 100% of the Ararelimited liability company SHA, LLC (renameddblal Gold Hankavan, LLC ("GGH
as of July 21, 2006), which held the license toHlamkavan and Marjan properties in Armenia. Ondbager 18, 2009, the Company entered in
agreement with Caldera Resources Inc. (“Calderatlirong the terms of a joint venture on the CompgarMarjan property in Armenia fMarjar
JV"). On March 12, 2010, GGH transferred the rightse thd interest for the Marjan property to Marjamidg Company LLC, a limited liabili
company incorporated under the laws of the Repufliérmenia (“Marjan RA")which is a wholly owned subsidiary of GGM. On Gwér 7, 201(
the Company terminated the Marjan JV. The Armei@anrt of Cassation in a final, n@ppealable decision, issued and effective Feb@aPp12
ruled that the registration and assumption of @bttty Caldera through unilateral charter changeth@Marjan Mine and Marjan RA were illegal i
that 100% ownership rests fully with GGM. On Mar2d, 2012, Justice Herman Cahn, who was appoingedrited States District Court Juc
Hellerstein as the sole arbitrator in an Americabit#ation Association arbitration between the Camp and Caldera, ruled in the Companiavo
on the issue of the J¥'termination ordering that the Marjan propertyl68% owned by the Company effective April 29, 20I2dge Karas of tl
United States Federal District Court confirmed Ju@ghn’s decision. See Legal Proceedings for iméwemation on the Marjan JV.

On August 1, 2005, GGM acquired 51% of the Armerlianited liability company Megdsold, LLC ("Mego"), which is the licensee for
Toukhmanuk mining property and seven surroundirgjogation sites. On August 2, 2006, GGM acquiteel iemaining 49% interest of Meg@#nld,
LLC, leaving GGM as the owner of 100% of Mego-GaldC. See Agreements for more information on Mégmld, LLC.

On January 31, 2006, GGM closed a transaction ¢uiee 80% of the Armenian company, Athelea InvesitsieCJSC (renamed "Getik Mini
Company, LLC") and its approximately 27 square rkifter Getik gold/uranium exploration license amedhie northeast Geghargunik provinc
Armenia. As of May 30, 2007, GGM acquired the ramimg 20% interest in Getik Mining Company, LLCaléng GGM as the owner of 100%
Getik Mining Company, LLC. See Agreements for miofermation on Getik Mining Company, LLC.

On January 5, 2007, the Company formed Global Gifahium, LLC ("Global Gold Uranium"), as a whollywoed subsidiary, in the State
Delaware, to operate the Company's uranium exploraictivities in Canada.

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Comptmgugh Minera Global, entered agreements to faimint venture and on October 29, 2(
the Company closed its joint venture agreement wiémbers of the Quijano family (“Quijanoby which Minera Global assumed a 51% intere
the placer and hard rock gold Madre de Dios an@dproperties in south central Chile, near Valdifilae name of the joint venture company
Compania Minera Global Gold Valdivia S.C.M. (“Gldb@old Valdivia” or “GGV”). On August 14, 2009, the Company amended the
agreement whereby Global Gold Valdivia became whoWned by the Company and retained only the P@iaéms Block (approximately 8,2
hectares), transferring the Madre De Dios clainegkblto the sole ownership to members of the Quijamaly. On October 27, 2010, the Comp
entered into an agreement with Conventus Ltd. a 8dfporation (“Conventus™jor the sale of 100% interest in GGV which was adw®eh (witt
Conventus and Amarant) and was closed on Decemi2812. See Agreements for more information on GGV.

On September 23, 2011, Global Gold Consolidated®ess Limited (“GGCRL"was incorporated in Jersey as a 51% subsidiareoCompan
pursuant to the April 27, 2011 Joint Venture Agreemwith Consolidated Resources. See AgreemertSoBand Subsequent Events for n

information on Consolidated Resources agreements.

On November 8, 2011, GGCR Mining, LLC (“GGCR Minthgvas formed in Delaware as a 100%, wholly ownedsislisry of GGCRL. O
September 26, 2012, the Company conditionally fearesd 100% of the shares of Mego and Getik Mir@mnpany, LLC to GGCR Mining.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemgmsent the available exploration stage activitiésrmation of the Company from January 1,
1995, the period commencing the Company's operatsrGlobal Gold Corporation and Subsidiaries,utincdDecember 31, 2013.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Going Concern - The consolidated financial statets at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and for ties yben ended were prepared assuming that
the Company would continue as a going concern.eSisdnception, the Company, an exploration stgerprise, has generated revenues of
$632,854 (other than interest income, the proc&eds the sale of mining interests, and the saleoofimon stock of marketable securities receive
consideration, therewith) while incurring lossesapproximately $49,482,000, has working capitalaitefcurrent liabilities exceed current assets) of
approximately $9,011,000 and stock holder defitamproximately $6,061,000. Management pursuedtiaddl investors and lending institutions
interested in financing the Company's projects. e\av, there is no assurance that the Company hidlio the financing that it requires or will
achieve profitable operations. The Company expetctéucur additional losses for the near term wsuith time as it would derive substantial
revenues from the Armenian mining interests acquieit or other future projects. These mattersedisubstantial doubt about the Company's a

to continue as a going concern. The accompanyingatwolated financial statements were preparedguirsg concern basis, which contemplated the
realization of assets and satisfaction of lialafitin the normal course of business. The accomparmyinsolidated financial statements at December
31, 2013 and 2012 and for the years then endeddlichclude any adjustments that might be necessayld the Company be unable to continue as
a going concern.

Certain reclassifications have been made to pear gmounts to conform to the current year pretenta

b. Use of Estimates - The preparation of finansfatements in conformity with accounting principdenerally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimatesssuhgptions that affect the reported amounts oftassa liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenuesxpeeses during the reporting period. Actual testduld differ from those estimates.

c. Cash and Cash Equivalen8ash and cash equivalents consist of all casimbadaand highly liquid investments with a remainimagurity of three
months or less when purchased and are carried abfae.

d. Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The Compadopted FASB ASC 82Bair Value Measurements and Disclosures, for assetdiabilitie:
measured at fair value on a recurring basis. ASC &ablishes a common definition for fair valueb® applied to existing generally acce|
accounting principles that require the use of Yaillue measurements establishes a framework foruriegsfair value and expands disclosure a
such fair value measurements. The adoption of ASCdd not have an impact on the Compamonsolidated financial position or operating hes
but did expand certain disclosures.

ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that wdnddeceived to sell an asset or paid to transli@bdity in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. AdditionAIBC 820 requires the use of valuation technighasmaximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Thesetiare prioritized below:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted market pricestiveamarkets for identical assets or liabilit
Level 2: Observable mark-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corabéd by market da

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little ormarket data, which require the use of the repgrintity's own assumption

The Company did not have any Level 2 or Level 2tsar liabilities as of December 31, 2013 and Dy 31, 2012.

The Company discloses the estimated fair valuealfdinancial instruments for which it is practila to estimate fair value. As of December 31,
2013 and 2012, the fair value short-term finanicisiruments including cash, receivables, accousysaiple and accrued expenses and notes payable
approximates book value due to their short-ternatiom.




Cash and cash equivalents include money marketiseswand commercial paper that are considerdstthighly liquid and easily tradable. These
securities are valued using inputs observabletineamarkets for identical securities and are tfigeeclassified as Level 1 within the fair value
hierarchy.

In addition, the Financial Accounting Standards BIJEFASB”) issued, “The Fair Value Option for Fimeial Assets and Financial Liabilities,”
effective for January 1, 2008. This guidance expamportunities to use fair value measurementmantial reporting and permits entities to choose
to measure many financial instruments and certdiaratems at fair value. The Company did not elketfair value option for any of its qualifying
financial instruments.

e. Inventories - Inventories consists of the follogvat December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Ore $ 452,46. $ 452,46
Concentrate 11,34 11,34
Materials, supplies and other 94,71¢ 95,72(
Total Inventories $ 558,520 $ 559,52!

Ore inventory consists of unprocessed ore at thkAimanuk mining site in Armenia. The concentrate amprocessed ore are stated at the lower of
cost or market. The Company is currently reportiagnventory at cost which is still less than therent market value so recent fluctuations in gold

prices have no effect on our carrying value of imeey. The Ore inventory is pledged as collatepalthe mine owner’s debt facility and secured line
of credit.

f. Deposits on Contracts and Equipment - The Compaade several deposits for purchases, the majirishich is for the potential acquisition of
new properties, and the remainder for the purcb&sg@ning equipment.

g. Tax Refunds Receivable - The Company is sulije¢alue Added Tax (“VAT tax") on all expendituriesArmenia at the rate of 20%. The
Company is entitled to a credit against this taxaimls any sales on which it collects VAT tax. Thampany is carrying a tax refund receivable based
on the value of its in-process inventory.

h. Net Loss Per ShareBasic net loss per share is based on the weighvedge number of common and common equivalent starestanding
Potential common shares includable in the comprtadf fully diluted per share results are not pnéseé in the consolidated financial statemen
their effect would be antilutive. The total number of warrants and optitimat are exercisable at December 31, 2013 and @@%2,954,167 al
4,604,167, respectively.

i. Stock Based Compensation - The Company peribidicsues shares of common stock for serviceseradior for financing costs. Such shares are
valued based on the market price on the transadtitm The Company periodically issues stock aptend warrants to employees and non-
employees in non-capital raising transactions éovises and for financing costs.

The Company accounts for the grant of stock andamés awards in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Gareation — Stock Compensation (ASC
718). ASC 718 requires companies to recognizherstatement of operations the grant-date fairevafuwarrants and stock options and other equity
based compensation.

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed feringstimating the fair value of traded optiorst thave no vesting restrictions and
fully transferable. In addition, option valuatiorodels require the input of highly subjective asstioms including the expected stock price volatility
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For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201®ssednd loss per share include the actual deduftir stock-based compensation expense. The
total stock-based compensation expense for thegreled December 31, 2013 and 2012 was $261,8091a#J915, respectively. The expense for
stock-based compensation is a non-cash expense item

j. Comprehensive Incon- The Company has adopted ASC Topic 220, “Comprakierincome.” Comprehensive income is comprised of net inc
(loss) and all changes to stockholders' equityi¢dfexcept those related to investments by dtotders, changes in paid-in capital and distributio

to owners.

The following table summarizes the computationsmeding net loss to comprehensive loss for theyeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012.

2013 2012
Net loss applicable to Global Gold Corporation Camnn$hareholdetr $ (2,357,06) $ (2,945,39)
Foreign currency translation adjustment $ 162,15¢ $ 524,33
Comprehensive loss $ (2,194,90) $ (2,421,05)

k. Income Taxes - Income taxes are accounteithfaccordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 746counting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the futax consequences attributable to differencesdstthe financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respectiix bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesrerasured using enacted tax rates expected tp tappl
taxable income in the years in which those tempadéferences are expected to be recovered oesefflhe effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognizethcome in the period that includes the enactndate. Valuation allowances are established, when
necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to therdsnexpected to be realized.

I. Acquisition, Exploration and Development CosMineral property acquisition costs are capitalizédditionally, mine development costs incurred
either to develop new ore deposits and constructavg facilities are capitalized until operationsretnence. All such capitalized costs are amortized
using a straight-line basis on a range from 1-lsjebased on the minimum original license teracguisition, but do not exceed the useful life of
the capitalized costs. Upon commercial developroéah ore body, the applicable capitalized cosisld/then be amortized using the units-of-
production method. Exploration costs, costs irexdito maintain current production or to maintaiseds on a standby basis are charged to
operations. Costs of abandoned projects are othdogeperations upon abandonment. The Companyates, at least quarterly, the carrying value
of capitalized mining costs and related properignpand equipment costs, if any, to determinbeke costs are in excess of their net realizalile va
and if a permanent impairment needs to be record@éd. periodic evaluation of carrying value of ¢aliged costs and any related property, plant and
equipment costs are based upon expected cashdlofsr estimated salvage value in accordance W@t Aopic 360, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets."

m. Foreign Currency Translation - The Company’orépg currency is the U.S. Dollar. All transactsoinitiated in foreign currencies are translated
into U.S. dollars in accordance with ASC Topic 8B0reign Currency Matters” as follows.

i) monetary assets and liabilities at the ratexahange in effect at the balance sheet date;
i) non-monetary assets at historical rates; and
i) revenue and expense items at the averageofarchange prevailing during the period.

Gains and losses from foreign currency transactoasncluded in the statement of operations.
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For foreign operations with the local currencyles functional currency, assets and liabilitiesteaaslated from the local currencies into U.S. afsl|

at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sla¢e. Revenues and expenses are translatedatearege exchange rate for the period to
approximate translation at the exchange rate piegait the dates those elements are recogniztfgbifinancial statements. Translation adjustments
resulting from the process of translating the latatency financial statements into U.S. dollaesiacluded in determining comprehensive loss. £
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the exchange ratedokiimenian Dram (AMD) was 405 AMD and 404 AMD f&it.00 U.S, respectively.

The functional currency of the Company's Armeniabsidiaries is the local currency. The financiatetents of the subsidiary are translated to U.S.
dollars using period-end rates of exchange fortass® liabilities, and the average rate of exchdngthe period for revenues, costs, and expenses.
Net gains and losses resulting from foreign exckargnsactions are included in the consolidateérstants of operation

n. Principles of ConsolidationGur consolidated financial statements have beepgped in accordance with accounting principlesgaly accepte
in the United States of America, and include theoaats of the Company and more-than-50%-owned diabigs that it controls. Intemmpan
balances and transactions have been eliminatezhsotidation.

0. Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization - Calfifted costs are depreciated or depleted usingtthggyhtline method over the shorter of estim:
productive lives of such facilities or the usefi# lof the individual assets. Productive lives rarigpm 1 to 20 years, but do not exceed the udié
of the individual asset. Determination of expeatedful lives for amortization calculations are madea property-by-property or asset-#gset bas
at least annually.

p. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets - Managemeniaeg and evaluates the net carrying value of allifees, including idle facilities, for

impairment at least annually, or upon the occumearfmther events or changes in circumstancesrttiiiate that the related carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. We estimate the net realizadilee of each property based on the estimated couliged future cash flows that will be generated
from operations at each property, the estimatedagal value of the surface plant and equipment la@ddlue associated with property interests. All
assets at an operating segment are evaluated ¢éodettpurposes of estimating future cash flows.

g. Licenses - Licenses are capitalized at costamémortized on a straight-line basis on a rare 1 to 10 years, but do not exceed the usetul lif
of the individual license. At December 31, 2018 2012, amortization expense totaled $298,316 208,816, respectively. Amortization expense
over the next five years will be:

Year Amount

2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
thereafter

298,31t
174,01

B BH P B P

r. Reclamation and Remediation Costs (Asset Retinti@bligations) - Costs of future expendituresdiovironmental remediation are not discounted
to their present value unless subject to a contadlgtobligated fixed payment schedule. Such castshased on management's current estimate of
amounts to be incurred when the remediation wogerformed, within current laws and regulationse Tompany has paid towards it environmental
costs and has no amounts owed as of December 33, 2e Company did not mine any ore in 2013 &1P2

It is possible that, due to uncertainties assodiati¢h defining the nature and extent of environtaéoontamination and the application of laws and

regulations by regulatory authorities and changeedlamation or remediation technology, the ultermzost of reclamation and remediation could
change in the future.
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s. Noncontrolling Interests - Noncontrolling intst®in our subsidiaries are recorded in accordaiittethe provisions of ASC 810,

“Consolidation” and are reported as a componeeioity, separate from the parent company’s equtytchase or sale of equity interests that do not
result in a change of control are accounted facasty transactions. Results of operations attaible to the noncontrolling interests are incluged

our consolidated results of operations and, upses ¢d control, the interest sold, as well as irgeretained, if any, will be reported at fair valuich

any gain or loss recognized in earnings.

t. Revenue Recognition - Sales are recognizederehues are recorded when title transfers andghtsrand obligations of ownership pass to the
customer. The majority of the company's metal cotre¢es are sold under pricing arrangements wiieaégrices are determined by quoted market
prices in a period subsequent to the date of Batbese circumstances, revenues are recorded #trihs of sale based on forward prices for the
expected date of the final settlement. In 20132012, the Company did not have any sales froidt&khmanuk property in Armenia. The
Company also possesses Net Smelter Return (“N&iRR8lty from non-affiliated companies. As the ndfikated companies recognize revenue, as
per above, the Company is entitled to its NSR ityyatrcentage and royalty income is recognizedraadrded. In 2013 and 2012, the Company did
not recognize any income from royalties.

u. New Accounting Standards:

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Stethddpdate (“ASU”) No. 20134, Obligations Resulting from Joint and Severaibility
Arrangements for Which the Total Amount of the @btion Is Fixed at the Reporting Date. The Update/ides guidance for the recogniti
measurement, and disclosure of obligations reguftiom joint and several liability arrangements ¥amich the total amount of the obligation wit
the scope of this guidance is fixed at the repgrtiate, except for obligations addressed withistexg guidance in U.S. generally

a. The amount the reporting entity agreed to pathe basis of its arrangement among its co-oldigor
b. Any additional amount the reporting entity esfseo pay on behalf of its co-obligors.

The guidance in this Update also requires an emmitgisclose the nature and amount of the obligatie well as other information about th
obligations. The new guidance will be effective fioe Company beginning January 1, 2014. Earlieptolo is permitted. The Company believes
the new guidance will not have any material impacthe Company’s financial statements upon adoption

Management does not believe that any other recestlyed, but not yet effective, accounting stamslamlild have a material effect on the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsievg accounting pronouncements are issued, the Gonvaidl adopt those that are applicable
under the circumstances.

A variety of proposed or otherwise potential acedmgstandards are currently under study by stahgetting organizations and various regulatory
agencies. Due to the tentative and preliminaryneatfithose proposed standards, management hdeteoinined whether implementation of such
proposed standards would be material to our casest®dil financial statements.

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The following table illustrates the capitalized tless accumulated depreciation arriving at thecaatying value on our books at December 31, 2013
and 2012.

2013 2012

Property, plant and equipment $ 3,68555 $ 3,697,47.
Computer 109,02 109,02
Office equipment 20,73¢ 20,73¢
Vehicles 192,24: 192,89
Total 4,007,56. 4,020,12
Less: accumulated depreciation (3,108,28) (2,971,47)

$ 899,28( $ 1,048,65:

The Company had depreciation expense for the yadeDecember 31, 2013 and 2012 of $175,263 an2, $27, respectively.
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4. RECEIVABLE FROM SALE

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company wasl @rincipal amounts (excluding penalties, interasd additional payments) of $1,282,398
and $2,375,713, respectively, from Amarant fromdhke of 100% of the Compamyinterest in the GGV, which held the Pureo mirasgets in Chil
and 100% interest in its wholly owned subsidiaf&sbal Oro LLC and Global Plata LLC which are e&€8%6 owners of Minera Global Chile
Limitada, all as part of the amended agreemenedios December 2, 2011. The total amount dueet@bmpany as per the Partial Final Award in
favor of the Company as of December 31, 2013 wesl$2312 as a liquidated principal debt plus aatinterest of approximately $113,900
calculated at 12% interest. The Company did nativecthe $1,000,000 due on December 15, 2011. Rmhl, 2012 through September 30, 2012,
the Company was promised additional compensatmmn fkmarant and its principal, Mr. Johan Ulanderadditional compensation in exchange for
concessions given to Amarant and its principal, Mhan Ulander, as more fully described below. Tbhmpany wrote down principal amounts of
$1,282,398 and $1,817,276 as of December 31, 204 2@12, respectively, as impairment as Amarantiede partial payments but has yet to pay
the full principal amounts due in full. Amarantsh@portedly assigned its interest to Alluvia Mipinimited, a public limited liability company
incorporated under the laws of Jersey (“Alluvia, assignment which the Company conditionally cotezkbas of June 15, 2012, but as of December
31, 2013, the conditions have not been met by &éynr@mrant or Mr. Ulander.

Forbearance and other agreements increased tlogpptinmount owed, as of May 22, 2013, to GlobadGo $2,509,312 providing for payments to
Global Gold by May 22, 2013, May 28, 2013, June202,3 and June 30, 2013. Amarant and Alluvia defdubn these agreements and failed to |
its full and timely payment obligations.

On August 6, 2013, the American Arbitration Assticiaissued a Partial Final Award in favor of them@pany for $2,512,312 as a liquidated
principal debt plus 12% interest and excluding adgitional damages, attorney fees, or costs whitttberdiscussed at a later time. Additionally, the
American Arbitration Association enjoined Amarantdalluvia from assigning or alienating any assetperforming or entering transactions which
would have the effect of alienating its respectissets pending payment of $2,512,312 to Global .QGatthrant and Alluvia have not complied with
the arbitral award to pay, produce records, oraggly, enter transactions pending payment intéuslobal Gold.

Subsequent to the arbitral award, Amarant and Adlannounced on the Amarant website in 2013 thjte'[companies have reached an agreement
with a UAE based consortium to sell material pafttheir assets. The deal was signed on the 3Qite8der in London and consists of three parts.
The first stage consists of the sales of the shiargkneral Invest and Alluvia that are pledgedsasurity for various bridge financing solutions and
short term financing. In a second stage the coinsowill provide the operational companies Ml afuvia with necessary funding to start the
operations and settle off short term debts andyatiins in Alluvia and Mineral Invest including,tnot limited to, legal fees to the SOVR law firm,
license fees, funds owed to Global Gold relatetthéopurchase of the Valdevia, Chile property amdaieing payments against NSR commitments in
connection with the Huakan deal. The first two stagre expected to be completed by the end of 20G3obal Gold was contacted by Mr. Ulander
and separately by the former Chairman of Alluvia, Whomas Dalton, as the representative of theartingn, Gulf Resource Capital, referenced in
the Amarant/Alluvia announcement to settle theteation award and despite the expectation of paysnew payments were made by December 31,
2013 and the parties have not reached a defirativeement. There can be no assurance that GuiliResCapital will pay on behalf of Amarant
Alluvia, Global Gold will continue to seek enforcent of the arbitral award to the full extent ashasl pursue its claims of additional damages in the
ongoing arbitration, see Subsequent Events.

On October 27, 2010, the Company entered into egeagent with Conventus Ltd. a BVI corporation (“@entus”) for the sale of 100% interest in
GGV which holds the Pureo mining assets in Chilae Company will provide Conventus with consultsggvices and technical assistance for
development, production, exploration, and expansiadhe GGV mining properties in further consideratof the payment terms below.

Key terms include that Conventus shall pay $5.0anilUSD over four years and two months. As ofdbetr 27, 2010, Conventus Ltd shall be solely
responsible, at its own expense for all expensdo#rer matters required by contract or law to clgmth conditions related to the Pureo property,
and in particular with the July 24, 2009 contrattiendition to commence production on a commeitéadis on the property being transferred to its
sole control pursuant to this agreement on or leefargust 15, 2011(subject to any time taken fonjiging purposes).
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As additional consideration, if within seven yed@snventus or any of its successors produces 18@00ces of gold from the GGV property or
property in Chile which the Company assists GG\Conventus in acquiring, then Conventus shall oll slaase GGV to pay the Company a one-off
and once only $2,500,000 bonus within 60 days bfesing such production. The closing of the tratisacs subject to a definitive agreement and
agreement being reached with Mr. lan Hague, wisipeet to his royalty to the satisfaction of ConusntThe closing date is anticipated to be on or
before March 31, 2011.

On December 2, 2011, the Company closed an ameagtedment with Conventus and Amarant, originalkged into on October 27, 2010, for the
sale of 100% interest in the GGV which held thegBunining assets in Chile. As part of the amendraed closing, Global Gold also sold 100%
interest in its wholly owned subsidiaries Globab@nd Global Plata, both of which are Delaware téhiLiability Corporations, and are each 50%
owners of Minera Global in exchange for additioc@inpensation, payable on or before December 15,,205 1% interest in Amarant. GGV is
owned by Minera Global (51%) and Global Oro (49@9)nventus has assigned its right and obligatico® fthis agreement to Amarant. Key terms
included that Amarant shall pay the $4.0 million&maining of the $5.0 million USD sale price ghliion as follows: $1,000,000 on or before
December 15, 2011; $1,000,000 on or before Decehe2012; $1,000,000 on or before December 153;2a1d $1,000,000 on or before Decen
31, 2014 subject to the terms and conditions iratireement. As additional consideration, if witk@ven years, Amarant or any of its successors
produces 150,000 ounces of gold from the Pureogutpthen Amarant shall pay the Company a one+sudf@ce only $2,500,000 bonus within 60
days of achieving such production.

On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into an "Aded Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreemvgtit"/Amarant to amend the parties’
December 2, 2011 "Joint Membership Interest Pucageement” as follows: the 1 million dollar paym&om Amarant due the Company on
December 15, 2011 shall be paid by April 20, 2@h&;three "Additional Payments" of 1 million doBastue on each of December 15, 2012,
December 15, 2013, and December 15, 2014 shdégihid in a lump sum of three million dollars ptio May 31, 2012, as further described in
Exhibit 10.49. On April 13, 2012, the Company aisceived a guaranty from Contender Kapital AB wicRholm Sweden (“Contender”) that if
Amarant fails to make the 1 million dollar paymémthe Company on or before Friday April 20, 20C2ntender will satisfy the 1 million dollar
payment, as further described in Exhibit 10.50. My 10, 2012, the Company and Amarant agreedltieaCompany would forego legal actions in
exchange for payment by Amarant of the $800,008rtza due plus a $50,000 additional compensatiomeatyby May 11, 2012 and the shortening
of the grace period for late payment of the $3ionlidollar payment due from Amarant to the Compfzagn 60 days to 10 days after May 31,

2012. On May 9, 2012, Contender acknowledgeditinatd received notice of its obligation to payawalid guaranty of $1 million, and reaffirmed
its guaranty. Contender defaulted on its guara@y.May 18, 2012, Amarant and its principal, MfakHer, agreed to pay Global an additional
$50,000 payment (in addition to the previously adr$50,000 additional payment) in exchange forgoirg legal action. On June 15, 2012, the
Company conditionally agreed to a revised schediutiebt repayment through August 30, 2012. Théseelschedule provides the Company to
receive; a) 20% of net proceeds of funds raisedllwvia or Amarant or their affiliates with a ceily of $3,250,000 (which includes additional
compensation) from any source; b) a $250,000 patraed c) an additional $200,000 payment to thepaomg. Also, the Company agreed to
conditionally waive its right of first refusal wittespect to transfer of GGV shares as part ofréhision, but these conditions were not met and the
Company has advised that the purported assignmeXituvia is invalid. As one provision of the armded sale closed on December 2, 2011, the
Company was to receive certain shares or ownerghpnarant, amounting to 533,856 shares of Amarginé shares were received in July 2012. No
value has been recorded for these shares for lbgvfiog reasons; a) there is currently no actialing market to value the shares, b) we do not have
access to the financials of Amarant to aid in daking a value, and c) the shares received presentall minority ownership of Amarant. Amarant
and Alluvia remain in default of certain materiabpisions of this sale agreement with Amarant.

On November 28, 2012, the Company and Amarant‘Rbeies”) entered into an Amended Joint Members$hiprest Purchase Agreement (the
“Amendment”), which again restructured the termshef Joint Interest Membership Interest Purchasedgent (the “MIPA”), dated December 2,
2011, among the Company, Amarant, and the oth¢iepaignatory thereto and amended on April 13220Amended MIPA”). Pursuant to the
MIPA and all of its amendments the Parties agraeah of November 28, 2012 Amarant owes $3,2753®@0e Company. Interest accrues at 12%
per annum.
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Key terms of the Amendment include: Amarant agthasit shall pay the Company the following amountghe close of business Central European
Time (“CET") on the indicated dates: (i) $200,000Movember 29, 2012; (ii) $150,000 on or before &ber 30, 2012, (jii) $450,000 on or before
December 6, 2012; (iv) $700,000 on or before Deeamii, 2012 and; (v) $1,775,000 on or before De@sriB, 2012. With respect to the payments
in (iii), (iv) and (v) as the largest shareholdéAduvia Mining Ltd. (“Alluvia”), Amarant guarantes that 50% of all funds raised by Alluvia shall be
paid to the Company until such payments are sadisfi full. As further consideration and in satgtfan of any and all alleged damages resulting

of Amarant’s failure to perform any obligation prizereto, Amarant agrees to transfer to the Com@argy Million (1,000,000) ordinary shares of
Alluvia held by Amarant, within 15 days of a fuldkecuted lock-up agreement whereby the Companybwitestricted from transferring any of such
shares for a period of 6 months from the dateasfdfer. The Parties agree to act in good faithrépgre and agree on the terms of the lock-up
agreement within 5 business days from the dateohdrastly, in the event that Amarant fails to make payments hereunder on a timely basis, it
hereby confesses to an arbitral award as to thaidmounts and the parties authorize the entsyci an arbitral award pursuant to the American
Arbitration Association arbitration clauses prewlyuagreed; this confession of arbitral award isfiesl by the undersigned who have personal
knowledge of the facts and affirm that they arejdist debts arising from the sale of property, sl confession is signed by each of the undersigne
under oath that the terms are true to the bestedf knowledge. The parties further agree to exeand deliver any other documents which may be
necessary to effectuate this confession and aatitan of arbitral award within 48 hours of a resfuey the other party or the arbitrator. The
Amendment had a confidentiality provision whicmgslonger operational. The Amendment also provitietl subject to Amarant’s performance of
the payment obligations, the Company would waigats to object to Amarant’s transfer of the propgstAlluvia; however, Amarant did not meet
its payment obligations. The Amendment furthewjed that the Company would extend the time forafamt to effect certain name changes until
March 31, 2013 with Amarant’s performance of thgrpant obligations, but Amarant failed to meet éyment obligations. The Company has
received the 1,000,000 shares of Alluvia whichraggricted for 6 months, until May 28, 2013. Ndueahas been recorded for these shares for the
following reasons; a) there is currently no actiazling market to value the shares, b) we do ne¢ lagcess to the financials of Alluvia to aid in
calculating a value, and c) the shares receiveseptea small minority ownership of Alluvia. Amatamd Alluvia remain in default of certain
material provisions of the agreements with the Camyp See attached Exhibit 10.60.

5. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the accountshpagad accrued expenses consisted of the follawing

2013 2012
Drilling work payable $ 103,18¢ $ 163,03¢
Accounts payable 3,862,12. 3,599,56.
Interest payable 259,88! 152,49(
$ 4,225,119 $ 3,915,009

6. MINE OWNERS DEBT FACILITIES

On July 5, 2013, GGCRL, GGCR Mining, and Mego caded a fifteen year mine operating agreement wiitind_as the operator along with an
$8,800,000 debt facilities agreement to fund fupneduction at the central section of the Toukhnkagnid-silver open pit mine in Armenia. The
debt facility includes interest at LIBOR plus 8%gdzahe operator, Linne, has an incentive based easgiion model, to be paid approved costs plus
10% of the actual sales of gold, granting shar@ogtfor up to 10% in GGCRL or the subsidiary pcbjeompany in Armenia to Jacero Holdings
Limited, a limited liability company incorporated the Republic of Cyprus (“Jacero”), and extendimgexisting offtake agreement with IM until the
end of 2027. The loan may be pre-paid. The CompaadyGGC have signed as a Guarantor on the debtyfagjreement. The debt is secured by the
Getik license as well as a subordinated securtgrést to ABB in Mego shares, the Toukhmanuk miming exploration licenses, ore stockpile
included in the Compang’Inventory and Mego property. The mine operatsriegun mobilization to restart production. Theahaé due on the de
facilities as of December 31, 2013 was $569,4780fA3ecember 31, 2013, the Company has accrueksitef $10,879 on this debt facility.
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7. CONVERTIBLE NOTE PAYABLE

On December 29, 2011, the Company and CRA sigri@idding Term sheet for a convertible note facifiby not less than $2,000,000 with a cash
coupon of 3% per annum and a guaranteed minimumoliRI®% at a “Liquidity Event” (the “Convertible Nes”). The Convertible Notes were
guaranteed by GGC until the execution of the shiasesfer agreements, which occurred on Septenhe2@.3. On January 17, 2012, the Company
signed an “Instrument” covering the Convertible &osupplementing the December 29, 2011 Binding Bémet. The Instrument removed the 3%
per annum cash coupon and provided that the CobleNotes could be prepaid at any time prior tmaidity event at par, defining a Liquidity

Event as “an initial public offering of the Compéamgrdinary shares on a stock exchange or a Chah@entrol of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries. A Change of Control was defined aghfange of 50.1% or more of a beneficial ownersiiighe legal and beneficial ownership of the
Company or the relevant subsidiary except in tlse cd an initial public offering.” On February 1812, the Company, GGC, CRA and their
respective subsidiaries signed a series of additagreements which appointed GGM as the interimager of the business and required
reimbursement of its budgeted and other cost. drilAnd May 2012, notices of breach of those Fahr2012 agreements were issued and damage:
claims were asserted, then the outstanding issaes solved in documents and resolutions exearteteptember 19, 2012. On September 19,
2012, repayment of the Convertible Notes was extend the sooner of September 19, 2013, a Puldiinig, or a financing of the Company with
interest payable at 4% per annum. The joint vemivas closed on October 26, 2012 with the registratf the Mego and Getik share transfer
agreements. On November 22, 2013, the Company,, @B8, and other parties agreed that all outstan@@CRL group debt including the
Convertible Notes will be audited and agreed thesumed by Signature Gold as part of the mergesdidion. The November 22, 2013 agreement
also provided that a repayment schedule of all débbe determined once the audit is completehe November 22, 2013 agreement did not trigger
a 15% IRR provision because it does not constaut@uidity Event until the merged companies shamespublicly listed and is not a change of
control since the beneficial ownership does nohgeaby 50.1%.

On January 20, 2012, March 8, 2012, and March 282 2the Company signed and approved Convertibles\certificates each in the amoun
$500,000 and totaling $1,500,000 and is carryig dh a liability, though the Company does not pttfs liability for fraud and offsetting amou
caused by damage and non performance as well as r@thisons. The November 22, 2013 agreement wiashsigned both by CRA and GGC
waives any demand on GGCRL for repayment of thesiother than through the Signature transactionaadd process. In addition, GGCRL i
the Company have received contradictory repredentais to the identity of the true owner of theds advanced from Messrs Borkowski
Premraj. The Convertible Notes themselves alswigeofor equal treatment, “coinvestmemf’ funds paid by the Company to GGCRL (Qualify
advances under the Convertible Notes require appioy a 75% of the GGCRL board.) On September D322the CRA representative to
GGCRL board consented to an extension for the rapay of any debt to CRA until the sooner of Septermi®, 2013, a public listing of GGCRL,
a financing of GGCRL. In April 2013, the Compangdhindirectly received an informal notice from aguarted representative of CRA allegin
default under the Convertible Notes. On June D832 GGC and GGCRL directly received a notice fritbve same purported CRA representa
Joseph Borkowski. On June 25, 2013, GGC, in a ewittesponse endorsed by Mr. Premraj, refuted (witttispute) the notice based
communications with CRA affiliated directors, lagkcorporate authentication and contradictory campmconstitutional documentation which wc
prohibit GGC from recognizing Mr. Borkowski or RasFrZE as in control of CRA. On July 1, 2013, GGCeieed written confirmation from
director of Consolidated Minerals Pte. Ltd. confingy that Consolidated Minerals Pte. Ltd. had fundleel Convertible Notes to GGCRL, is
beneficial owner of those Notes, and reservesghlirights to these Convertible Notes, not CRAe dlwner, Mr. Premraj, and thepresentative «
CRA, Jeffrey Marvin, signed the November 22, 2018riyer Agreement with Signature Gold Limited whictoypded that repayment of t
Convertible Notes and other GGCRL delill be audited and agreed then assumed by SigmaBald as part of this merger transaction.
assumption by Signature Gold of the audited Delbi laabilities of the GGCRL Group is capped at USrlion and will only occur followin
satisfactory audit and acceptance by Signature . Galiowing the assumption of any Debt and Lialitof GGCRL Group by Signature Gold, e
lender, vendor, creditor, and employee will havedption of converting their respective Debt anahllities into common shares in Signature Go
the Issue Price. A repayment schedule of all defmaining following any conversion elections will Betermined once the audit is complete a
reasonable period, not to exceed 30 days, hasdikemed for the election of conversion§hus, while including certain amounts claimed ted
been advanced in its financial statements to beerwative, the Company has taken the positionttieatlaims to repayment of the Notes are wit
merit. Refer to Subsequent Events for the dispeltged to outstanding amount payable on conventibte and advance payable
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8. ADVANCES PAYABLE CONSOLIDATED RESOURCES

In addition to the $1,500,000 received under thaayed Convertible Notes, as describe in Note %apihe Company received additional advances
of $394,244 which it is carrying this as a lialyilithough the Company reserves the right to comitéstiability for fraud and offsetting amounts
caused by damage and non performance as well asretisons. There is no written agreement on thdgances Payable Consolidated Resources
and the Company has not accrued any interest om élceordingly. Refer Subsequent Event for the déspelated to outstanding amount payable on
convertible note and advance payable

9. Notes payable — short and long term portiorsisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Secured line of credit, 14% per annum, due Marc22@5 $ 771,79¢ $ 1,393,94
Less: current portion (684,000 (684,000
Long term portion $ 87,79¢ $ 709,94

On March 26, 2010, the Company, through its whollyned subsidiary Mego Gold, LLC (“Mego”) enteredbi credit line agreement for 1 billion
Armenian Drams (approximately $2,500,000) with Atrsimessbank Close Joint Stock Company (“ABB”) iréf&n, Armenia. The credit line
includes a grace period on repayment of principél épril 20, 2011, is not revolving, may be prégpat any time, and is to be drawn down towards
equipment purchases, construction, and expansitreaxisting plant and operations to increaseymtion capacity to 300,000 tonnes of ore per
year at Meg’s Toukhmanuk property in Armenia. The loan isdgperiod of 5 years through March 20, 2015, bidiesest at 14% for amounts
borrowed, and bears interest at 2% for amount aailbut not borrowed. The loan is made and payialdlbcal AMD currency. As security, 100%
of the Mego shares and the mining right certifigdh®e Mining License Agreement #287 with Purpos&ulb-Surface Exploitation and Mining
License #HA-L-14/356 issued on August 5, 2005. Baknce owed at December 31, 2013 and 2012 wds&#&and $1,393,948,

respectively. There was no accrued interest owesf ®ecember 31, 2013 and 2012.

10. NONCONTROLLING INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
Formation of joint venture

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into a Jdenture Agreement with CR. Pursuant to the agre¢ntiee Company received $5,000,000 and
agreed to transfer 100% interests in Mego and Géitling Company, LLC into the Joint Venture Compaihie Company recorded this transaction
in accordance with the provisions of ASC 810, “Caitsation”

Transfer of interest

On September 26, 2012, the Company conditionalysfierred 100% interests in Mego and Getik Minilogn@any, LLC at carrying value into the
joint venture in accordance with ASC ¢50-30. According to ASC 805-50-30, when accounforga transfer of assets between entities under
common control, the entity that receives the nsétsshall initially measure assets and liabilitiaasferred at their carrying amounts at the déate
transfer.
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Consolidation of Joint Venture Company

The Company consolidates the Joint Venture Compaagcordance with ASC 810 based on the deternoimaliat it controls the Joint Venture
Company due to its 51% ownership interest and diotyithe following characteristics:

° The noncontrolling interest lacks participationhtigin significant decisions made in the ordinasyrse of business; al
° The noncontrolling interest does not have the gtili dissolve the Joint Venture Compe
Recognize and measure noncontrolling interest

Changes in a parent’s ownership interest whilénitg its controlling financial interest are accoemhfor as an equity transactions. The carrying
amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjustedeflect the change in its ownership intereshgubsidiary. The difference between the fairealu
of the consideration received and the amount bygkwvttie noncontrolling interest is adjusted is retogd as equity attributable to the parent. Further
the carrying amount of the accumulated other cohgmsive income is adjusted to reflect the chandledrownership interest in the subsidiary
through a corresponding charge to equity attridetédthe parent.

11. SEGMENT REPORTING BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

The Company has sold its products to various custemrimarily in former Soviet Union, but as of Mar24, 2009 the Company entered into an
agreement to sell the output of gold and silvercemtrates from the Toukhmanuk mine to a Swiss besetgbany. The Company performs ongoing
credit evaluations on its customers and genera@sadot require collateral. The Company operat@ssingle industry segment, production of gold
and other precious metals including royalties fratimer non-affiliated companies production of gahd ather precious metals.

For the fiscal years end December 31, 2013 and,268&Zompany did not have any revenue.
The following summarizes identifiable assets bygyaphic area:

Year Ending December 31,

2013 2012
Armenia $ 2,377,500 $ 2,824,55!
United States 43,17 578,30
$ 2,420,67" $ 3,402,86:

The following summarizes operating losses befoowipion for income tax:

Year Ending December 31,

2013 2012
Armenia $ 1,943,03. $ 3,784,26!
United States 951,08: (312,210
$ 2,894,11 $ 3,472,05I

12. CONCENTRATION RISK

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consistgipally of cash. The Company places its cash
with high credit quality financial institutions the United States and Armenia. Bank depositsarlthited States did not exceed federally insured
limits as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. As ofdbawer 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had approiy260 and $3,900, respectively, in
Armenian bank deposits, which may not be insurée Company has not experienced any losses in seoliats through December 31, 2013 and as
of the date of this filing.
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The majority of the Company's present activitiesiarArmenia and Chile. As with all types of intational business operations, currency
fluctuations, exchange controls, restrictions aeiffn investment, changes to tax regimes, polictibn and political instability could impair the
value of the Company's investments.

13. OFFICERS' COMPENSATION AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The Company values shares issued to officers uk@épir value of common shares on grant date.

On June 19, 2009, the Company'’s independent corafjiencommittee and the board of directors autledriemployment amendments and
extensions to Messrs. Krikorian, Boghossian, Dulnaard Caesar under the same terms of their prieeagents.

On August 12, 2009, the Company finalized employtnagmeement amendments and extensions under tleeteams of their current contracts wh
were approved on June 19, 2009 by the Companyé&pgdlent compensation committee of the board e€tir's to retain key employees, for
Messrs. Krikorian, Boghossian, Dulman and Caesanual compensation terms were not increased.

Mr. Krikorian’s employment agreement was extendgdah additional 3 year term from July 1, 2009 tigto June 30, 2012 with an annual salary of
$225,000 and Mr. Krikorian was granted 1,050,008ra# of restricted common stock which will vesegqual semi-annual installments over the term
of his employment agreement.

Mr. Boghossiars employment agreement was extended for an addit®year term from July 1, 2009 through June 8022with an annual salary
$72,000 and Mr. Boghossian was granted 337,50@strestricted common stock which will vest inabgsemi-annual installments over the term
of his employment agreement.

Mr. Dulman’s employment agreement was extendedtficedditional 3 year term from August 1, 2009 tigfoduly 31, 2012 with an annual salary of
$150,000 and Mr. Dulman was granted 225,000 stadnestricted common stock which will vest in egeammi-annual installments over the term of
his employment agreement. Mr. Dulman was alsotgtastock options to purchase 225,000 shares ofmmmstock of the Company at $0.14 per
share (based on the closing price at his renevesking in equal quarterly installments over thentef his employment agreement.

On June 10, 2011, the Company'’s non-interested reestdd the Board of Directors approved an offeofhgp to 2,000,000 restricted shares of the
Company’s Common Stock, at the current fair mavietie of $0.15 per share, in aid of settlementpofau$300,000 of this debt to extinguish and
convert some of the outstanding debt. As of J)&Q11, the Company has been given acceptantkedf@ntire conversion. The transaction will
benefit the Company by reducing the current del$380,000 and eliminating the interest from coritiguo accrue on these debts. On June 23,
2011, the Company issued a total of 2,000,000 sharthe Company’s common stock which will be riegtd in exchange for the debt cancellation.

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued as diredems’to each of the six directors (Nicholas AyniliBrury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmore, lan
Hague, Jeffrey Marvin and Van Z. Krikorian) 50,0@8tricted shares of the Company’s Common Sto& 4t5 per share for a total value of
$45,000. The shares were issued pursuant to taelBalune 10, 2011 decision from which date tlageshwere valued.

On June 23, 2011, the Company declared a staukshtm employees in Armenia and Chile of 800,08fricted shares of the Company’s Common
Stock at $0.15 per share for a total value of $1@D, The shares were issued pursuant to the Badudis 10, 2011 decision from which date the
shares were valued.

On November 28, 2011, Drury Gallagher gave fornatice to the Company of his decision to retire aslaried employee of the Company effective
December 31, 2011 but will remain a Director andimaén his titles of Chairman Emeritus, Treasumd &ecretary. On November 29, 2011, Mr.
Gallagher was granted 40,000 shares of restricdedmon stock at $0.19 per share for a total valug7g600 as compensation.

F-20




On February 24, 2012, Jeffrey Marvin resigned Biractor from the Global Gold Corporation for pemabreasons. Mr. Marvin did not hold any
positions on any committee of the board of direcfor Global Gold Corporation.

On April 20, 2012, Lester Caesar was appointed@isextor of Global. Mr. Caesar is a Certified Rai\ccountant with over twenty five years of
experience and has also previously served as GdBRO and Controller which served as the basidiior being appointed a Director.

On April 20, 2012, the Company authorized as dinettfees to each of the six directors (Nicholasifign, Drury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmore, lan
Hague, Lester Caesar and Van Z. Krikorian) 300/@8€ricted shares of the Company’s Common Sto&0&0 per share for a total value of
$60,000.

Effective July 1, 2012, the Company entered empkaynagreement extensions with Ashot BoghossiaVamdKrikorian, and effective August 1,
2012, with Jan Dulman as recommended by the Comp&uompensation Committee and approved by the BoBRirectors on June 15, 2012. The
agreements are extended for an additional threes yemler the same terms except for Mr. Dulman wiiaeceive an annual salary of $165,000,
which constitutes a $15,000 raise per year, arafditional 25,000 restricted shares of the Comm@gmmon Stock annually in lieu of the option
grants in his prior contract beginning August 112@hen the extension begins for Mr. Dulman. Abues issued under these extensions will vest in
equal semi-annual installments over the term oktih@loyment agreements. All shares were issutdraharket value and are amortized over the
term of the employment agreements. The Compang@s2i#437,500 shares of common stock in connectitinthese extensions.

On July 1, 2012 the Company granted performanceetedtion bonus awards of restricted shares o€tmapanys Common Stock to Van Krikorii
(500,000 shares) and Jan Dulman (250,000 sharesgasmmended by the Company’s Compensation Coneitid approved by the Board of
Directors on June 15, 2012. All shares issuecutids bonus award will vest in equal seaminual installments over the next two years thralwgte
30, 2014. All shares were issued at fair mark&tevand are amortized in accordance with the vgstériod.

On April 18, 2013, the Company authorized as dietfees to each of the six directors (Nicholas Aynili®rury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmore, |
Hague, Lester Caesar and Van Z. Krikorian) 300,684ricted shares of the CompasmyCommon Stock at $0.11 per share for a total vaf
$33,000.

On April 18, 2013, the Company declared a stockusdm employees in Armenia of 280,000 restrictearesh of the Company’Common Stock
$0.11 per share for a total value of $30,800.

On June 21, 2013, the Company declared a stocksitoridr. W.E.S. Urquhart in Chile of 100,000 reg&d shares of the CompasyCommon Stoc
at $0.12 per share for a total value of $12,000.

On June 21, 2013, the Compasyzompensation Committee granted retention borteskl. Krikorian of $55,000, Mr. Dulman of $45,0@dd Mr
Boghossian of $35,000 to be payable upon the reoéthe balance of funding due from the Chile sal&marant.

The amount of total deferred compensation amortiaethe years ended December 31, 2013 and 20134&&000 and $109,406.

The following table illustrates the Company's comgaion commitments for the next 5 years as of B 31, 2013.

Year Amount

2014 390,00
2015 208,75(
2016 -
2017 -
2019 -

F-21




On December 28, 2010, the Company’s Director amégurer, Drury Gallagher, made an interest free dd&23,500 which has been repaid as of
December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company @vady Gallagher, the Company’s Director and Treasuxpproximately $4,127 for expense
reimbursement which bears no interest and whiclaimenmpaid as of the date of this filing.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, one of the Cogipdirectors, Drury Gallagher, was owed $643,000 $94,500, respectively, from interest
free loans which remain unpaid as of the dateisffiling.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company oweaid wages of approximately $830,000 and $587 @@pectively, to management
including approximately $372,000 and $233,000, eeipely to Mr. Van Krikorian and $271,000 and $)00D, respectively, to Mr. Jan

Dulman. The Company is accruing interest at amiahrate of 9% on the net of taxes wages owed twagement. As of December 31, 2013 and
2012, the Company had accrued interest of apprdagign&172,000 and 129,000, respectively. The Compeas also accrued the contingent bonus
payable to the management for $135,000 as of Deee81) 2013.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company itadeist free loans due to employees in Armenigppfaimately $240,000 and $243,000,
respectively.

14. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance tlptovisions of FASB ASC 740, Accounting for Inaaifiaxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized for the future tax consequencabuattible to differences between the financial st&tet carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Defittex assets and liabilities are measured usingteth@ax rates expected to apply to taxable income
the years in which those temporary differencesapected to be recovered or settled. The effedeferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in income in the period ithdudes the enactment date. Valuation allowalacesstablished, when necessary, to reduce
deferred tax assets to the amounts expected tealtiead.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had net deféavedssets of $16,126,000. The Company has progdeduation allowance, which increased
during 2013 by $862,000 against the full amouritsofieferred tax asset, since the likelihood ofization cannot be determined.

The following table illustrates the source andugaif the Company's major deferred tax assets Beaémber 31, 2013.

2013 2012
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwa $ 15,725,000 $ 14,783,00
Stock option expense 481,00( 481,00(
Net deferred tax ass 16,206,00 15,264,00
Valuation allowance (16,206,00) (15,264,00)
$ - $ -
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The provision for income taxes for year ended Ddzanm31, 2013 and 2012 differs from the amount caegbby applying the statutory federal
income tax rate (35%) to income before income tase®llows:

2013 2012
Income tax benefit computed at statutory rate $ 825,000 $ 1,018,00!
State tax benefit (net of federal) 117,00( 146,00(
Permanent differences (book stock comp versusttek £omp) - (146,000
Increase in valuation allowance (942,000 (1,018,000
Provision for income taxes $ - $ -

The Company had net operating loss carry forwasdsalk purposes of approximately $36,959,000 aebdzer 31, 2013 expiring at various dates
from 2015 to 2032. A significant portion of thesery forwards are subject to limitations on anrutdization due to "equity structure shifts" or
"owner shifts" involving "5 percent stockholderga’s(defined in the Internal Revenue Code of 198&n@ended), which resulted in more than a 50
percent change in ownership.

15. COMMON STOCK

On August 1, 2005, GGM entered into a share puschgseement to acquire the Armenian limited ligbdiompany Mego-Gold, LLC which is the
licensee for the Toukhmanuk mining property andaurding exploration sites as well as the ownehefrelated processing plant and other
assets. On August 2, 2006, GGM exercised its pgtacquire the remaining forty-nine percent (4@¥dWlego-Gold, LLC, in exchange for one
million dollars ($1,000,000) and five hundred thaud (500,000) restricted shares of the Companysran stock with a contingency allowing the
sellers to sell back the 500,000 shares on or e8eptember 15, 2007 for a payment of $1 millichéf Company's stock is not traded at or above
two dollars and fifty cents ($2.50) at any timevise¢n July 1, 2007 and August 31, 2007. On Septethe2006, GGM loaned two hundred thous
dollars ($200,000) to Karapet Khachatryan ("Makeof)e of the sellers of Mego-Gold LLC, a citizertled Republic of Armenia, as evidenced by a
convertible promissory note payable (“Note”) to G@Mth interest in arrears on the unpaid principglance at an annual rate equal to ten percent
(10%). At any time following September 18, 200& @ompany, at its sole option, had the right toveonall of Maker's debt from the date of the
Note to the date of conversion into shares of comatock of the Company at the conversion pricelob® per share with all of such share:
security for all obligations. Maker pledged two Hued fifty five thousand (255,000) shares of thenpany's common stock as security for his
obligations thereunder. On September 16, 2007cdht&ingency period expired without exercise, extamsr amendment. The Company has
accounted for this by booking the 500,000 shateteafair market value of $1,000,000, into Addiiéd Paid-In Capital. The Company also booked
the $200,000 secured loan into Note Receivableaanrued interest, from inception of Note as peiténms of the Note above, into Additional Paid-
In Capital. On February 12, 2008 the Company ésedcits option and converted the Note and accintedest into one hundred fifty two thousand
seven hundred seventy eight shares (152,778), wigch then cancelled. As a result, the Companyrded bad debt expense of $151,250 for the
difference in the value of the stock and the amaow#d to the Company.

In December 2008, the Company sold 4,750,000 ahi#®.10 per share in a private placement. The imituded 4,750,000 common shares and
4,750,000 warrants exercisable at $0.15 per shetr@gpire on or before December 9, 2013.

On August 19, 2010, the Company issued 120,00€atest shares of the Company’s Common Stock at0pet share to employees as Stock
Compensation.

On October 22, 2010, the Company issued 35,41 #d@xtficted shares of the Company’s Common Sto80dt5 per share to three of the Company’
Directors to extinguish and convert outstandingt dsted to them.

In 2010, the Company issued 2,500,000 restrictadeshof the Company’s Common Stock at $0.10 pen fie exercise of warrants.
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On May 3, 2011, the Company issued 250,000 restrishares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.15 per share to Rasia, FZRad&®
compensation for advisory services in connectiah Wie joint venture agreement with Consolidateddreces.

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued 300,000atestrshares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.15 per share to the Directiottse Compan
(50,000 shares each) as stock compensation facesras a Director.

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued 800,000atestrshares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.15 per share as stock boremmpioyees i
Armenia and Chile.

On June 23, 2011, the Company issued 250,000atestrshares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.15 per share to Rasia, FZatldisiona
partial compensation for advisory services in catina with the joint venture agreement with Condated Resources.

On November 7, 2011, the Company issued 500,0Gfictesl shares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.20 per share to Rasia, FZthe
balance of compensation for advisory services imection with the joint venture agreement with Giidlted Resources.

On November 29, 2011, the Company issued 40,0@fctesl shares of the Company’s Common Stock dt®per share to an employee as Stock
Compensation.

On December 27, 2011, the Company cancelled 125/0@@s of stock in the Company which it receivegdayment for used equipment the
Company had in Chile.

In 2011, the Company issued 600,000 restrictecesharthe Company’s Common Stock at $0.10 per ft@rexercise of warrants.

On April 20, 2012, the Company issued 300,000 ictstt shares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.20 per share to the Directottse Compan
(50,000 shares each) as stock compensation foicesras a Director. These shares were recordéairamarket value on date of issuance
$60,000.

On July 1, 2012, the Company issued 2,137,500ictdr shares of the CompasyCommon Stock at $0.19 per share to employeestcak
Compensation. These shares were recorded at &alketrvalue on date of issuance for $406,125 aadb@ing amortized over the applicable period.

On August 1, 2012, the Company issued 300,000ctstrshares of the Company’s Common Stock at $0etShare to an employee as Stock
Compensation. These shares were recorded at feiemalue on date of issuance for $45,000 andbeireg amortized over the employment period.

On April 18, 2013, the Company authorized as dietfees to each of the six directors (Nicholas Aynili®rury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmore, |
Hague, Lester Caesar and Van Z. Krikorian) 300,684ricted shares of the CompasmyCommon Stock at $0.11 per share for a total vaf
$33,000.

On April 18, 2013, the Company declared a stockusan employees in Armenia of 280,000 restricteareh of the Company’Common Stock
$0.11 per share for a total value of $30,800.

On June 21, 2013, the Company declared a stocksitoridr. W.E.S. Urquhart in Chile of 100,000 regs&d shares of the CompasyCommon Stoc
at $0.12 per share for a total value of $12,000.

In 2013, the Company issued 50,000 restricted shafrthe Company’s Common Stock at $0.10 per frloenetxercise of warrants.
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16. WARRANTS AND OPTIONS

On June 15, 2006, the Company's stockholders apgrte Global Gold Corporation 2006 Stock IncenBlen (the "2006 Stock Incentive Plan")
under which a maximum of 3,000,000 shares of Com8tonk may be issued (subject to adjustment fakssplits, dividends and the like). The

2006 Stock Incentive Plan replaces the Companyt®@plan of 1995 which terminated in June 200% Tompany's 2006 Stock Incentive Plan has
a ten - year term and will expire on June 15, 2@6.June 15, 2006, the Company granted optionay®b0,000 shares of common stock, at an
exercise price of $1.70 per share, to the thenr@tzai and CEO, Drury Gallagher. On June 15, 20@6Cthmpany also granted options to buy 62
shares of common stock, at an exercise price @0Hder share, to the Controller, Jan Dulman. Oudgy 11, 2007, the Company issued as directors
fees to each of the five directors (Nicholas J. iRgn, Drury J. Gallagher, Harry Gilmore, lan Hagaed Van Z. Krikorian) stock options to purch
100,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company &a$0.86 per share. On June 15, 2007, the Congramyed options to buy 150,000 shares of
common stock, at an exercise price of $0.83 peeshathe Chief Financial Officer, Jan Dulman. &pril 8, 2008, the Company granted options to
each of the five directors to buy 100,000 (500,f@8l) shares of common stock, at an exercise pfid®.45 per share. On May 18, 2009, the
Company granted options to each of the five dimscto buy 100,000 (500,000 total) shares of comstook, at an exercise price of $0.20 per share.
On May 18, 2009, pursuant to Mr. Gallaglseemployment agreement extension under his corgrecas confirmed by the independent compens
committee and board of directors, Mr. Gallagher gr@ted stock options to purchase 166,667 shaiemumon stock of the Company at $0.20 per
share vesting on November 18, 2009.

On August 12, 2009, the Company granted to Jan Bultthe Company’s Chief Financial Officer, stogkions to purchase 225,000 shares of
common stock of the Company at $0.14 per sharebas the closing price at his renewal) vestinggnal quarterly installments over the term o
employment agreement. On June 19, 2010, the Conmgranted options to each of the five directorbug 100,000 (500,000 total) shares of
common stock, at an exercise price of $0.10 peaesi@n June 19, 2010, pursuant to Mr. Gallagheripleyment agreement extension under his
contract and as confirmed by the independent cosgiiem committee and board of directors, Mr. Gdlexgvas granted stock options to purchase
100,000 shares of common stock of the Company.a04ter share vesting on November 19, 2010. Ook@ctl4, 2010, the Company granted
options to buy 40,000 shares of common stock, @xancise price of $0.25 per share, to a consylRal Airasian, which vest on December 31,
2010 and expired on December 31, 2012.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock ogtigsing a Black-Scholes valuation model and theviing assumption terms: 16 years; intere
rate: 5.0% to 5.7%; volatility: 100 - 360%. The erpe is recorded in the Consolidated Statemer@pefations.

There were no options granted in 2013 and 2012.

The following tables illustrates the Company's ktexarrant and option issuances and balances odistaras of, and during the years er
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

F-25




WARRANTS OPTIONS STOCK AWARDS

Shares Weighted Shares Weighted Restricted Weighted

Underlying Average Underlying Average Stock Average
Warrants Exercise Price Warrants Exercise Price Awards Market Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 1,650,000 $ 0.1C 2,994,16° $ 0.61 7,810,50. $ 0.67
Granted - - - - 2,737,501 0.1¢
Canceled - - (40,000 0.2t - -
Exercised - - - - - -
Sold in units = = = = = =
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 1,650,000 $ 0.1C 2,954,16 $ 0.52 10,548,000 $ 0.5t
Granted - - - - 680,00( 0.11
Canceled (1,600,001 0.1C - - -
Exercised (50,000 0.1C - - - -
Sold in units - - - - - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 - $ = 2,954,16° $ 0.52 11,228,00 $ 0.52
Vested shares and fair value - 3% - 2,954,16 $ 0.52Z 10,196,75 $ 0.5t

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 ahd,2Bere were no options exercised. Pursuatietdécision of the non-interested members of
the Board of Directors on October 19, 2010, the Gamy has amended the outstanding warrant strike pgr share from $0.15 to $0.10. These
warrants were part of a capital raise and were mev@pensatory in nature; no expense was recosladesult of the modification. In the twelve
months ended December 31, 2013, there were 50,80@nts exercised and 1,600,000 warrants thatexkpind in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2011, there were no warrants exeroisednceled. The following is additional inforieat with respect to the Company's options and
warrants as of December 31, 2013.

WARRANTS OUTSTANDING WARRANTS EXERCISABLE

Number of Weighted Number of
Outstanding Average Weighted Exercisable Weighted
Average Shares Remaining Average Shares Average
Exercise Underlying Contractual Exercise Underlying Exercise
Price Warrants Life (years) Price Warrants Price
$ = = - 8 = - 8 =
OPTIONS
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING EXERCISABLE
Number of Weighted Number of
Outstanding Average Weighted Exercisable Weighted
Average Shares Remaining Average Shares Average
Exercise Underlying Contractual Exercise Underlying Exercise
Price Options Life (years) Price Options Price
$ 0.63 2,954,16° 464 $ 0.52 2,954,16° $ 0.52

The intrinsic value of warrants and options exexgis at December 31, 2013 is $0. The intrinsicevaiwarrants and options outstanding at
December 31, 2012 is $98,250.
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17. AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS

Quijano Agreements

On August 9, 2007 and August 19, 2007, the Compiiangugh Minera Global, entered agreements to @joint venture and on October 29, 2007,
the Company closed its joint venture agreement mig¢mbers of the Quijano family by which Minera Gibhssumed a 51% interest in the placet
hard rock gold Madre de Dios and Pureo properfidgee name of the joint venture company is Comp#fiieera Global Gold Valdivia S.C.M.
(“Global Gold Valdivia” or “GGV").

On July 24, 2009, Global Gold entered into an amerd with members of the Quijano family (“Quijana®)the October 29, 2007 Global Gold
Valdivia joint venture subject to final board apgabon or before July 31, 2009 whereby GGV will e wholly owned by Global Gold and ret
only the Pureo Claims Block (approximately 8,200thees), transferring the Madre De Dios claims klacthe sole ownership to members of the
Quijano family. On July 28, 2009, the amendmend @pproved by the Company’s board of directors.

Key terms of the amendment included that on ordeefagust 15, 2009, GGV transfer to Quijano ordesignee one hundred percent (100%)
interest in the current GGV claims identified as Madre De Dios Claims Block and Quijano transéeGtobal Gold one hundred percent (100%)
interest in the GGV, or its designee, and the raingiclaims identified as the Pureo Claims Blogdl transfers were closed in Santiago, Chile on
August 14, 2009 which terminated the joint ventulfeGGV does not commence production on a comnakbzsis on the property being transferred
to its sole control pursuant to this agreementiwitivo years (subject to any time taken for pelimgtipurposes), the property shall revert to Quijano

Quijano shall be entitled a 3% NSR royalty intefastll metals produced from the properties retdimeGGV up to a maximum of 27 million Eur
subject to Quijana initial repayment of $200,000 to Global Gold. Baee years, GGV or its designee shall haveld agfirst refusal on any bo
fide offers for all or any part of the propertiearsferred to Quijano (to be exercised within f{8§ days). For three years, Quijano shall alsaehs
right of first refusal on any bona fide offers ft or any part of the properties retained by GG\it® designee (to be exercised within twenty
days). The Company's obligations, as amended tnensferred to Amarant.

Coventus/Amarant Agreements

On October 27, 2010, the Company entered into ageagent with Conventus Ltd. a BVI corporation (“@entus”)for the sale of 100% interest
GGV which holds the Pureo mining assets in Chil€he Company will provide Conventus with consutiservices and technical assistance
development, production, exploration, and expansidhe GGV mining properties in further consideratof the payment terms below.

On December 2, 2011, the Company closed an ameagtedment with Conventus and Amarant, originalkgd into on October 27, 2010, for the
sale of 100% interest in the GGV which held thegBunining assets in Chile. As part of the amendraed closing, Global Gold also sold 100%
interest in its wholly owned subsidiaries Globab@nd Global Plata, both of which are Delaware tehiLiability Corporations, and are each 50%
owners of Minera Global in exchange for additioc@inpensation, payable on or before December 158,,205 1% interest in Amarant. GGV is
owned by Minera Global (51%) and Global Oro (49@0)nventus has assigned its right and obligaticors fthis agreement to Amarant. Key terms
included that Amarant shall pay the $4.0 million&maining of the $5.0 million USD sale price ghatiion as follows: $1,000,000 on or before
December 15, 2011; $1,000,000 on or before Deceifhet012; $1,000,000 on or before December 15328dd $1,000,000 on or before Decen
31, 2014 subject to the terms and conditions iratireement. As additional consideration, if witk@ven years, Amarant or any of its successors
produces 150,000 ounces of gold from the Pureogotpphen Amarant shall pay the Company a one+adf@ce only $2,500,000 bonus within 60
days of achieving such production.
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On April 13, 2012, the Company entered into an "Aded Joint Membership Interest Purchase Agreemvégtit"/Amarant to amend the parties’
December 2, 2011 "Joint Membership Interest Puciageement” as follows: the 1 million dollar paymh&om Amarant due the Company on
December 15, 2011 shall be paid by April 20, 2@h&;three "Additional Payments" of 1 million doBastue on each of December 15, 2012,
December 15, 2013, and December 15, 2014 shdégihid in a lump sum of three million dollars ptio May 31, 2012, as further described in
Exhibit 10.49. On April 13, 2012, the Company aisceived a guaranty from Contender Kapital AB wickholm Sweden (“Contender”) that if
Amarant fails to make the 1 million dollar paymémthe Company on or before Friday April 20, 20C2ntender will satisfy the 1 million dollar
payment, as further described in Exhibit 10.50. My 10, 2012, the Company and Amarant agreedliieaCompany would forego legal actions in
exchange for payment by Amarant of the $800,008rtza due plus a $50,000 additional compensatiomeayby May 11, 2012 and the shortening
of the grace period for late payment of the $3ionlidollar payment due from Amarant to the Compfzagn 60 days to 10 days after May 31,

2012. On May 9, 2012, Contender acknowledgedittinatd received notice of its obligation to payawmalid guaranty of $1 million, and reaffirmed
its guaranty. Contender defaulted on its guara@y.May 18, 2012, Amarant and its principal, MfakHer, agreed to pay Global an additional
$50,000 payment (in addition to the previously adr$50,000 additional payment) in exchange forgoirg legal action. On June 15, 2012, the
Company conditionally agreed to a revised schediutiebt repayment through August 30, 2012. Théseelschedule provides the Company to
receive; a) 20% of net proceeds of funds raisedllwvia or Amarant or their affiliates with a ceily of $3,250,000 (which includes additional
compensation) from any source; b) a $250,000 patraed c) an additional $200,000 payment to thepaomg. Also, the Company agreed to
conditionally waive its right of first refusal wittespect to transfer of GGV shares as part ofréhision, but these conditions were not met and the
Company has advised that the purported assignmeXiiuvia is invalid. As one provision of the armded sale closed on December 2, 2011, the
Company was to receive certain shares or ownerghApnarant, amounting to 533,856 shares of AmarBnése shares were received in July 2012.
No value has been recorded for these shares fdoltbwiing reasons; a) there is currently no actiagling market to value these shares exceg
“Mangold List” in Sweden, b) we do not have acdesthe financials of Amarant to aid in calculatimgalue, and c) these shares received present a
small minority ownership of Amarant. Amarant andu&la remain in default of certain material prowiss of this sale agreement with Amarant.

On November 28, 2012, the Company and Amarant “@agties”) entered into an Amended Joint Membership InterestHase Agreement (1
“Amendment”), which again restructured the termghef Joint Interest Membership Interest Purchaseedgent (the “MIPA”),dated December
2011, among the Company, Amarant, and the otheiepasignatory thereto and amended on April 13,220Amended MIPA”). Pursuant to tt
MIPA and all of its amendments the Parties agraedk of November 28, 2012 Amarant owes $3,275(0@3e Company. Interest accrues at
per annum.

Key terms of the Amendment include: Amarant agthasit shall pay the Company the following amountghe close of business Central European
Time (“CET") on the indicated dates: (i) $200,000Movember 29, 2012; (ii) $150,000 on or before &ber 30, 2012, (jii) $450,000 on or before
December 6, 2012; (iv) $700,000 on or before Deeamiid, 2012 and; (v) $1,775,000 on or before De@zriB, 2012. With respect to the payments
in (iii), (iv) and (v) as the largest shareholdéAduvia Mining Ltd. (“Alluvia”), Amarant guarantes that 50% of all funds raised by Alluvia shall be
paid to the Company until such payments are satisfi full. As further consideration and in satédfan of any and all alleged damages resulting

of Amarant’s failure to perform any obligation prizereto, Amarant agrees to transfer to the Com@ameMillion (1,000,000) ordinary shares of
Alluvia held by Amarant, within 15 days of a fulbkecuted lock-up agreement whereby the Companybwitestricted from transferring any of such
shares for a period of 6 months from the dateasfdfer. The Parties agree to act in good faithrépgre and agree on the terms of the lock-up
agreement within 5 business days from the dateohdrastly, in the event that Amarant fails to maks payments hereunder on a timely basis, it
hereby confesses to an arbitral award as to thaidmounts and the parties authorize the entsyci an arbitral award pursuant to the American
Arbitration Association arbitration clauses prewlyuagreed; this confession of arbitral award isfiesl by the undersigned who have personal
knowledge of the facts and affirm that they arejdist debts arising from the sale of property, sl confession is signed by each of the undersigne
under oath that the terms are true to the bestedf knowledge. The parties further agree to exeand deliver any other documents which may be
necessary to effectuate this confession and aatitan of arbitral award within 48 hours of a resfuey the other party or the arbitrator. The
Amendment had a confidentiality provision whicmgslonger operational. The Amendment also provitietl subject to Amarant’s performance of
the payment obligations, the Company would waigats to object to Amarant’s transfer of the prop#stAlluvia; however, Amarant did not meet
its payment obligations. The Amendment furthewjded that the Company would extend the time forafamt to effect certain name changes until
March 31, 2013 with Amarant’s performance of thgmpant obligations, but Amarant failed to meet éyment obligations. The Company has
received the 1,000,000 shares of Alluvia whichraggricted for 6 months, until May 28, 2013. Ndueahas been recorded for these shares for the
following reasons; a) there is currently no actiagling market to value these shares except thentjdid List” in Sweden, b) we do not have access
to the financials of Alluvia to aid in calculatisgvalue, and c) these shares received presentlersimarity ownership of Alluvia. Amarant and
Alluvia remain in default of certain material preidns of the agreements with the Company. Seehattiaéxhibit 10.60.
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Forbearance and other agreements increased thepatiamount to be paid to Global Gold to $2,509,Btoviding for payments to Global Gold
May 22, 2013, May 28, 2013, June 17, 2013 and 30n2013. Amarant and Alluvia defaulted on theseagents and payment schedules.

On August 6, 2013, the American Arbitration Asstioia issued a Partial Final Award in favor of thempany for $2,512,312 as a liquide
principal debt plus 12% interest and excluding adglitional damages, attorney fees, or costs whitttbe/discussed at a later time. Additionally,
American Arbitration Association enjoined AmarantdaAlluvia from assigning or alienating any assatperforming or entering transactions wt
would have the effect of alienating its respectigsets pending payment of $2,512,312 to Global .QGuithrant and Alluvia have not complied v
the arbitral award to pay, produce records, oraggtly, enter transactions pending payment intéu(slobal Gold.

Subsequent to the arbitral award, Amarant and Adl@nnounced on the Amarant website th§h¥ companies have reached an agreement \
UAE based consortium to sell material parts ofrthssets. The deal was signed on the 30th Septembendon and consists of three parts. The
stage consists of the sales of the shares in Miharast and Alluvia that are pledged as secuntyvarious bridge financing solutions and shontn
financing. In a second stage the consortium wiljle the operational companies Mll and Alluvigiwinecessary funding to start the operations
settle off short term debts and obligations in duand Mineral Invest including, but not limited, tegal fees to the SOVR law firm, license f
funds owed to Global Gold relatedtfte purchase of the Valdevia, Chile property amdaiaing payments against NSR commitments in coion
with the Huakan deal. The first two stages are etqueto be completed by the end of 20133lobal Gold was contacted by Mr. Ulander
separately by the former Chairman of Alluvia, Mhofas Dalton, as the representative of the consortGulf Resource Capital, referenced in
Amarant/Alluvia announcement to settle the arbitrabward and despite the expectation of paymaotpayments have been made and the p
have not reached a definitive agreement. Therebeano assurance that Gulf Resource Capital will grabehalf of Amarant and Alluvia, Glol
Gold will continue to seek enforcement of the adbiaward to the full extent.

Industrial Minerals/Linne/Jacero Agreements

March 24, 2009, the Company signed a supply conagieement with Industrial Minerals SA (“IM"§, Swiss Company. The agreement is for |
purchase all of the gold and silver concentratelpced at the Company's Toukhmanuk facility at 83%BMA less certain treatment and refin
charges.

On February 25, 2010, the Company, through its lytened subsidiary Mego entered into an agreeméhtIM to provide Mego with an advan
of $450,000 from IM against future sales of gold ailver concentrate (the “Advance”)The Advance was provided by IM on February
2010. The Company owed $87,020 from the Advanad Becember 31, 2013 and 2012.

Key terms include; that Mego provides IM with arckesive offtake agreement for its gold and silver concentratérmenia through December !
2012; for 2009 and until February 25, 2010, thegiM paid Mego for gold and silver concentrate wakulated based on 85% of the Lon
AM/PM Gold Fixation and London Silver Spot (“Lond&tates”),until Mego delivers 2,250 metric tons of concerrdte 85% is reduced to 8C
after 2,250 metric tons have been delivered theepuiill revert to 85% of London Rates; Mego prowd®l with a security interest in its current
stockpile in Armenia; and the Company providesf@orporate guarantee for repayment of the Advance.

On July 5, 2013, the Company through its majorityned subsidiary Global Gold Consolidated Resoutdested, a Jersey Island private limi
liability company (“GGCRL"), and GGCRL wholly ownedubsidiaries GGCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limit&dbility company (GGCF
Mining”), and Mego-Gold, LLC, a limited liability ampany incorporated in the Republic of Armenia (848, concluded a fifteen year mi
operating agreement, all as further described initix10.62 below, with Linne Mining LLC, a limiteliability company incorporated in the Repul
of Armenia (“Linne”), as the operator along with an $8,800,000 debtifi@silagreement to fund future production at thetreé section of th
Toukhmanuk goldsilver open pit mine in Armenia. The debt facilibcludes interest at LIBOR plus 8%, and the operdtmne, has an incenti
based compensation model, to be paid approved pbasis10% of the actual sales of gold, all as ferttescribed in Exhibit 10.63 below. 1
Company has signed as a Guarantor on the delityagkreement. The mine operator has begun mobdiz#o restart production this year.
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The existing offtake agreement with Industrial Malse, SA was also extended until the end of 20R@safurther described in Exhibit 10.64 bel
and share options for up to 10% in GGCRL or thesgliéry project company in Armenia were also grdnite related agreements with Jac
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company ingoorated in the Republic of Cyprus (“Jacero”), alfarther described in Exhibit 10.65 below.

Viking Investment/CREO Agreements

On July 5, 2013, GGCRL, and its wholly owned &diidis Mego, and Getik Mining Company, a limited ilisbhcompany incorporated in the Repul
of Armenia (“Getik”),also finalized an agreement effective June 20, 2618 Creo Design (Pty) Limited, a company incomgited in the Republic
South Africa (“CREO”), and Viking Investment Limide a company incorporated in the Hong Kong (“VikingThe agreement is for CREO
manage the technical work with local employees@mdractors leading to feasibility studies at ttetiksproperty in Armenia as well as at the 50
square kilometer exploration license area surraumttie central section of the Toukhmanuk mine.e Almenian government recently extended
exploration license to July 2, 2016 and the Englisd Armenian of the current license have beenegost the Global Gold website. The agreel
also calls for Viking to finance the initial budgdtexpenses until GGCRL is publicly listed at argbheof costs plus 10%, all as further describe
Exhibit 10.66 below.

As of September 30, 2013, Viking and CREO haveefailo meet their obligations and are in materiglabh of the contract. The Compan
reviewing its options with respect to the breaabfesontract and to preserve the Getik licenses.

Signature Gold

On September 5, 2013, the Company through GGCRubgladed a Binding Heads of Agreement contract \Bifpnature Gold Limited of Sydn
Australia (“Signature”fo merge the Armenian and Australian gold projeicts, the renamed Global Signature Gold entity pk&hto be listed on t
Australian Stock Exchange.

Signature is focused on Intrusive Related Gold &ysproperties in Queensland, Australia and wilcbetributing its Mount Cassidy; Last Cha
Day Dawn; Specimen Hill; Maxwellton; FletcherAwl; Outer Rim; and Mosquito Hill gold projectSGCRL will be contributing its Toukhman
and Getik gold projects in Armenia. GGCRL shallaige $80 million USD in shares plus up to $8 millim cash or shares for debt repayn
Signature shall receive $15 million AUD for its ¢obutions. Closing is planned for October 30, 204:13d the closing is dependent on due dilige
regulatory, relevant lender, and corporate apps\al as further described in exhibit 10.67 belélhough the Signature transaction deadline
passed, the parties are still working in good féitimeet the closing conditions and the Companyagased to extend the October 30, 2013 clc
date to execute a definitive contract and closeetifeer. See Subsequent Events for an update dighature transaction.
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Caldera Agreements

On December 18, 2009, the Company entered intgaement with Caldera Resources Inc. (“Calderat)rong the terms for a joint venture on the
Company’s Marjan property in Armenia (“Marjan JV”").

Key terms included that Caldera shall, subjecetmt and conditions, earn a 55% interest in thgaviabold-Silver-Polymetallic Project after
completing a bankable feasibility study on the @cojor spending US$3.0M on the property.

As additional consideration, Caldera made a refandable US$50,000 deposit by December 30, 2689ssued 500,000 shares of the company
post-consolidated basis. Caldera was also to makgment of US$100,000 no later than March 30, 281@efinitive agreement was to be signed as
soon as possible, upon completion of due diliggreew, respective board approvals and any regylapproval that may be required. The
Company received the US$50,000 deposit on Decegthe2009, and (after March 31, 2010) the $100,G00nEnt.

On March 24, 2010, the Company entered into areageat with Caldera establishing the terms for @t jeénture on the ComparsyMarjan propert
in Armenia (“Marjan JV”) which amended the termgtoé December 18, 2009 agreement.

Key terms included that Caldera would own 55% efshares of a newly created joint venture compa@gyome the operator of the project, and be
responsible for all expenses. To maintain its $B84rest, Caldera was obligated to spend up to 8/8%0,000 on the Property, and issue 500,000
shares of Caldera to the Company. The joint verttaard would have two Caldera representativeoaadslobal Gold representative. However,
certain actions including adoption of the annuaraging and capital budgets require unanimous eadnsghould Caldera not perform in accordance
with the terms of the Marjan JV, then Global Golduld have 100% interest of the Marjan JV transfébrack and Caldera will receive a Net Sme
Royalty (“ NSR “) on the Marjan property equal 54 for each tranche of US$ 1,000,000 up to a maxii8R of 3% without any prorating.

Also under the terminated joint venture agreemeaiti€a would own 100% in the Marjan Gold-SilverjBecb by making quarterly payments totaling
US$ 2,850,000, starting September 30, 2010. Ifd€ral missed one of its quarterly payments baséts dailure to raise funds from capital market
was entitled to an automatic 30 day extension feach quarterly payment; if Caldera defaulted oexanded payment then Caldera would forfe
shares of the Marjan JV, be relieved of its investhcommitment, but still be liable for the paynsetat Global Gold which would accrue interest at
10%, and possibly retain a royalty interest as iilesd above. If Caldera made its payments and &tetpits obligations, Global Gold would retai
1.5% NSR on all production on the Central zone@a2db% NSR on all production on the Northern zoBaldera could prepay the payments, fulfill
the investment commitment, and take 100% interebtenJV at any time.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSure Exchange and the Board of Directors of tispeetive companies. As of April 30, 2010,
Caldera paid the Company $100,000. Caldera fuitfiermed the Company that it received TSX Ventikehange approval on the transaction,
which subsequently proved to be untrue. On Oct@b2010, the Company terminated the Marjan J\Claldera’s non-payment and non-
performance as well as Caldera’s illegal registratiin Armenia and other actions. In October 2@Aldera filed for arbitration in New York

City. In September 2010, at Caldera’s invitatittre, Company filed to reverse the illegal registnaiin Armenia. That litigation and the New York
arbitration were subsequently resolved in favathef Company, restoring the Company’s 100% ownershidarjan. The Armenian Government
issued a new mining license to the Company’s wholiyned subsidiary Marjan Mining Company on Marcl2®13.

The arbitration is still open with respect to GlbBald’s costs, attorney fees, and counterclaimslfonages against Caldera.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.
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Consolidated Resources Agreement

As of March 17, 2011, the Company entered intagreement (the “Formation AgreementVith Consolidated Resources USA, LLC, a Dela\
company (“CRU") for a joint venture on the Companyoukhmanuk and Getik properties in Armenia (tReoperties”). Upon payment of the initi
consideration as provided below, Global Gold andJGRIl work together for twelve months (the “12 MibnPeriod”)to develop the Properties ¢
cause the Properties to be contributed to a nemt j@nture company, whose identity and terms wéllrbutually agreed, (the “JVC”).Rasia,
Dubai-based principal advisory company, acted Besaavisor on the transaction.

Key terms include CRU paying initial consideratioin$5,000,000 as a working capital commitment tobal Gold payable by: a $500,000 adve
immediately following the execution of the Formatidgreement (the “Advance”);1$400,000 payable following the satisfactory cortipteof due
diligence by CRU and the execution of definitivecdments in 30 days from the date of this Agreemant} $3,100,000 according to a sep:
schedule in advance and payable within 5 businggs of the end of every calendar month as needed.

On April 27, 2011, the Company entered into an egrent with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an ekaoipresident Cayman Islands company
(“CRA"); and its affiliate CRU, (hereinafter collteely referred to as “CR”), to fund developmentldorm a joint venture on the Properties (the “JV
Agreement”). The JV Agreement was entered pursteetiite Formation Agreement.

CR completed its due diligence with satisfactiomd as of the date of the JV Agreement completeduthding of the required $500,000 Advar
Upon the terms and subject to the conditions oAdveement, CR will complete the funding of the eening $4,500,000 of its $5,000,000 work
capital commitment related to Toukhmanuk and Getikording to an agreed, restricted funding scheddigEh includes $1,400,000 paya
following the execution of the Agreement and th@a@ing $3,100,000 payable over the next 12 mowilis payments occurring within 5 busin
days of the end of each calendar month as neddeatidition, Mr. Jeffrey Marvin of CR was electedh@mber of the Global Gold Board of Direc!
and attended the Company's annual meeting on Jyn2011. As of December 31, 2011, the Companyivedethe full $5,000,000 funding frc
CR. Mr. Marvin resigned from the Global Gold boardFebruary 24, 2012 for personal reasons.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Global Gold and CRw®rking together for twelve months (the “12 Mo#teriod”) from the date of the JV
Agreement to develop the Properties, improve therftial performance and enhance shareholder valne JV Agreement enables Global Gold to
complete its current Toukhmanuk production expang300,000 tonnes per year and advance exploretidrmenia. Global Gold and CR agre!
form a new Joint Venture Company (“JVC”) to be blithed by CR, subject to terms and conditions @litwand reasonably agreed with Global
Gold, provided that JVC shall have no liabilitiebligations, contingent or not, or commitments,eptqursuant to a shareholders’

agreement. Global Gold and CR intend to integaitef Global Gold’s Toukhmanuk and Getik miningdaexploration operations into the JVC.

The JVC will (i) own, develop and operate Toukhmiaand Getik, (ii) be a company listed on an excleafingly admitted to trading or be in the
process of being listed on such exchange anchéiig no liabilities, obligations, contingent or ,namt commitments except pursuant to the
shareholders agreement. The JVC will issue newesha the Company such that following any revemseger or initial public offering of JVC's
shares ("IPQO"), Global Gold shall directly or iretitly hold the greater of (a) 51% of the equitygtC, or (b) $40.0 million in newly issued stock of
JVC, calculated based on the volume weighted aegpage ("VWAP") of such shares over the first &tirfy) days of trading following the IPO,
assuming issuance of all shares issuable in thedR@assuming issuance of all shares issuabl@aagement shares and conversion of the Notes
issued under the Instrument (as defined) and ladiratonvertible securities and exercise of any avdsror other securities issued in connection with
the IPO, such that if following any reverse mergelPO, the value of $40.0 million in newly issugithres based on VWAP of JVC shares is greater
than the Global Gold's 51% equity ownership in J&Mied as above, new shares in JVC will be isso¢hlet Global Gold such that the aggregate
value of Global Gold's ownership in JVC is sharasiig a value of $40.0 million based on VWAP, alnel Company shall remain in control of the
JVC following the public listing.
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On February 6, 2012, the Company received consemt $hareholders representing a majority over 66%s @utstanding Common Stock to tran
the 100% interests in Mego and Getik Mining CompdryC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware limited bdity company, owned by a joi
venture company, Global Gold Consolidated Resouta®ited, a Jersey Island private limited compat$GCR”), per the terms of the April 2
2011 Joint Venture Agreement with Consolidated Reses Armenia, an exempt non-resident Cayman Islanchpany (“CRA").The JVC was t
issue new shares to the Company such that folloaimgreverse merger or initial public offering MQs shares ("IPO"), Global Gold shall dire:
or indirectly hold the greater of (a) 51% of theuigyg of JVC, or (b) $40.0 million in newly issuetbsk of JVC, calculated based on the vol
weighted average price ("VWAP") of such shares dhkerfirst 30 (thirty) days of trading followingelPO, assuming issuance of all shares iss
in the IPO, and assuming issuance of all shareslids as management shares and conversion ofdtes iésued under the Instrument (as def
and all other convertible securities and exercisEng warrants or other securities issued in cotimeavith the IPO, such that if following any rege
merger or IPO, the value of $40.0 million in nevidgued shares based on VWAP of JVC shares is gréate the Global Gold's 51% eqt
ownership in JVC valued as above, new shares in\@ Qe issued to the Global Gold such that thgragate value of Global Gold's ownershi
JVC is shares having a value of $40.0 million based/WAP, and the Company shall remain in contfche JVC following the public listing, all
further described in exhibit 10.34 below. The Bbaf Directors of Global Gold Corporation previouslpproved the same transaction, discL
above, on January 5, 2012.

Based on the approval of the Board of Director&labal Gold received on January 5, 2012 and oniviececonsent from its shareholders
representing over a 65% majority of its outstanddmgnmon Stock on February 6, 2012, to transfed 8896 interest in Mego and Getik Mining
Company, LLC into GGCR Mining, LLC, a Delaware lietl liability company (“GGCR Mining”), owned by aint venture company, Global Gold
Consolidated Resources Limited, a Jersey Islan@fariimited company (“GGCR?”), per the terms of &l 27, 2011 Joint Venture Agreement
with Consolidated Resources Armenia, an exemptraeitlent Cayman Islands company (“CRA”), the Conypantered into the following
agreements on or about February 19, 2012 updatengqus agreements, all as further described ire#hébits attached, on the following dates:

Shareholders Agreement for GGCR dated Februarga® (Exhibit 10.36)

Supplemental Letter dated February 19, 2012 (&ixh0.37)

Getik Assignment and Assumption Agreement datdatrary 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.38)

MG Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated d&eigrl9, 2012 (Exhibit 10.39)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGC to CEAhibit 10.40)

Guaranty dated February 19, 2012 (by GGCR MitinGRA) (Exhibit 10.41)

Security Agreement dated February 19, 2012 (bz&@nd GGCR Mining to CRA) (Exhibit 10.42)

Action by Written Consent of the Sole Member @GR Mining, LLC dated February 19, 2012 (Exhibit43)
Certificate of Global Gold Corporation dated Reby 19, 2012 (Exhibit 10.44)

Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limited Regéxt Company No 109058 Written resolutions by fthe directors of the Company
(Exhibit 10.45)

e Action by Written Consent of the Board of Managef GGCR Mining, LLC (Exhibit 10.46)

Key terms included that Global Gold will retain 53¥athe shares of GGCR, which will be a subsidizfrthe Company, per the terms of the April
2011 Joint Venture Agreement as approved and destdabove. The Board of Directors of GGCR Miningud be comprised of Van Krikorian,
from GGC, Premraj, from CRA, and three non-exeeuindependent directors to be selected in thedutuPending the closing, if any, GGM was
designated as the manager of the Toukhmanuk ank @eperties, with reasonable costs incurred byM3@th respect thereto being passed thro
to GGCRL and GGCR Mining, as applicable, for reimdaument. The April 26, 2012 deadline set in theil&D11 JV Agreement to close the
transaction passed without a closing for seveadars, as previously reported, clarification arileseent efforts followed.
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On September 26, 2012, GGM entered into two Shearsfer Agreements with GGCR Mining covering ttemsfer of all the shares of the Armen
companies Mego and the Getik Mining Company, LLGokhrespectively hold the Toukhmanuk and Getik mgnproperties in Armenia. The Share
Transfer Agreements were concluded in accordanteti previously disclosed agreements with Codat¢d Resources Armenia and Consolid
Resources USA, LLC, a Delaware limited liabilityngpany to fund development and form a joint ventaméhe Company’s Toukhmanuk and Getik
properties in Armenia. GGCR Mining will (i) ownedelop and operate Toukhmanuk and Getik gold miphogerties, and be a (ii) be a company
listed on an exchange fully admitted to trading.oASeptember 19, 2012, GGCRL resolved reportestantling issues which had blocked
implementation of the joint venture agreement atetetion of the Share Transfer Agreements. Gl@md's ownership in GGCRL is and shall be
the greater value of either 51% or the pro formae/af $40.0 million 30 days after the stock is iy traded. The sole officers of GGCRL as of
September 19, 2012 are: Mr. Van Krikorian, ExeaiBhairman; Mr. Jan Dulman, Financial Controlleil@Freasurer; and Mr. Ashot Boghossian
Armenia Managing Director, with Ogier -Corporate\Bees (Jersey) Limited continuing as secretarthefCompany. See attached Exhibits 10.58
and 10.59.

On October 26, 2012, the shares of Mego and Gedile negistered, subject to terms and conditiorstaded in the transfer documents, with the State
Registry of the Republic of Armenia, as being fullyned by GGCR Mining. The registration was cortggdleafter approval was given by ABB
which required Global Gold to guaranty the ABB liofecredit payable.

See Item 1A “Risk Factors” and Item 3 “Legal Pratiegs”, below.

Rent Agreements

The Company rents office space in a commerciatinglat 45 East Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, CT wheigned a 5-year lease starting on March
1, 2006 at a starting annual rental cost of $44,2000ctober 1, 2006, the Company expanded itseffpace by assuming the lease of the adjacent
office space. The assumed lease had less thaneanegmaining, through September 30, 2008, at anadmental cost of $19,500. The assumed
was extended for an additional year through Septerdd, 2009 at an annual rental cost of $22,86hfarperiod. The assumed lease was further
extended through October 15, 2009 at which pomiGbmpany vacated the additional space. Messtadbalr and Krikorian gave personal
guarantees of the Company's performance for thetfilo years of the lease. On April 1, 2011, tlenPany moved its corporate headquarters from
Greenwich, CT to 555 Theodore Fremd Avenue, Rye 185¥80. The new lease is for five years and hadiacosts of; $63,045 in year 1, $64,212
in year 2, $65,380 in year 3, $66,547 in year 4, $6i7,715 in year 5.
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18. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Hankavan Related

In 2006, GGH, which was the license holder forlamkavan and Marjan properties, was the subjecbwfipt and improper demands and threats
from the now former Minister of the Ministry of Emenment and Natural Resources of Armenia, Vardgwagian. The Company reported this
situation to the appropriate authorities in Armeauia in the United States. Although the Ministerkithe position that the licenses at Hankavan and
Marjan were terminated, other Armenian governmeoftatials assured the Company to the contrary Amdenian public records confirmed the
continuing validity of the licenses. The Compangeiged independent legal opinions that all ofiterises were valid and remained in full force and
effect, continued to work at those properties, anglaged international and local counsel to pursagegution of the illegal and corrupt practices
directed against the subsidiary, including intdorel arbitration. On November 7, 2006, the Compiaitiated the thirty-day good faith negotiating
period (which is a prerequisite to filing for int@tional arbitration under the 2003 SHA, LLC Shatechase Agreement) with the three named
shareholders and one previously undisclosed phdir. Ayvazian. The Company filed for arbitrationder the rules under the International
Chamber of Commerce, headquartered in Paris, FGI®E"), on December 29, 2006. On September PB82the Federal District Court for the
Southern District of New York ruled that Mr. Ayvan was required to appear as a respondent in tbalikitration. On September 5, 2008, the ICC
International Court of Arbitration ruled that Mry®azian shall be a party in accordance with thesitee rendered on September 25, 2008 by the
Federal District Court for the Southern DistrictNéw York. Subsequently, in December 2011 the TC@iBunal decided to proceed only with the
three named shareholders; in March 2012, GGM #ledction in Federal District Court pursuant td baurt’s decisions for damages against
Ayvazian and/or to conform the ICC Tribunal to firecedents, and on July 11, 2012 the Federal @oteted judgment in favor of the Company,
which was not appealed and became final. Basdbeoavidence of the damages suffered as a resfljvafzyan’s actions, the final $37,537,978.02
federal court judgment in favor of GGM is comprise#d27,152,244.50 in compensatory damages plu8%(¥34.52 of interest at 9% from

2008. The Company has notified the ICC that thedjpey arbitration against the other three sharedrsldhould be terminated as moot, considering
the final judgment against Ayvazian. The ICC hasplied with the Company’s request and terminalted proceeding. On September 6, 2012, the
United States Marshal Service for the Southernridistf New York filed for service a Writ of Exedah to be enforced against Mr. Vardan
Ayvazyan in favor of GGM. The Writ of Execution svessued by the United States District Court fer Southern District of New York following

the order and judgment of Judge J. Paul Oetkeriiaaldentry of that judgment (No. 12,1260). Tleems of the Writ of Execution and the Thirty
Seven Million Five Hundred Thirty Seven ThousarideNHundred Seventy Eight dollars and Two cent§ (837,978.02) amount of the judgment in
favor of GGM are more patrticularly described in Exh10.56 below. On November 21, 2013, the Comp@agived from its attorneys the “without
prejudice” ruling of the Judge J. Paul Oetken oftéth States District Court for the Southern DigtaENew York which vacated the $37.5 million
default judgment which the Company had obtainednatiformer Armenian Minister of Environment VartAgvazian solely on jurisdictional
grounds. The ruling is expressly “without prejwedito Global Gold’s right to re-file or continue parrsue the case, and the Company is currently
reviewing its legal options. The court did nderan the corruption charges or damage amount damsAyvazian's actions, basing its findings on
Ayvazian’s general insufficient contacts with NewrK. One of the shareholders of the Armenian parthe agreement under which the Company
brought suit against Ayvazian identified him as @inelisclosed principal who controlled the transactand divided the funds paid by Global Gold.
The November 21, 2013 court ruling also did notraeds those facts. This ruling has no effect orQbepany’s financial statements as this judgment
was never recorded on the Company’s books. Theisasurrently on appeal at the United States Gafulfppeals for the Second Circuit in New
York.

In addition, and based on the US Armenia BilatBra¢stment Treaty, GGM filed a request for arbitiatagainst the Republic of Armenia for the
actions of the former Minister of Environment andtttal Resources with the International CentreSfettlement of Investment Disputes, which is a
component agency of the World Bank in Washingta©;.[§"ICSID"), on January 29, 2007. On August 3102, the Government of Armenia and
GGM jointly issued the following statement, "[thgg]ntly announce that they have suspended theDGhitration pending conclusion of a detailed
settlement agreement. The parties have reachedfideotial agreement in principle, and anticipdtatithe final settlement agreement will be reac
within 10 days of this announcement." The Compaaylkarned from public records that GeoProMinirgy Lthrough an affiliate, has become the
sole shareholder of an Armenian Company, Golden €, which was granted a license for HankavarolBeMining Ltd. is subject to the 20%
obligations as successor to Sterlite Resources, Atdof February 25, 2008, GGM entered into a @womthl, confidential settlement agreement with
the Government of the Republic of Armenia to digare the ICSID arbitration proceedings, which weiscontinued as of May 2, 2008. This
agreement did not affect the ICC arbitration agéition involving similar subject matter.
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Marjan Related

Based on a false representation by Caldera, on1ur&010, Global Gold Corporation and its subsidi&GM, LLC (collectively “Global”) and
Caldera Resources, Inc. (“Caldera”) announced TSagproval of their March 24, 2010 joint ventureesgnent to explore and bring the Marjan
property into commercial production. As previousdported, the property is held with a twenty-fixgar “special mining license,” effective April 22,
2008, and expiring April 22, 2033, which expandee prior license term and substantially increabeditense area. The license required payments
of annual governmental fees and the performaneedf at the property as submitted and approvetiemtining plan, which includes mining of
50,000 tonnes of mineralized rock per year, as astxploration work to have additional reservgg@ged under Armenian Law in order to main
the licenses in good standing. Caldera advisetdblas well as governmental authorities that it Mawt be complying with the work requirements
which prompted 90 day termination notices fromgbgernment and the October 7, 2010 joint ventumaiteation notice from Global, which Global
had agreed to keep the termination notice confideantil October 15, 2010.

The joint venture agreement provided that Caldeyalevbe solely responsible for license complianog @onducting the approved mining plan, and
that “[ijn the event that Caldera does not, ortleeowise unable to, pursue this project and paglabal Gold the amounts provided for hereunder,
Caldera’s rights to the Property and the shar@dasfan-Caldera Mining LLC shall be forfeited angblaced by a Net Smelter Royalty (the “NSR”).”
Caldera did not meet the threshold to earn any Ni&Rr the agreement, and its notice of licenseaumnpliance as well as its failure to pay resulted
in an automatic termination of its rights by opematof the agreement. The agreement providedGh#tera would deliver 500,000 of its shares to
Global, “subject to final approvals of this agreernigy the TSX Venture Exchange.” Caldera advised tthe TSX Venture Exchange approval was
issued in June 2010 and Caldera failed to dellveishares. Subject to a 30 day extension if ildcoat raise the funds in capital markets, Caldera
agreed to make a $300,000 payment to the Compa®eptember 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010; $250)000arch 30, 2011, September 30,
2011, September 30, 2011, December 30, 2011, Ma¥ch012, September 30, 2012, and September 3@; a8dl $500,000 on December 31,

2012. Caldera raised sufficient funds, but didmake these payments.

The agreement was subject to approval by the TSKtwe Exchange and the Board of Directors of thepeetive companies. Caldera fur
informed the Company that it received TSX Venturetange approval on the transaction, which subsglyuproved to be untrue. On Octobe
2010, the Company terminated the Marjan JV for &ad non-payment and non-performance as well éde@ses illegal registrations in Armer
and other actions. In October 2010, Caldera fitechrbitration in New York City. In September )%t Caldera invitation, the Company filed
reverse the illegal registration in Armenia. Tli@gation and the New York arbitration were subsently resolved in favor of the Company, resta
the Company’s 100% ownership of Marjan.

In a final, non-appealable decision issued andcciffe February 8, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cagsaffirmed the July 29, 2011 Armenian trial
court and December 12, 2012 Court of Appeals dewssihich ruled that Caldera's registration andragsgion of control through unilateral charter
changes of the Marjan Mine and Marjan Mining Compar.C were illegal and that ownership rests fullith GGM. The official versions of the
Armenian Court decisions are available through:Hitww.datalex.ani , with English translations available on the Comypamebsite.

On March 29, 2012, in the independent New York @ityitration case Global Gold received a favorablimg in its arbitration proceeding in New
York with Caldera which is available on the Comparnwebsite, see Exhibit 10.48. The arbitrator idsaartial Final Award which orders the

Marjan Property in Armenia to revert to GGM basadlte two failures to meet conditions precedethéoMarch 24, 2010 agreement. First, Caldera
failed and refused to deliver the 500,000 sharé3lodal. Second, Caldera did not submit the fipaltjventure agreement to the TSX-V for approval
until the middle of the arbitration proceedingsté@ad relying on superseded versions in its regylaubmissions and submitting “Form 5Cs” to the
TSX-V which were false representations of Caldecdgations to Global.

The Partial Award states “By misrepresenting itgrpant obligations to the TSX-V, Caldera paintedlad financial picture to the TSX-V and the
investing public.” In addition, the arbitrator fiodi that had he not come to the conclusions ab&@a&dera and its officers effectively breached e
Agreement and the terms of the Limited Liabilityr&gment” in multiple ways, including Caldera’s ta@ to make quarterly payments to Global.

The Partial Award orders reversion of the Marjaoparty to Global, return of amounts paid to GldalCaldera returned as the JV Agreement did
not go into effect, an Net Smelter Royalty to Caddef 0.5% for each tranche of $1 million actualpent on the property, and further proceedings on
Global’s claims for damages with additional heasiegrrently set to begin July 11, 2012. As presipueported, Global's records establish that
Caldera did not spend $1 million on the Marjan erop Additionally, tax returns filed by CalderaArmenia report less than $400,000 spent on the
property. The parties' arbitration agreement fritrovides that the award “shall be final and repppealable” and for the award of attorney fees,
arbitrator’s fees, and other costs. In accordavittethe Arbitrator's order and the JV agreememwp@l Gold has filed to confirm the Partial Final
Award in Federal Court. Caldera is opposing the&fiomation. The amounts paid to Global by Caldetal $150,000 and is included in the
Company’s accounts payable, although they are tidpand offset by damages and other amounts d@aldlera to the Company.
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In an Opinion and Order signed on April 15, 2018 asleased on April 17, 2013, U.S. Federal Judgenkth M. Karas of the Southern Distric
New York confirmed the March 29, 2012 American Amdion Association arbitration award issued byreet Justice Herman Cahn which, am
other things, stated that “[tlhe property shoulderé to [Global Gold] within thirty (30) days fromme date [of the arbitration awardby April 29,
2012]. Obviously, [Global Gold] may cause the ampiate governmental bodies in Armenia to regigtterproperty in [Global Gold’s] nameAll as
further described in the exhibit 10.61 below.

The Company has reestablished control of MarjanmditCompany which is the license holder of the Marnproperty. A new mining license, valid
until April 22, 2033, has been issued to the Comgparhe Company's control has not been establiekiedcertain property, records, financial anc
information, or other assets maintained by Calderd as warehouse and drill core as Caldera Had taiturn over such property despite being
ordered to do so. The Company is proceeding withgpto mine in compliance with the mining licenaed implement additional exploration to the
best of its ability. The Company is also takingdkaction to protect its rights in an adjacentitiery indentified as “Marjan West” for which Calde
has publicly claimed to have a license but accarttinpublic, online government records, the company holding thenise is 100% owned by anot
person.

Caldera has also publicly claimed that it continteesave rights to the Marjan property based orptmties’ December 2009 agreement, but that
agreement to agree was merged into the March 2@/B@ment, called for completion of payments by €aldy the end of 2012, and included other
terms which Caldera cannot meet. Caldera’s attéonpatise this issue in the arbitral proceedindiefang the March 29, 2012 decision in Global
Gold's favor has not succeeded. Caldera andfitseo$ and agents have also continued a defamesmpaign of harassment and filing of false
claims over the internet and elsewhere againsCtrapany and its officials which may be pursuedriythe damages phase of the arbitration.

Armenian Tax Authority Related

On January 12, 2012, the Armenian Court of Cassatimfirmed prior trial and appellate court rulimggecting a proposed tax assessment again
Company’s Megdsold subsidiary by the Armenian State Revenue Ageelated to an incorrect claim concerning goldduation at Toukhmanuk
well as incorrect applications of relevant law.bSequently, the State Revenue agency has continvestigations and intimated that it is
investigating and may make further claims agaimst@ompany based on the same matters previouslgiedjed in the Company's favor as well as
based on claims initiated and related to Caldeso®ees and its agents during and after legal pdings in which the Company prevailed against
Caldera. Independent legal counsel has been edgagthese matters, and the Company considers Ltz no liabilities in connection with
allegations noted to date. The Company has alémeddnian authorities to the evidence of corrupiioconnection with the purported investigation
and the role of Caldera and its agenfss a part of operating in the country, the Compaagularly has to deal with tax claims by authositisone of
which rise to the level of materiality. The Compaaigo learned that Mr. Borkowski purportedly of CR¥&t with Armenian tax officials in attempt
gain leverage for his claims against the Compaiityy mo tax consequence to the Company.

General

The Company is subject to various legal proceedimgkclaims that arise in the ordinary course airss or which constitute nuisance claims. In
the opinion of management, the amount of any uténtiability with respect to these actions will moaterially affect the Company’s consolidated
financial statements or results of operations. Thmpany has been brought to court by several ulisigd former employees and contractors for
unpaid salaries and invoices, respectively, as aseiome penalties for non payment which totalscqapately $153,000. The Company has
recorded a liability for the actual unpaid amouthie to these individuals of approximately $63,08@BDecember 31, 2013 and the Company has
deposited approximately $25,000 at the Armeniansiiat service as security for the claims. The Canyps currently, and will continue to,
vigorously defending its position in courts agaith&tse claims that are without merit. The Comgaralso negotiating directly with these individuals
outside of the courts in attempt to settle basetheramounts of the actual amounts due as recdagléte Company in exchange for prompt and full
payment.
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19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In accordance with ASC 855, “Subsequent EventsQbmpany evaluated subsequent events after thedeatdeet date of December 31, 2013
through the date of this filing.

On January 6, 2014, the Company received notice fls. Borkowski that the amount due to CRA in actzorce with the Notes was $2,197,453 |
interest at 15% neither of which the Company beléel¢ valid and is only carrying the $1,500,000lates plus the $394,244 of Advances payable .
The January 6, 2014 notice from Mr. Borkowski acklemiges that amounts above $1,500,000 are “unicetéfl.” No Company approval or
adequate substantiation for crediting the diffeeeof$1,894,244 and $2,197,453 as amount due tinééConvertible Notes or as Advances has been
provided. The Company and GGC have also raised fissues with CR which have not been resolvadhiiésolved, the fraud issues would vitiate
CR’s rights and create liabilities. A draft audiport was prepared, but both CRA and its direlkto Premraj each failed to attend two shareholder
and board meetings to consider the draft repor. Aébruary 27, 2014 shareholder and board meetiagsadjourned in accordance with the Arti
and when the shareholder meeting reconvened onhiar2014 the Company voted its majority sharesampthe draft audit report. On March 10,
2014, Mr. Borkowski purportedly on behalf of CRAe@ved an “Order of Justice” and injunction frone fRoyal Court of Jersey against GGCRL, the
Executive Chairman of GGCRL and the Company enjajiii from certain activities. The order was applier and received on an ex parte basis
without giving any of the defendants notice or appoity to be heard and based on incomplete andifrient representations. Neither Mr. Premraj
who was consistently represented as the owner & @RvVir. Marvin who signed every agreement on bebACRA have submitted a sworn
statement in support of CRA or Mr. Borkowski sorthare additional concerns about fraud and missepitation as well as counterparty risk.
GGCRL matters are subject to a broad arbitratiorergent, and the Company has triggered the dispstéution provisions of the 2011 JVA. The
Jersey legal action is considered to be a nuisaratdyased in law or fact, and designed only toaextextra legal advantages against the Company.
Although the court could only provide a one houautiregy on April 2, 2014, the aspects of the ex pejtenction affecting operations have been lifted.
The Company is still considering its legal optievith respect to CRA as well as the individuals vilawe misled the Company and frustrated the
GGCRL joint venture as well as the November 2018g@meagreement with Signature. The Company isalgre that Mr. Borkowski has attempted
to buy the Mego Gold ABB loan from the ABB bankshmaterially interfered in the Company’s contrataral business affairs and is cooperating
with Mr. Mavridis and Caldera Resources in issudefamatory material on the internet and elsewhgainat the Company and its principals. The
Company also learned that Mr. Borkowski purportesflCRA met with Armenian tax officials in attemjptgain leverage for his claims against the
Company, with no tax consequence to the Company.

The Signature merger was not completed due todhetimely and lack of relevant shareholder, board] regulatory approvals as well as applicable
third party consents. Shareholder consents weeecalstingent upon an audit of GGCRL, which CRA frated. Additional fraud concerns also arose
with respect to CRA and its principals which preied proceeding. On Friday April 11, 2014, Signatacdd transmitted confirmation that the mel
agreement closing date had passed, and the Corhpargonfirmed that understanding.

On February 10, 2014, Amarant, Alluvia, and Mr. hélar reported for the first time that the miningicessions in Valdivia, Chile underlying
December 2011 sale to Conventus and Amarant had lose On February 18, 2014, the Company submiieddjusted damages claim in
ongoing arbitration since the admitted loss of thacessions violated additional contract terms enegited substantial additional damage tc
Company.

On February 12, 2014 the International Center fimpDte Resolution confirmed his prior worldwide erd(1) requiring payment of $2,512,312 .
liquidated principal debt plus 12% interest andleding any additional damages, attorney fees, arsiisc (2)enjoining Alluvia and Amarant frc
assigning or alienating any assets or performingrdering transactions which would have the effecalienating its respective assets pen
payment in full to Global Gold; and (3) to produeeords, bank statements, all relevant financiarimation.

On March 5, 2014, the parties reached a revisdéigdiseint agreement to pay the Company starting Ma2¢t2014 and suspend the arbitration. No

party on the Amarant and Alluvia side made suchhgayts, and the arbitration is continuing on the @any’s additional damages claims as well as
on violations of the prior orders.

The Company has received notice that the phade afhbitration to decide damages against CaldesaurRees will continue starting in April 2014.
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Subsidiaries and Jurisdictions

Exhibit 21

State or Other Date of

Jurisdiction of Incorporation, Ownership

Incorporation Organization (Direct or
Subsidiary or Organization or Acquisition Indirect)
1.Global Gold Mining, LLC Delawart 200: 100%
2.Global Gold Hankavan LLC Armenie 200¢ 100%
3.Mego-Gold LLC Armenie 200t 51%
4.Getik Mining Company LLC Armenie 200¢ 51%
5.Marjan Mining Company LLC Armenie 201c¢ 100%
6.Global Gold Uranium LLC Delawart 2007 100%
7.Global Gold Armenia, LLC Delawart 200z 100%
8.Global Gold Consolidated Resources Limitec Jerse 2011 51%
9.GGCR Mining, LLC Delawart 2011 51%



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Van Z. Krikorian, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fixkithe year ended December 31, 2013, of Globatl@airporation;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorgny untrue statement of a material fact or amngtate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigraspect to the period covered by this
annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfi@ years presented in this report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15
(b)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our supervision, to el
that material information relating to the registrancluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is mi&dewn to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this rep@rteing prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioy principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisisineport our conclusions about the effectivenes
of the disclosure controls and procedures, aseétid of the period covered by this report basesuch evaluations; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitat occurred during the registrant's most receoafi
year (the registra’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual repgbg) has materially affected, or is reasonablylyike materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial refpayt and

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arftave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,tte
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efriyistrant's board of directors (or persons perifty the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finamtiefmation; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant's internal control ¢
financial reporting.

Date: April 15, 201« /sl Van Z. Krikorian
Van Z. Krikorian
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Jan E. Dulman, certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fixkithe year ended December 31, 2013, of Globatl@airporation;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorgny untrue statement of a material fact or amngtate a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstancesuwtieh such statements were made, not misleaditigraspect to the period covered by this
annual report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfi@ years presented in this report;

4) The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15
(b)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our supervision, to el
that material information relating to the registrancluding its consolidated subsidiaries, is mi&dewn to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this rep@rteing prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatioy principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisisineport our conclusions about the effectivenes
of the disclosure controls and procedures, aseétid of the period covered by this report basesuch evaluations; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportitat occurred during the registrant's most receoafi
year (the registra’s fourth quarter in the case of an annual repgbg) has materially affected, or is reasonablylyike materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial refpayt and

5) The registrant's other certifying officers arftave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting,tte
registrant's auditors and the audit committee efriyistrant's board of directors (or persons perifty the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finamtiefmation; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant's internal control ¢
financial reporting.

Date: April 15, 201« /s/ Jan E. Dulma
Jan E. Dulmai
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

Each of the undersigned, in his capacity as asafdf Global Gold Corporation (the "Company”), éigy certifies, pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350), that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe year ended December 31, 2013 fully compliéis the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15.0. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@abition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 15, 201« /sl Van Z. Krikorian
Van Z. Krikorian
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: April 15, 201« /s/ Jan E. Dulma
Jan E. Dulmai
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyl be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissidts staff upon request.



